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Translation note  
 
Financial statements have been prepared in Lithuanian and English languages. In all matters of interpretation of 
information, views or opinions, the Lithuanian language version of the financial statements takes precedence over the 
English language version.  
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CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT OF AB SEB BANKAS GROUP FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

1.  Reporting period covered by the Consolidated Annual Report    

This Consolidated Annual Report (hereinafter the Report) has been prepared for the year ended 31 December 2018. All 
numbers presented are as of 31 December 2018 or for the year then ended, unless specified otherwise. The Consolidated 
Annual Report covers consolidated information on AB SEB Bankas (the Bank) and its subsidiary �c�������b�Y�!�����1�ë���È�����Ù�¿�Ù�â�������³�å�Ä���ê�³���^��
�z together referred as the Group. 

2.  Information on branches and representative offices  

As of 31 December 2018, the Bank had 3 regional branches: AB SEB bankas Eastern Region Branch (address: Europos sq. 1 A, 
LT-09308 Vilnius), AB SEB bankas Middle Region Branch (address: Nemuno str. 3, LT-44295 Kaunas), and AB SEB bankas 
Western Region Branch (address: H. Manto str. 7, LT-�¢�›�š�›�¡���:�å�³�Ù�û�É�Ä�³�T�I�� 

The branches consisted of a network of 29 customer service units (5 financial service centers and 24 client service points) all 
over Lithuania. As of 31 December 2018, 90% of branches are operating as financial advisory units, offering self-service areas 
for customers to execute their daily cash transactions. 

3.  Objective overview of the �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]����status, activities and development  

In 2018, AB SEB bankas Group in Lithuania offered a full range of banking services to private individuals and corporate 
customers as well as financial institutions.  

AB SEB bankas Group in Lithuania consisted of AB SEB bankas and �c������ �b�Y�!���� �Ù�ë���È�����Ù�¿�Ù�â���� ���³�å�Ä���ê�³���^�I�� ���å���ñ�L�� ���Ö�È�þ�È�� �³�þ�È�� �ñ���Ö�È�þ�� �Y�!����
�+�þ�ñ�
�û���¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë�Ù�È�����ñ�û�È�þ�³���Ù�ë�Ò���Ù�ë���<�Ù���Ö�
�³�ë�Ù�³�L���ë�³�ê�È�å���M���å�Ù�Ñ�È���Ù�ë���
�þ�³�ë�¿�È���¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë�����c�������b�Y�!�����Ò�������¾�É�����Ä�þ�³�
�Ä�Ù�ê�³���^�L���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�������Ö�³�þ�È�Ä�����È�þ���Ù�¿�È��
�¿�È�ë���þ�È���Ù�ë���l�Ù�å�ë�Ù�
�����S�b�Y�ã�³�ë�Ä�Ù�ë�³���Ù���ã�³���!�ë���ã�Ù�å�Ä�³�����³�ë�ã�È�ë�������^�L���l�Ù�å�ë�Ù�
�����¾�þ�³�ë�¿�Ö�T�L�����Ö�Ùch provides business support services (transactions, 
IT, human resources administration and accounting) to the SEB Group �{  its subsidiary companies and subdivisions in twenty 
countries worldwide. On 31 December 2018, �þ�È�³�å���È�����³���È���ê�³�ë�³�Ò�È�ê�È�ë�����¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë�����c�������b�<�Ù���È�¿���
���^�����³�����Ù�ë���û�þ�ñ�¿�È�������ñ�Ñ���å�Ù�ý�
�Ù�Ä�³���Ù�ñ�ë�I 

�1�ë���›�˜�š�¡�L���������Y�!�����¾�³�ë�ã�³�����+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�����È�����L���Ù�ë�¿�ñ�ê�È���³�ë�Ä���ë�È�����û�þ�ñ�Ñ�Ù�����Ò�þ�È���L���³�������È�å�å���³�����¿�þ�È�Ä�Ù�����³�ë�Ä���Ä�È�û�ñ���Ù�����û�ñ�þ���Ñ�ñ�å�Ù�ñ�I 

In 2018, net profit earned by AB SEB bankas was EUR 103.5 million, and that earned by AB SEB bankas Group was EUR 
105.8  million. In 2017, net profit earned by AB SEB bankas was EUR 93.7 million, and that earned by AB SEB bankas Group was 
EUR 93,0 million. 

Equity of AB SEB bankas Group as of 31 December 2018 amounted to EUR 772 million (as of 31 December 2017 �z EUR 768 
million before impact of transition to IFRS 9, EUR 773 million �z after transition to IFRS 9 (see note 1.27.1). 

Assets of AB SEB bankas Group as of 31 December 2018 totalled EUR 7.9 billion (as of 31 December 2017 �z EUR 7.7 billion). 

In 2018, AB SEB bankas and AB SEB bankas Group liquidity requirements were met. 

Income of the SEB bankas Group in the year 2018, made up EUR 204.4 million, and in the year 2017 �z EUR 177.9 million. 

������ �ñ�Ñ�� �œ�š�� ���È�¿�È�ê�¾�È�þ�� �›�˜�š�¡�L�� �ë�È���� ���ñ�þ���Ö�� �ñ�Ñ�� ������ �Y�!���� �¾�³�ë�ã�³���� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]���� �å�ñ�³�ë�� �³�ë�Ä�� �åeasing portfolio totalled EUR 6.3 billion (as of 31 
December 2017 �z EUR 5.7 billion). In 2018, the total amount issued in mortgage, consumer and other loans to private individuals 
was EUR 489 million, which is a 7 per cent increase (EUR 455 million). The amount issued by SEB Bank in new loans to local 
companies was EUR 1.68 billion (1.73 billion in 2017). 

������ �Y�!���� �¾�³�ë�ã�³���]�� �Ä�È�û�ñ���Ù���� �û�ñ�þ���Ñ�ñ�å�Ù�ñ�� �³���� �ñ�Ñ�� �œ�š�� ��ecember 2018, amounted to EUR 6.3 billion (as of 31 December 2017 �z EUR 5.4 
billion). 

As at the end of the year 2018, AB SEB bankas had 29 customer service units in Lithuania, 26 of them were financial advisory 
branches where cash transactions are performed in self-service zones. 

As at the end of December 2018, the number of active users of SEB Internet Bank was more than 500 thousand. More than 200 
thousand customers were users of SEB mobile app, about 140 thousand have downloaded Smart-ID application. 

There was a consistent increase in the number of payments by card: over the year 2018, the number of payments by cards 
issued by SEB Bank increased by 18 per cent compared to the year 2017. 

Customers of SEB Bank had access to an ATM network, which includes ATMs of SEB and Luminor (former DNB bank), i. e. 503 
ATMs, and about 1,200 points of sale, where they could withdraw cash free of charge when paying by card. 

At the end of the year 2018, AB SEB bankas Group had 1,591 employees (at the end of the year 2017 �z 1,603).  
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Customer behaviour was changing and competition in digital banking market was increasing further, therefore, in 2018 AB SEB 
bankas Group remained highly focused on the development and improvement of remote services and self-services as well as on 
digital solutions. Bank started open banking initiative, made further progress in improving and integrating new functionalities in 
mobile application, offered its special version for business. Also, pioneered in offering customers incoming instant euro payments 
service. 

�1�ë���›�˜�š�¡�L���������Y�!�����¾�³�ë�ã�³�����+�þ�ñ�
�û���¿�ñ�ë���Ù�ë�
�È�Ä���Ù�ê�û�å�È�ê�È�ë���Ù�ë�Ò���þ�È�ë�È���È�Ä���Y�!���]�������³�å���Ù�¿�����ñ�þ�û�ñ�þ�³���È���Y�
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù�����������þ�³tegy, which sets four 
main areas of activities and responsibility: promoting innovation and entrepreneurship, clean and transparent banking, 
sustainable offerings to clients and direct environmental impact. All of this lead to sustainable growth of Baltic economy and 
society wellbeing.  

In 2018, AB SEB bankas Group continued seeking to provide its customers with valuable information that can serve as a support 
for them in creating added value. Three presentations of the Lithuanian Macroeconomic Review publications were arranged to 
customers, they were informed on financial markets, macroeconomic situation, etc. �z there were more than 20 macro comments 
published publicly and issued 4 Nordic Outlook publications, made by SEB Group analysts. At its website www.seb.lt, AB SEB 
bankas continued developing news and information portal Infobankas, periodically providing relevant information on finance 
management issues for private individuals and companies. 

With the aim to encourage entrepreneurship among the population and promote the innovations culture, in the spring of 2018 
�Y�!���� �¾�³�ë�ã�³���� �ñ�û�È�ë�È�Ä�� �Y�!���� ���³�ë�ã�]���� �1�ë�ë�ñ���³���Ù�ñ�ë���� ���È�ë���þ�È�L�� ���Ö�Ù�¿�Ö�� �ñ�Ñ�Ñ�È�þ���� �³�� �þ�³�û�Ù�Ä�� �¾�
���Ù�ë�È������ �Ò�þ�ñ�����Ö�� �û�þ�ñ�Ò�þ�³�ê�ê�È�� �Ñ�ñ�þ�� ���ê�³�å�å�� �³�ë�Ä�� �ê�È�Ä�Ù�
�ê����
enterprises at no charge (in 2018 there were 26 participants) as well as space and environment for start-ups. During 2018, 
events hosted by Innovation Centre attracted 7,000 participants. For the ones dreaming to have or taking their first steps 
towards creating their own business, in 2018 AB SEB bankas continued implementing its entrepreneurship promotion platform 
www.eakademija.seb.lt for start-ups where they are offered access to a wide range of relevant interactive information. 
�Y�È�ê�Ù�ë�³�þ���L���ñ�þ�Ò�³�ë�Ù�"�È�Ä���¾�����b�!�I���³�ã�³�Ä�È�ê�Ù�â�³�^�L���³�����þ�³�¿���È�Ä���ê�ñ�þ�È�����Ö�³�ë���›�¡�˜�����ñ�
�ëg entrepreneurs. 

In 2018, AB SEB bankas carried out its survey among small and medium enterprises Baltic Business Outlook 2018 and presented 
its results on the expectations of Lithuanian, Latvian and Estonian small and medium enterprises, planned investments and 
envisaged changes in the number of staff. AB SEB bankas also made its sixth presentation of its Baltic CFO Outlook, which 
surveyed the insights of CFOs regarding potential changes in business environment within the nearest half-year, turnover 
forecasts and major challenges. 

In 2018, AB SEB bankas presented its Retirement Readiness Index, Car Affordability Index as well as the results of surveys on 
���Ö�È���û�ñ�û�
�å�³���Ù�ñ�ë�]�����Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å�����È�¿�
�þ�Ù�������³�ë�Ä���¾�ñ�þ�þ�ñ���Ù�ë�Ò���³�ë�Ä�����³���Ù�ë�Ò��behaviours. 

With the aim to advise young people on finance management issues AB SEB bankas gave them a lot of attention by arranging 
relevant surveys and presenting the results, reviewing their expectations in terms of saving, finance management. Employees of 
the Bank visited 150 schools giving lectures on financial literacy and inviting the upper-secondary pupils to interactive 
discussions on personal finance issues. Autumn 2018 was a start of a new AB SEB bankas initiative for youth �z communication 
on an account @seb.lietuvoje on social network Instagram. The goal is to create the best financial literacy content platform for 
youth in Lithuania. 

For the first time in 2018 AB SEB bankas organized Youth LAB program, which was created for students who would like to 
participate in creating new banking services: future finance managers, IT developers, HR, communication, media and other 
specialists joined the program. 

AB SEB bankas Group took part in the implementation of significant social and corporate sustainability projects �z for the 
sixteenth time together with TV3 television it arranged and carried out the Dreams Come True Campaign. Aiming at 
entrepreneurship promotion and at enhancing financial literacy, AB SEB bankas continued cooperation agreement with Junior 
Achievement in Lithuania. 

AB SEB bankas Group in 2018 won significant global and national awards: SEB was awarded with the title of the Best Bank in 
Lithuania (The Banker, Global Finance, Euromoney), the Best Private and additionally �z Corporate / Institutional Digital Bank in 
Lithuania (Global Finance), won the award in 5 sub-categories for the Best Private Banking Services in Lithuania (Euromoney), 
award for best sub-custodian services in Baltic countries (Global Finance), as well as best factoring service provider in Lithuania 
(Corporate INTL�T�I�� ������ �Y�!���� �¾�³�ë�ã�³���� �³�å���ñ�����ñ�ñ�ã�����Ö�È���œ�þ�Ä���û�å�³�¿�È���Ù�ë�����Ö�È���b�R�U���1�ê�û�³�¿���� �����³�þ�Ä���^�����Ù���Ö�����Ö�È���Ù�ë���È�þ�ë�³�å���Ù�ë�Ù���Ù�³���Ù���È���Ñ�ñ�þ���È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È����
�b�Y���È�û���Ù�ë���ñ�����
�����ñ�ê�È�þ�]�����Y�Ö�ñ�È���^�I 

In 2018, SEB stayed as one of the most attractive employers in Lithuania �z according to a survey carried out by daily Verslo 
�{�Ù�ë�Ù�ñ�����³�ë�Ä���¿�³�þ�È�È�þ���û�ñ�þ���³�å���¿���I�å�����Ù�ë���^�Ö�È���A�ñ�������������þ�³�¿���Ù���È���!�ê�û�å�ñ���È�þ���È�å�È�¿���Ù�ñ�ë���Ù�������³�����þ�³�ë�ã�È�Ä���ë�
�ê�¾�È�þ���ñ�ë�È�����Ù���Ö�Ù�ë���Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å�����È�¿���ñ�þ���¿�³���Ègory. 
In a survey The Most Desirable Employer 2018 carried out by job search portal CV Market, respondents also recognised SEB as 
the most desirable employers in Lithuania, CV Online gave SEB second place in the financial sector category. 

http://www.seb.lt/
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4.  Analysis of the �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���³�ë�Ä���ë�ñ�ë-financial activity results  

Volume and c�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�¿���Ù���Ù���Ù�È�����³�þ�È���û�³�þ���Ù�³�å�å�����þ�È�Ñ�å�È�¿���È�Ä���¾�������Ö�È���¾elow data of the balance sheet and profit and loss 
statements drafted in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS):  

AB SEB bankas group Net profit has increased by 14% if compare the year 2018 to the year 2017: 
 
EUR million 2018 2017  Change 
Income 204  178  15%  
Costs (79) (76)  5% 
Result before losses 125  102  22%  
Credit losses (1)  7 - 
Operating result  124  109  14%  
Profit tax (18)  (16)  13%  
Net profit  106  93 14%  

Income increase during the year 2018 was related with increasing lending volumes together with higher margins, lower Deposits 
�Ò�
�³�þ�³�ë���È�È���Ñ�
�ë�Ä���S���+�*�T���È���û�È�ë���È�����³�ë�Ä���ë�È�����¿�ñ�ê�ê�Ù�����Ù�ñ�ë���Ù�ë�¿�ñ�ê�È���Ò�þ�ñ�����Ö���S�þ�È�Ñ�å�È�¿���Ù�ë�Ò���Ù�ë�¿�þ�È�³���È�Ä���¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ���]���³�¿���Ù���Ù�����T�I 

The main financial ratios: 
 

 2018  2017  Change 
Net profit (EUR million) 106  93 14%  
Cost / Income ratio 0.39 0.43 -4 b.p. 
New loans (EUR billion) 2.17 2.2 -1% 
Loans & leasing, net value (EUR billion)  6.3 5.7 10%  
Deposits (EUR billion) 6.3 5.4 16%  

Lending portfolio increase was caused of increased demand both in private and in business segments. The main drivers of 
�Ä�È�û�ñ���Ù�������û�ñ�þ���Ñ�ñ�å�Ù�ñ���Ò�þ�ñ�����Ö�����È�þ�È���û�þ�Ù���³���È���³�ë�Ä���¿�ñ�þ�û�ñ�þ�³���È���¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ���]���Ä�È�ê�³�ë�Ä���Ä�È�û�ñ���Ù�������Ù�ë�¿�þ�È�³���È�I 

Some ratios rep�þ�È���È�ë���Ù�ë�Ò�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û���a�����þ�È���
�å�����³�þ�È���û�þ�È���È�ë���È�Ä���Ù�ë�����Ö�È�����³�¾�å�È���¾�È�å�ñ���M 
 

The Group  Ratio  The Bank 
31-12-2016  31-12-2017  31-12-2018   31-12-2016  31-12-2017  31-12-2018  
1.31 per cent 1.21 per cent 1.40 per cent Return on Assets 1.32 per cent 1.22 per cent 1.37 per cent 

12.12 per cent  12.54 per cent  14.33 per cent Return on Equity 12.34 per cent 12.66 per cent 14.08 per cent 

5.  Major events since the end of financial year 

Mo major events occurred since the end of financial year. 

6.  �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�¿���Ù���Ù�������û�å�³�ë�����³�ë�Ä���Ñ�ñ�þ�È�¿�³�������� 

The AB SEB bankas Group in Lithuania aims at long-term and mutually beneficial relations with all customers of the Group. For 
this purpose, the Bank implements its strategy to be the Home Bank for its customers, where their daily financial matters are 
managed. As a relationship bank, AB SEB bankas offers modern and universal banking services and provides them in a 
professional and convenient way with in-�Ä�È�û���Ö���
�ë�Ä�È�þ�����³�ë�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò���ñ�Ñ���È�³�¿�Ö���¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ�]�����ë�È�È�Ä�����³�ë�Ä���È���û�È�¿���³���Ù�ñ�ë���I������ 

The Group, seeking to implement its said strategy, also, taking into account the objectives of the SEB Group, envisages the 
following key trends of activities: 

�x Customer relationship strengthening. To achieve this objective, the bank will further pursue its Home Bank 
strategy aimed for the bank to become the main bank, i.e. home bank, for its customers �z a bank that offers sound 
solutions that an�����È�þ�� ���Ö�È�� �¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ���]�� �Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å�� �ë�È�È�Ä���I�� �H�
�þ�� �ã�È���� �Ñ�ñ�¿�
���� �Ù���� �ñ�ë�� �Ö�ñ�å�Ù�����Ù�¿�� �¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ�� �þ�È�å�³���Ù�ñ�ë���Ö�Ù�û�� �¾���� �¾�È�Ù�ë�Ò��
advisory, valuing simplicity and showing respect. The bank implements this strategy by developing new and 
attractive services and attractive product offerings to its existing and potential customers based on the needs of 
relevant customer segments. The bank regularly measures satisfaction of its private individual and corporate 
customers �z Net Promoter Score (NPS); 
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�x Work culture and people. The bank, as before, will aim at creating an atmosphere of mutual trust and respect 
enabling its employees to improve and reveal their potential to a full extent. For measuring its employee 
satisfaction, the Bank applies Insight methodology used at the entire SEB group level �z it allows assessing 
employee involvement in the activities of the organisation as well as the employee performance efficiency; 

�x Operational efficiency improvement. In order to remain an efficiently operating and competitive bank, the Bank 
plans to have its key focus on the following areas: 

o Income growth, by: i) prospecting new income sources, ii) being more advisory, iii) optimising pricing of the 
���³�ë�ã�]�������È�þ���Ù�¿�È���N 

o To ensure its profitability, the Bank has formed its transfer pricing, based on business capital concept; 
business capital are resources required for executing a transaction, and which are assessed taking into 
account the risk level of a relevant transaction. Business capital is attributed to each customer, at the same 
time to a relevant subdivision of the Bank; 

o Ensuring cost efficiency, by: i) rational setting of priorities both for daily and project tasks, ii) undertaking 
regular stock-taking of the works in progress with the aim to eliminate overlapping of tasks (functions) thus 
contributing towards improvement of the internal processes of the organisation; 

�x Risk management improvement. Risk-taking is not a separate objective, rather it is aimed at creating added value 
���ñ�� �¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ���� �³�ë�Ä�� �³�ë�� �³�Ä�Ä�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�³�å�� �þ�È���
�þ�ë�� ���ñ�� ���Ö�³�þ�È�Ö�ñ�å�Ä�È�þ���I�� �^�Ö�È�� ���³�ë�ã�]���� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�� �³�û�û�å�Ù�È�� a reliable risk management 
system with long-term independent risk control functions since the date of its creation that are supplemented with 
several advanced internal models and a detailed decision-taking structure, excellent risk awareness among the 
staff, uniform definitions and principles, risk-taking control without exceeding relevant set limits and high degree 
of transparency in disclosing external factors with key focus on:  

o Monitoring of the bank's Key Risk Indicators (KRIs); 

o Compliance with the requirements of supervisory institutions (e.g., Basel III requirements). 

7.  �1�ë�Ñ�ñ�þ�ê�³���Ù�ñ�ë���³�¾�ñ�
�������Ö�È���È�ë���Ù�����]�����þ�È���È�³�þ�¿�Ö���³�ë�Ä���Ä�È���È�å�ñ�û�ê�È�ë�����S�U�†���T���³�¿���Ù���Ù���Ù�È��  

AB SEB bankas Group did not undertake any R&D activities. 

8.  Financial risk management objectives, hedge instruments in case of which hedge accounting is applied as well as 
���Ö�È���È�ë���Ù�����]�����û�þ�Ù�¿�È���þ�Ù���ã�L���å�Ù�ý�
�Ù�Ä�Ù�������þ�Ù���ã���³�ë�Ä���ê�ñ�ë�È���³�þ�����þ�Ù���ã�����¿�³�å�È 

The Group manages its financial risk as described in section Financial risk management policy in Note 2 to the Year 2018 
consolidated financial reporting. Said section includes also a description of financial risk management objectives, hedging 
���þ�³�ë���³�¿���Ù�ñ�ë�����³�û�û�å�Ù�È�Ä���³�������È�å�å���³�������Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����¿�þ�È�Ä�Ù�����þ�Ù���ã���³�ë�Ä���ê�³�þ�ã�È�����þ�Ù���ã���å�È���È�å�I�� 

9.  Data on the acquisition/assignment of own shares. 

The Bank has none and during the year 2018 �Ä�Ù�Ä�� �ë�ñ���� �³�¿�ý�
�Ù�þ�È�� �Ù������ �ñ���ë�� ���Ö�³�þ�È���I�� ���å���ñ�L�� ���Ö�È�� ���³�ë�ã�]���� ���
�¾���Ù�Ä�Ù�³�þ���� �¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë�Ù�È���� �Ö�³���È�� �ë�ñ����
�³�¿�ý�
�Ù�þ�È�Ä�� ���Ö�È�� ���³�ë�ã�]���� ���Ö�³�þ�È���I�� ���
�þ�Ù�ë�Ò�� ���Ö�È�� �þ�È�û�ñ�þ���Ù�ë�Ò�� �û�È�þ�Ù�ñ�Ä�L�� ���Ö�È�� ���³�ë�ã�� �³�ë�Ä�� �Ù������ ���
�¾���Ù�Ä�Ù�³�þ���� �¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë�Ù�È���� �Ä�Ù�Ä�� �ë�ñ���� �¾�
���� �ñ�þ�� ���È�å�å�� ���Ö�È�Ù�þ�� �ñ���ë��
shares. 

10.  Employees 

As of 31 December 2018, the AB SEB bankas Group in Lithuania (AB SEB bankas and �c�������b�Y�!�����Ù�ë���È�����Ù�¿�Ù�â�������³�å�Ä���ê�³���^) had 1,591 
employees (working under labour contracts with and without a fixed term, including those on maternity/paternity leave), i.e. by 
0.7 per cent less compared to the end of 2017, when the Group had 1,603 employees. As of 31 December 2018, the number of 
actually working employees (excluding those on maternity/paternity leave) was 1,435, i.e. 1.7 per cent more than at the end of 
�›�˜�š� �L�����Ö�È�ë�����Ö�È���³�¿���
�³�å���ë�
�ê�¾�È�þ���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È�������³�����š�L�•�š�š�I�� 

During the year 2018 the number of employees of the Bank alone (working under labour contracts with and without a fixed 
term, including those on maternity/paternity leave) decreased by 0.8 per cent �z from 1,592 to 1,580, and the number of the 
Bank's actually employed employees (excluding those on maternity/paternity leave) was 1,424, i.e. 1.6 per cent more than at 
the end of 2017, when their number was 1,401. 

�1�ë�� ���Ö�È�� ���È�³�þ�� �›�˜�š�¡�L�� ���Ö�È�� �³���È�þ�³�Ò�È�� �³�¿���
�³�å�� �ë�
�ê�¾�È�þ�� �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ö�È�� ���³�ë�ã�]���� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È���� �S�È���¿�å�
�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò�� ���Ö�È�� �ë�
�ê�¾�È�þ�� �ñ�Ñ�� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È���� �ñ�ë��
maternity/paternity leave) was 1,394 employees (in 2017, it was 1,398 employees).  
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 The Bank The Group 

 
31 December 

2016  
31 December 

2017  
31 December 

2018  
31 December 

2016  
31 December 

2017  
31 December 

2018  
Regular employees (working 

under labour contracts 
with and without a fixed 
term, including those on 
maternity/paternity 
leave) 1,578 1,592 1,580 1,588 1,603 1,591 

Actually number of employees 
(excluding those on 
maternity/paternity 
leave)  1,389 1,401 1,424 1,400 1,411 1,435 

 

Tables below contain information on the num�¾�È�þ�� �ñ�Ñ�� ���³�ë�ã�]���� �³�¿���
�³�å�å���� ���ñ�þ�ã�Ù�ë�Ò�� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È����and average monthly wages (before 
���³���È���T�I�� �<�³�¾�ñ�
�þ�� �¿�ñ�ë���þ�³�¿������ �ñ�þ�� �¿�ñ�å�å�È�¿���Ù���È�� �¾�³�þ�Ò�³�Ù�ë�Ù�ë�Ò�� �³�Ò�þ�È�È�ê�È�ë������ �Ä�ñ�� �ë�ñ���� �û�þ�ñ���Ù�Ä�È�� �Ñ�ñ�þ�� �³�ë���� ���û�È�¿�Ù�³�å�� �þ�Ù�Ò�Ö������ �ñ�þ�� �Ä�
���Ù�È���� �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ö�È�� �Ù�����
�È�þ�]����
employees or of some of them. 

The average monthly wages of the managerial staff increased by 8.6 per cent year-on-year (from 3,838 EUR up to 4,168 EUR), 
as ���Ö�È���ë�
�ê�¾�È�þ���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]s managerial staff drop of a 10.1 per cent (from 149 down to 134).  

The average monthly wages of the specialist staff increased by 8.4 per cent year-on-year (from 1,350 EUR up to 1,464 EUR) 
and the number of the said staff increase of a 3 per cent (from 1,252 up to 1,290). 

 Number of employees Average monthly wages (in EUR) 

 
31 December 

2016  
31 December 

2017  
31 December 

2018  
31 December 

2016  
31 December 

2017  
31 December 

2018  
Managerial staff 152  149  134  3,630 3,838 4,168 
Specialists 1,237 1,252 1,290 1,275 1,350 1,464 
In total 1,389 1,401 1,424 - - - 

11.  Arrangements between the bank and members of its bodies or employees  

On 25 January 2016, the administration of the Bank and representatives of the Bank employees signed an updated collective 
�¾�³�þ�Ò�³�Ù�ë�Ù�ë�Ò�� �³�Ò�þ�È�È�ê�È�ë���� ���Ö�Ù�¿�Ö�� ���Ù�å�å�� �¾�È�� ���³�å�Ù�Ä�� �
�ë���Ù�å�� �š�� �9�³�ë�
�³�þ���� �›�˜�š�¢�I�� �^�Ö�È�� �û�þ�È���È�ë���� ���Ò�þ�È�È�ê�È�ë���� ���
�û�È�þ���È�Ä�È�Ä�� ���Ö�È�� ���³�ë�ã�]���� �¿�ñ�å�å�È�¿���Ù���È��
bargaining agreement that was effective since 27 January 2014. The collective bargaining agreement regulates labour relations 
as well as terms and conditions, defines mutual obligations of the employer and the employees, additional incentive measures for 
the employees as well as other labour relations terms and conditions on which the employees and the employer have mutually 
agreed, for instance, on a sum-total working �Ö�ñ�
�þ���]�� ���Ù�ê�È, calculation of the employment record, additional vacations, etc. The 
collective bargaining agreement has been signed by and between the administration of SEB Bank and representatives of the 
labour council. The labour council of the Bank consists of 15 employees of the Bank elected by secret vote holding different 
positions at the Bank. The collective bargaining agreement includes the terms and conditions of work and the aspects on which it 
may be directly agreed with the employer.  

���ñ�ë���
�å���³���Ù�ñ�ë���� ���Ù���Ö�� ���Ö�È�� ���³�ë�ã�]���� �³�Ä�ê�Ù�ë�Ù�����þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� �Ù���� �ñ�ë�È�� �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ö�È�� �ê�³�Ù�ë�� �³�þ�È�³���� �³�¿���Ù���Ù���Ù�È���� �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ö�È�� �å�³�¾�ñ�
�þ�� �¿�ñ�
�ë�¿�Ù�å�I�� �^�Ö�È�� �å�³�¾�ñ�
�þ�� �¿�ñ�
�ë�¿�Ù�å��
periodically meets with the president of the Bank or his delegated representatives of other units. At such meetings, 
implementation of the provisions of the collective bargaining agreement, future changes, also questions as well as observations 
from employees to members of the labour council are discussed.  

�^�Ö�È�þ�È�� �³�þ�È�� �ë�ñ�� ���È�û�³�þ�³���È�� �³�þ�þ�³�ë�Ò�È�ê�È�ë������ �þ�È�Ò�³�þ�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò�� ���È���È�þ�³�ë�¿�È�� �û�³������ �È���È�¿�
���È�Ä�� ���Ù���Ö�� ���Ö�È�� �1�����
�È�þ�]���� �¾�ñ�Ä�Ù�È���L�� �ê�È�ê�¾�È�þ���� �ñ�Ñ�� �¿�ñ�ê�ê�Ù�����È�È���� �ñ�þ��
employees, should they resign or be dismissed without a motivated reason.  

12.  Information on the Remuneration policy and its implementation 

The information has been drawn up and announced implementing the requirements of Item 14 of Resolution of the Board of the 
���³�ë�ã���ñ�Ñ���<�Ù���Ö�
�³�ë�Ù�³���a�U�È�Ò�³�þ�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò���ê�Ù�ë�Ù�ê�
�ê���þ�È�ý�
�Ù�þ�È�ê�È�ë�������Ñ�ñ�þ���û�ñ�å�Ù�¿�Ù�È�����ñ�Ñ���þ�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë�����ñ���¿�þ�Èdit institution and of financial brokerage 
�¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë�Ù�È�����È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È���]���B�ñ�I���˜�œ-�¡�›�L���Ä�³���È�Ä���¡���A�³�����›�˜�š�ž�]�I 

The SEB Group has its approved remuneration policy, which aligned with the remuneration policy of the Bank's shareholder 
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ). Equally the remuneration policy implements legal acts of the Board of the Bank of 
Lithuania regulating the requirements for the remuneration policy. 
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�^�Ö�È���Y�!�����+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�������Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���Ù�������ñ���Ä�È�å�Ù���È�þ�����ñ�þ�å�Ä-class service to our customers. Implementation of this vision is important for the Group 
���ñ�� �³�����þ�³�¿���L�� �þ�È���³�Ù�ë�L�� �³�ë�Ä�� �Ä�È���È�å�ñ�û�� ���³�å�È�ë���È�Ä�� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È���� �³�ë�Ä�� ���ñ�� �þ�È���³�þ�Ä�� ���Ö�È�ê�I�� �^�Ö�È�� �Ò�ñ�³�å�� �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ö�È�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]���� �U�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� �R�ñ�å�Ù�¿���� �Ù���� ���ñ��
establish the main principles of pay for work, seeking to reward for a sustainable, long-term value-added creation that meets 
interests of shareholders and investors. The Policy shall promote sound and effective risk management as well as desired 
performance, conduct and behaviour. Further, the Policy shall prevent the risk that the remuneration models drive excessive 
risk-taking or conflicts of interest detriment to the best interest of SEBs clients. As well as, the Group aims that the remuneration 
to its employees is competitive in the markets and segments where the Group operates in order to motivate high performing 
employees. 

Information concerning the decision-making process used for determining the remuneration policy, including information 
on the remuneration committee (composition and mandate) 

The Group is guided by the remuneration policy that was approved by the Bank's supervisory council on 12th February 2018. All 
of the Group companies have implemented the remuneration policy requirements. When developing said remuneration policy, no 
services of external advisers were resorted to. 

The Bank's Human Resou�þ�¿�È���� ���È�û�³�þ���ê�È�ë���� ���ñ�Ò�È���Ö�È�þ�� ���Ù���Ö�� ���Ö�È�� ���ñ�ê�û�å�Ù�³�ë�¿�È�� �³�ë�Ä�� �U�Ù���ã�� �¿�ñ�ë���þ�ñ�å�� �
�ë�Ù�����L�� �³�ë�ë�
�³�å�å���� �þ�È���Ù�È������ ���Ö�È�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]����
remuneration policy and submits proposals on the policy changes. The remuneration policy is approved by the Bank's 
supervisory council, upon approval of the G�þ�ñ�
�û�]���� �þ�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë���¿�ñ�ê�ê�Ù�����È�È�I�� �^�Ö�È���ê�³�ë�³�Ò�È�ê�È�ë�����¾�ñ�³�þ�Ä���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã���Ù���� �þ�È���û�ñ�ë���Ù�¾�å�È��
for the implementation of the remuneration policy. 

Remuneration and Human Resources Committee (31 December 2018) 

�^�Ö�È���U�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë���³�ë�Ä���/�
�ê�³�ë���U�È���ñ�
�þ�¿�È�������ñ�ê�ê�Ù�����È�È���S�a�U�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë���¿�ñ�ê�ê�Ù�����È�È�]�T���û�þ�ñ���Ù�Ä�È�����³�����Ù�����³�ë�¿�È�����ñ�����Ö�È�����
�û�È�þ���Ù���ñ�þ�����¿�ñ�
�ë�¿�Ù�å��
regarding remuneration, leadership, business continuity and other issues related to the staff as well as proposes candidates to 
���Ö�È�� ���³�¿�³�ë���� ���³�ë�ã�]���� �¾�ñ�Ä�Ù�È���� �³�ë�Ä�� �þ�È�¿�ñ�ê�ê�È�ë�Ä���� ���ñ�� �Ä�Ù���¿�
������ ���Ö�È�ê�� �Ù�ë�� ���Ö�È�� �þ�È���û�È�¿���Ù���È�� ���³�ë�ã�]���� �¾�ñ�Ä�Ù�È���I�� �U�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� �¿�ñ�ê�ê�Ù�����È�È�� �³�å���ñ��
performs other functions provided for by the remuneration committee regulations and relevant legal acts. 

Candidates to members of the remuneration committee are approved by the supervisory council of the Bank. Persons related to 
the Bank or its subsidiary companies by labour relations as well as members of the Bank's management board may not be 
elected chairman or members of the remuneration committee. 

None of the members of the remuneration committee has shares in the Bank. 

RIHO UNT 

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) Head of Baltic Division.  

MATS EMIL TORSTENDAHL  

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) Executive Vice President, Co-head of Corporate & Private Customers. 

JUHA LASSI JONAHHES KOTAJOKI 

Member of the Supervisory Council of AB SEB bankas  

�c�������b�Y�!�����1�ë���È�����Ù�¿�Ù�â�������³�å�Ä���ê�³���^���Ö�³�����ë�ñ���þ�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë���¿�ñ�ê�ê�Ù�����È�È�L�����Ö�È�þ�È�Ñ�ñ�þ�È�L�����Ö�È���Ñ�
�ë�¿���Ù�ñ�ë�����ñ�Ñ���³���U�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë�����ñ�ê�ê�Ù�����È�È���û�þ�ñ���Ù�Ä�È�Ä��
�Ñ�ñ�þ���¾�����å�È�Ò�³�å���³�¿�������³�þ�È���û�È�þ�Ñ�ñ�þ�ê�È�Ä���¾�������Ö�È���Y�
�û�È�þ���Ù���ñ�þ�������ñ�
�ë�¿�Ù�å���ñ�Ñ���c�������b�Y�!�����1�ë���È�����Ù�¿�Ù�â�������³�å�Ä���ê�³���^�I 

Information on the relation between the remuneration and performance results  

SEB Group continuously follows up and secures that the variable remuneration models do not put the employees in conflict of 
interest with its customers, promote appropriat�È���¿�ñ�Ä�È���ñ�Ñ���¿�ñ�ë�Ä�
�¿���� �¾�È�Ö�³���Ù�ñ�
�þ���³�ë�Ä���Ä�ñ���ë�ñ���� �Ù�ë�¿�È�ë���Ù���Ù���È���È���¿�È�����Ù���È���þ�Ù���ã�����³�ã�Ù�ë�Ò�I�� �Y�!���]����
control functions shall support this follow up. The Remuneration Committee shall in consultation with the Risk and Capital 
Committee examine whether incentives provided by the remuneration systems appropriately take into consideration risk, 
capital, liquidity and the likelihood and timing of earnings. 

Business performance results shall be established by combining the individual performance and balanced risk taking. 
Remuneration shall be established for encouraging both immediate results, as well as long term results, and for encouraging 
long-term strategic decisions to ensure a sustained business performance. Total remuneration paid for a specified period shall be 
established taking into consideration several year results and shall not jeopardize the ability for SEB to achieve a positive result 
of the Bank on the aggregated level during a business cycle. 

�1�ë�Ä�Ù���Ù�Ä�
�³�å�� �È���³�å�
�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� �Ù���� �
���È�Ä�� �³���� �³�� �Ñ�ñ�
�ë�Ä�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� �Ñ�ñ�þ�� ���È�����Ù�ë�Ò�� �Ò�þ�ñ�
�û�� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È�]���� �þ�Èmuneration. Individual performance shall be 
evaluated based on the financial and non-�Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���Ù�ë�Ä�Ù�¿�³���ñ�þ�������Ù���Ö�Ù�ë�����Ö�È���Y�!���]�������³�þ�Ò�È�����³�þ�È�³�����Ä�È�þ�Ù���È�Ä���Ñ�þ�ñ�ê�����Ö�È���³�û�û�å�Ù�¿�³�¾�å�È���¾�
���Ù�ë�È������
plan and the ambition to deliver world-class service to our customers. Individual b�È�Ö�³���Ù�ñ�
�þ�����Ö�³�å�å���¾�È���È���³�å�
�³���È�Ä���¾�³���È�Ä���ñ�ë�����Ö�È���Y�!���]����
core values as a starting point. 
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The most important design characteristics of the remuneration system, including information on the criteria used for 
performance measurement and adjustment, deferral policy and vesting criteria 

�^�Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û���È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È���]���þ�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë���¿�ñ�ë���Ù�������ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���Ñ�ñ�å�å�ñ���Ù�ë�Ò�����Ö�þ�È�È���È�å�È�ê�È�ë�����M�� 

�x base salary (or hourly rate);  

�x variable remuneration, which may be allocated according to the following programmes:  

o All Employee Programme  �z �Y�!���]�����û�þ�ñ�Ñ�Ù�����³�å�å�ñ�¿ation programme for all employees of the Group; 

o individual programme, which is participated by a targeted group of employees and includes variable salary, 
which may consist of two parts: salary in cash and salary in shares or in any other financial instruments paid 
out after a certain set period of time; 

�x additional benefits.  

Base salary(or hourly rate) �z �Ù�����Ù�������Ö�È�����³�Ò�È�����S�¾�³���È���û�³���T���È�����³�¾�å�Ù���Ö�È�Ä���Ù�ë���³�ë���È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È�]�����å�³�¾�ñ�
�þ���¿�ñ�ë���þ�³�¿���I�� 

Variable remuneration �z it is a variable portion of remuneration, which may be paid to employees as an extra to the 
remuneration by position �z in bonuses, rights to the Bank's shares, equity-linked financial instruments, other financial or non-cash 
�Ù�ë�����þ�
�ê�È�ë�����L���³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�Ù�¿�Ö���Ä�È�û�È�ë�Ä�����ñ�ë���³�ë���Ù�ë�Ä�Ù���Ù�Ä�
�³�å���È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È�]�����Ù�ë�û�
�������ñ�����Ö�È��performance of his/her subdivision or of 
the Group.  

�^�Ö�È�� ���û�È�¿�Ù�³�å�� �þ�È�ý�
�Ù�þ�È�ê�È�ë������ �Ñ�ñ�þ�� �û�³���ê�È�ë���� �ñ�Ñ�� ���³�þ�Ù�³�¾�å�È�� �þ�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� �Ù���� �³�û�û�å�Ù�È�Ä�� ���ñ�� ���Ö�È�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]���� �1�Ä�È�ë���Ù�Ñ�Ù�È�Ä�� �Y���³�Ñ�Ñ�� �³�þ�È�� ���È���� �Ù�ë�� ���Ö�È��
Remuneration Policy. 

�Y�!���]���� ���å�å�� �!�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È�� �R�þ�ñ�Ò�þ�³�ê�ê�È�� �S�a���!�R�]�T is a collective profit allocation programme meant for all SEB employees. The AEP 
outcome depends on factors indicated in the business plan of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ). 50 per cent of outcome 
is disbursed in cash, another 50 per cent share is held for a tree-year period and will be disbursed in cash calculating based on 
the total return of A class shares (TSR) of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), i.e. based on a change in the price of a share 
as well as on the allocation of reinvested dividends for SEB shares.  

Additional benefit �z it includes additional health insurance, pension saving contribution, additional annual vacation, additional 
paid vacation to students and other possible benefits. 

The remuneration policy establishes that principles for the determination and payment of variable remuneration to risk-takers 
�ê�
������ �¾�È�� �Ù�ë�� �å�Ù�ë�È�� ���Ù���Ö�� ���Ö�È�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]���� �å�ñ�ë�Ò-term continued activities interests, business strategy, objectives, values, and would 
encourage reliable and effective risk management, and employees would not be encouraged to take risk that is excessive and 
unacceptable to the Group. 

�l�³�þ�Ù�³�¾�å�È�� �þ�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� ���ñ�� ���Ö�È�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]���� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È���� ���Ö�ñ���È�� �û�þ�ñ�Ñ�È�����Ù�ñ�ë�³�å�� �³�¿���Ù���Ù���Ù�È���� �³�ë�Ä�Y�ñ�þ�� �Ä�È�¿�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���� ���³�ã�È�ë�� �ê�³���� �Ö�³���È�� �³�� ���Ù�Ò�ë�Ù�Ñ�Ù�¿�³�ë����
impact on the risks assumed by the Group is established according to the impact of their decisions on risk. An employee is 
�¿�ñ�ë���Ù�Ä�È�þ�È�Ä�����ñ���¾�È���³�¾�å�È�����ñ�����³�ã�È���Ä�È�¿�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�������Ö�³�����Ö�³���È���³�����Ù�Ò�ë�Ù�Ñ�Ù�¿�³�ë�����Ù�ê�û�³�¿�����ñ�ë�����Ö�È���þ�Ù���ã���³�����
�ê�È�Ä���¾�������Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û���S�Ù�I�È�I���³�]���1�Ä�È�ë���Ù�Ñ�Ù�È�Ä�������³�Ñ�Ñ�]�T�L���Ù�Ñ��
the employee meets at least one of the following criteria:  

�x employees with leading strategic positions in the Group; 

�x �Ö�È�³�Ä�����ñ�Ñ���ã�È�����¾�
���Ù�ë�È���������
�¾�Ä�Ù���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�������Ù���Ö�����Ö�È���³�
���Ö�ñ�þ�Ù���������ñ�����³�ã�È���Ä�È�¿�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�������Ö�³�����ê�³�����Ö�³���È���³���ê�³���È�þ�Ù�³�å���Ù�ê�û�³�¿�����ñ�ë�����Ö�È���Ò�þ�ñ�
�û�]����
activity results; 

�x employees with risk control functions; 

�x risk-takers, i.e. employees with the right to conclude transactions or assume obligations and/or take decisions and able 
to have a significant impact on the risk assumed by the bank; 

�x �¿�Ö�³�Ù�þ�ê�È�ë���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����B�È�����R�þ�ñ�Ä�
�¿���Y�Y�È�þ���Ù�¿�È�����û�û�þ�ñ���³�å�����ñ�ê�ê�Ù�����È�È�����³�ë�Ä���ê�È�ê�¾�È�þ�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È�����ñ�ê�ê�Ù�����È�Ès; 

�x �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È���� ���Ö�ñ���È�� �þ�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� �Ù���� �È�ý�
�³�å�� �ñ�þ�� �È���¿�È�È�Ä���� ���Ö�È�� �þ�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ö�È�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]���� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È���� �Ù�ë�� �å�È�³�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò�� �����þ�³���È�Ò�Ù�¿��
positions. 

�l�³�þ�Ù�³�¾�å�È���þ�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë���Ñ�ñ�þ���1�Ä�È�ë���Ù�Ñ�Ù�È�Ä�������³�Ñ�Ñ���Ù�����¿�³�å�¿�
�å�³���È�Ä���¾�³���È�Ä���ñ�ë�����Ö�È���³�û�û�þ�³�Ù���³�å���ñ�Ñ���³���þ�È�å�È���³�ë�����È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È�]�����û�È�þ�Ñ�ñ�þ�ê�³�ë�¿�È���ñ���È�þ���ë�ñ��less 
than three to five years, and the actual variable remuneration is paid in portions �z �ñ���È�þ�� �³�� �û�È�þ�Ù�ñ�Ä�� ���Ö�³���� �ê�³���¿�Ö�È���� ���Ö�È�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]����
operation cycle and operational risk. No less than 50 per cent of the remuneration to such employees must consist of shares or 
any other financial instruments. 

The deferred variable remuneration portion is allocated proportionately over the entire deferral period, and its payment is 
�����³�þ���È�Ä�� �ë�ñ�� �È�³�þ�å�Ù�È�þ�� ���Ö�³�ë�� �³�Ñ���È�þ�� �ñ�ë�È�� ���È�³�þ�� ���Ù�ë�¿�È�� ���Ö�È�� �È�ë�Ä�� �ñ�Ñ�� �³�� �þ�È�å�È���³�ë���� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È�]���� �û�È�þ�Ñ�ñ�þ�ê�³�ë�¿�È�� �³�û�û�þ�³�Ù���³�å�� �³�ë�Ä��shall be effected no 
more than once a year. 
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�1�ë���¿�³���È���ñ�Ñ���Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���Ù�ë�����þ�
�ê�È�ë���������Ö�³�����¿�ñ�ë�����Ù���
���È���³���û�ñ�þ���Ù�ñ�ë���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È�����³�þ�Ù�³�¾�å�È���þ�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë�L���³���ë�ñ���å�È���������Ö�³�ë���š�›���ê�ñ�ë���Ö���]���Ä�È�Ñ�È�þ�þ�³�å���ûeriod is 
applied. Such period is reckoned since the time of granting the rights to the financial instruments. This provision applies both to 
the deferred variable remuneration portion and to the variable remuneration portion that is not subject to deferral. 

The ratios between fixed and variable remuneration 

Variable pay shall not exceed 50 per cent of annual base salary. Remuneration Human Resources Committee may decide on a 
different variable compensation and official proportions but variable pay shall not exceed 100 per cent of annual base salary.  

Guaranteed remuneration is not paid in the Group. 

Information on the performance criteria on which the entitlement to shares, options or variable components of 
remuneration is based 

Group has right to suspend payment of variable pay, a portion or total variable pay if performance of a specific person, business 
unit or a Group generates loss, including not limited to remuneration in cash and in other financial instruments. 

�l�³�þ�Ù�³�¾�å�È���û�³���L���³�������È�å�å���³�������Ö�È���Ä�È�Ñ�È�þ�þ�È�Ä���û�ñ�þ���Ù�ñ�ë�L�����Ö�³�å�å���¾�È���Ä�Ù���¾�
�þ���È�Ä���³�ë�Ä���³�û�û�þ�ñ���È�Ä���Ù�Ñ�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å�������³�ë�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò���Ù�������
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾le and 
shall be related to the performance results of the Group companies, business unit or employee. Variable pay in accordance with 
acts of law of the Republic of Lithuania shall be decreased and shall not be paid if the Group activity results do not meet the 
�þ�³���Ù�ñ���� �È�����³�¾�å�Ù���Ö�È�Ä���Ù�ë�� ���Ö�È�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]���� �¾�
���Ù�ë�È������ �����þ�³���È�Ò���L�� �Ò�È�ë�È�þ�³���È���� �å�ñ�����L�� ���Ö�È�� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È�� �³�¿���È�Ä�� �Ù�ë�� �¾�³�Ä�� �Ñ�³�Ù���Ö�� �ñ�þ�� �Ö�Ù���� �³�¿���Ù���Ù���Ù�È���� �þ�È���
�å��ed in 
losses for the Group. 

All pay outs are subject to risk adjustment which might reduce the final pay-out of the deferred am�ñ�
�ë���I���Y�!���]�����Ù�ê�û�å�È�ê�È�ë���³���Ù�ñ�ë���ñ�Ñ��
the current regulations on risk adjustment of variable compensation stipulates that the deferred amount may be disbursed taking 
into account the following terms: 

�x ���
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù�������ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�\�����³�ë�Ä�Y�ñ�þ�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å�������³�ë�Ä�Ùng; 

�x implemented annual objectives of an employee, also, adherence to the requirements of the internal legal acts. 

Prior to the disbursement of each deferred portion of the variable remuneration and in each case related to its disbursement the 
above-indicated terms are assessed.  

The employee shall not be allowed to use any individual security strategies or insurance against decrease in variable pay seeking 
to prevent risk effect established in the variable pay calculation models. 

General quantitative information on remuneration 2018  

Comments and definitions on tables below: 

�x ���å�å���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�������³�þ�È���û�þ�È���È�ë���È�Ä���È���¿�å�
�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò���È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�þ�]�������ñ�¿�Ù�³�å���¿�ñ������; 

�x Number of employees are defined at date December 31, 2018. 
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1 table �z General quantitative information on remuneration (fixed pay, variable pay, deferred, severance pay, etc.) to 
employees of AB SEB bankas, distributed by senior management and identified staff 

The Bank 
(thousand EUR) 

Management 
Board 

Identified Staff Other Employees Total 

Fixed remuneration 2018 747  1,829 26,194 28,770  
Number of beneficiaries (31 December 2018) 5 29 1,390 1,424 
     
Variable remuneration 2018 187  320  2,825 3,332 
Non deferred cash based (included All Employee 
Programme) 11 62 1,342 1,415 
Deferred Long -term equity based 176  258  1,483 1,917 
 % between fixed and variable remuneration 25%  17%  11%  12%  
Number of beneficiaries (31 December 2018) 5 29 1,355 1,389 
     
Amounts of new sign-on payments 2018  - - - - 
Number of beneficiaries (31 December 2018) - - - - 
     
Severance pay 2018  - 117  674  791  
Highest severance pay to single person  75   
Number of beneficiaries (31 December 2018) - 2 76 78 
     
Variable deferred remuneration earned 2012 - 
2017 and cash based paid out 2018 (included All 
Employee Programme) 15 72 931  1,018 
Amounts of outstanding deferred remuneration 
earned 2012 - 2017 - vested amount 2018 168  306  204  678  
Amounts of outstanding deferred remuneration 
earned 2012 - 2017  - unvested amount 2018 716  983  2,818 4,517 
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2 table �z General quantitative information on remuneration (fixed pay, variable pay, deferred, severance pay, etc.) to 
employees of SEB Group (AB SEB bankas and �c�������b�Y�!�����Ù�ë���È�����Ù�¿�Ù�â�������³�å�Ä���ê�³���^�T�L���Ä�Ù�����þ�Ù�¾�
���È�Ä���¾�������È�ë�Ù�ñ�þ���ê�³�ë�³�Ò�È�ê�È�ë�����³�ë�Ä��
identified staff 

The Group 
(thousand EUR) 

Management 
Board 

Identified Staff Other Employees Total 

Fixed remuneration 2018 859  1,884 26,328  29,071  
Number of beneficiaries (31 December 2018 ) 7 31 1,397 1,435 
     
Variable remuneration 2018 196  325  2,838 3,359 
Non deferred cash based (included All Employee 
Programme) 15 65 1,349 1,429 
Deferred Long -term equity based 181  260  1,489 1,930 
 % between fixed and variable remuneration 23%  17%  11%  12%  
Number of beneficiaries (31 December 2018) 7 31 1,362 1,400 
     
Amounts of new sign-on payments 2018  - - - - 
Number of beneficiaries (31 December 2018) - - - - 
     
Severance pay 2018  - 117  674  791  
Highest severance pay to single person - 75 - - 
Number of beneficiaries (31 December 2018) - 2 76 78 
     
Variable deferred remuneration earned 2012 - 
2017 and cash based paid out 2018 (included All 
Employee Programme) 26 77 936  1,039 
Amounts of outstanding deferred remuneration 
earned 2012 �z 2017 - vested amount 2018 168  306  204  678  
Amounts of outstanding deferred remuneration 
earned 2012 - 2017 - unvested amount 2018 722  989  2,828 4,539 
     

3 table �z General quantitative information on remuneration of SEB Group (AB SEB bankas and UAB �b�Y�!���� �Ù�ë���È�����Ù�¿�Ù�â����
���³�å�Ä���ê�³���^�T��by business area 

The Group 
(thousand EUR) 

Retail banking 
Corporate 
banking 

Wealth 
Management 

Other 
Total 

Fixed remuneration 2018 11,305  3,603 301   13,862  29,071  
Number of beneficiaries (31 December 
2018 ) 739  136  11 

 
549  1,435 

      
Variable remuneration 2018 1,201 442  27 1,689 3,359 
 % between fixed and variable 
remuneration 11%  12%  9% 

 
12%  12%  

Number of beneficiaries (31 December 
2018 ) 723  130  11 536  1,400 
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13.  Information about positions held by key management personnel in other companies  

In the table below, information is disclosed about positions held by key management personnel in other companies, as well as 
place of main workplace: 
 

Name of key 
management 

personnel 

Supervisory Council 
/ Management 

Board 
Main workplace Position 

Other entities, 
where position is 

held 
Position 

      

���
���þ�³���A�³���
���È���Ù�Â�Ù�È�ë�É Supervisory Council 

Skandinaviska 
Enskilda Banken AB 
(publ) (code 
502032 -9081, 
address 
Kungstradgardsgata
n 8, Stockholm, 
Sweden) 

Head of Operations 

AS SEB banka (code 
40003151743; 
address Meistaru iela 
�š�L���l�³�å�Ä�å�³�
�Â�Ù�L���;�È�ã�³���³����
�û�³�Ò�I�L���;�È�ã�³���³�����ë�ñ���I�L��
Latvia ) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 
10004252; address 
�^�ñ�þ�ë�Ù�ê�´�È���›�L���^�³�å�å�Ù�ë�ë�L��
Estonia) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

Juha Kotajoki Supervisory Council 

Talosakke Oy (code 
0777979 -0, address 
Paasikivenkatu 13, 
Kerava, Finland) 

Board Member 

AS SEB banka (code 
40003151743; 
address Meistaru iela 
�š�L���l�³�å�Ä�å�³�
�Â�Ù�L���;�È�ã�³���³����
�û�³�Ò�I�L���;�È�ã�³���³�����ë�ñ���I�L��
Latvia ) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 
10004252; a ddress 
�^�ñ�þ�ë�Ù�ê�´�È���›�L���^�³�å�å�Ù�ë�ë�L��
Estonia) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

The State Pension 
Fund of Finland 
(code 1583293 -4, 
address Mikonkatu 
15 A, Helsinki, 
Finland) 

Member of the Board 

Riho Unt Supervisory Council 

Skandinaviska 
Enskilda Banken AB 
(publ) (code 
502032 -9081, 
address 
Kungstradgardsgata
n 8, Stockholm, 
Sweden) 

Head of Baltic 
Division 

AS SEB banka (code 
40003151743; 
address Meistaru iela 
1, Valdlau�Â�Ù�L���;�È�ã�³���³����
�û�³�Ò�I�L���;�È�ã�³���³�����ë�ñ���I�L��
Latvia ) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 
10004252; address 
�^�ñ�þ�ë�Ù�ê�´�È���›�L���^�³�å�å�Ù�ë�ë�L��
Estonia) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

Stefan Stignas Supervisory Council 

Skandinaviska 
Enskilda Banken AB 
(publ) (code 
502032 -9081, 
address 
Kungstradgardsgata
n 8, Stockholm, 
Sweden) 

Head of Corporate 
Market 

AS SEB banka (code 
40003151743; 
address Meistaru iela 
�š�L���l�³�å�Ä�å�³�
�Â�Ù�L���;�È�ã�³���³����
�û�³�Ò�I�L���;�È�ã�³���³�����ë�ñ���I�L��
Latvia ) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 
10004252; ad dress 
�^�ñ�þ�ë�Ù�ê�´�È���›�L���^�³�å�å�Ù�ë�ë�L��
Estonia) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

Spikia Gruppen AB 
(code 556604 -
5372, address 
Brunnsgatan 1, 172 
68 Sundbyberg, 
Sweden) 
 
 
 

Board Member 
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Name of key 
management 

personnel 

Supervisory Council 
/ Management 

Board 
Main workplace Position 

Other entities, 
where position is 

held 
Position 

      

Mats Torstendahl Supervisory Council 

Skandinaviska 
Enskilda Banken AB 
(publ) (code 
502032 -9081, 
address 
Kungstradgardsgata
n 8, Stockholm, 
Sweden) 

Head of Corporate & 
Private Customers 

AS SEB banka (code 
40003151743; 
address Meistaru iela 
�š�L���l�³�å�Ä�å�³�
�Â�Ù�L���;�È�ã�³���³����
�û�³�Ò�I�L���;�È�ã�³���³�����ë�ñ���I�L��
Latvia ) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 
10004252; address 
�^�ñ�þ�ë�Ù�ê�´�È���›�L���^�³�å�å�Ù�ë�ë�L��
Estonia) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 
 

SEB Kort Ban AB 
(code 556574 -
6624, address 
Magnus 
�<�³�Ä�
�å�»���Ò�³���³�ë���›��
Stockholm, Sweden) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

Stockholmsmassan 
Aktiebolag (code 
556272 -4491, 
�³�Ä�Ä�þ�È�������A�´�������´�Ò�È�ë��
�š�L���
�å�����â�ò�L 
Sweden) 

Member of the Board 

SwedSec 
Licensiering AB 
(code 556601 -
8569, address 
Blasieholmsgatan 
4B, Stockholm, 
Sweden) 

Member of the Board 

Erkka Nasakkala Supervisory Council 

Skandinaviska 
Enskilda Banken AB 
(publ) (code 
502032 -9081, 
address 
Kungstradgardsgata
n 8, Stockholm, 
Sweden) 

Head of Risk 
International 

AS SEB banka (code 
40003151743; 
address Meistaru iela 
�š�L���l�³�å�Ä�å�³�
�Â�Ù�L���;�È�ã�³���³����
�û�³�Ò�I�L���;�È�ã�³���³�����ë�ñ���I�L��
Latvia ) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 
10004252; address 
�^�ñ�þ�ë�Ù�ê�´�È���›�L���^�³�å�å�Ù�ë�ë�L��
Estonia) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

Raimondas Kvedaras Management board 

AB SEB bankas (code 
112021238, 
address Gedimino pr. 
12, Vilnius) 

President of the 
Bank, Chairman of 
the Management 
Board 

�������b�Y�!�����+�������¾�É����
���þ�³�
�Ä�Ù�ê�³���^���S�¿�ñ�Ä�È��
110076645, 
address Gedimino pr. 
12, Vilnius) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

�c�������b�Y�!�����1�ë���È�����Ù�¿�Ù�â�� 
�l�³�å�Ä���ê�³���^���S�¿�ñ�Ä�È��
125277981, 
address Gedimino pr. 
12, Vilnius) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 
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Name of key 
management 

personnel 

Supervisory Council 
/ Management 

Board 
Main workplace Position 

Other entities, 
where position is 

held 
Position 

Vaida�����{�³�Ò���ë�Ù�� Management board 

AB SEB bankas (code 
112021238, 
address Gedimino pr. 
12, Vilnius) 

Head of Retail 
Banking Division 

�������b�Y�!�����+�������¾�É����
���þ�³�
�Ä�Ù�ê�³���^���S�¿�ñ�Ä�È��
110076645, 
address Gedimino pr. 
12, Vilnius) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

�c�������b�Y�!�����1�ë���È�����Ù�¿�Ù�â����
�l�³�å�Ä���ê�³���^���S�¿�ñ�Ä�È��
125277981, 
address Gedimino pr. 
12, Vilnius) 

Member of 
Supervisory Council 

Public institution 
"LIETUVOS JUNIOR 
ACHIEVEMENT" 
(code 191832513, 
�³�Ä�Ä�þ�È�����������I���+�ñ�����³�
���ñ��
g. 12-121, Vilnius) 

Member of the Board 

���Ù���³�þ�³�������Ù�Â�È�å�Ù�� Management board 

AB SEB bankas (code 
112021238, 
address Gedimino pr. 
12, Vilnius) 

Head of Business 
Support Division and 
Chief Financial 
Officer 

Association "Mentor 
Lietuva" (code 
300049687, 
address Gedimino pr. 
12, Vilnius) 

Chairman of the 
Board 

Association 
"INVESTORS' 
FORUM" (code 
224996640, 
address   Jogailos g. 
9, Vilnius) 

Member of the Board 

Public institution 
"Baltic Management 
Institute" (code 
195005151, 
address Konstitucijos 
pr. 7, Vilnius) 

Member of the Board 

Vilius Juzikis Management board 

AB SEB bankas (code 
112021238, 
address Gedimino pr. 
12, Vilnius) 

Head of Corporate 
Banking Division 

None  

Roberts Bernis Management board 

AB SEB bankas (code 
112021238, 
address Gedimino pr. 
12, Vilnius) 

Vice President of the 
Bank and Chief 
Credit Officer 

None  

14.  Social responsibility report 

For the purpose to disclose information required by social responsibility report the Group uses parent company Skandinaviska 
Enskilda Banken AB (publ) report, which covers SEB Group, i.e. parent company Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) and its 
subsidiaries (hereinafter �z SEB or SEB Group). �^�Ö�È���þ�È�û�ñ�þ�����Ä�È���¿�þ�Ù�¾�È�����Y�!���]�������
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���������ñ�þ�ã���³�ë�Ä���Ù�����¾�³���È�Ä���ñ�ë�����Ö�È���ê�ñ�������ê�³���È�þ�Ù�³�å��
�³���û�È�¿������ �ñ�Ñ�� �Y�!���]���� ���
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù������ �Ñ�þ�³�ê�È���ñ�þ�ã�I Descriptions cover procedures in relation to human rights, labour rights and social 
relations, anti-�¿�ñ�þ�þ�
�û���Ù�ñ�ë���³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È���È�ë���Ù�þ�ñ�ë�ê�È�ë�����³�ê�ñ�ë�Ò���ñ���Ö�È�þ�����Ö�Ù�ë�Ò���I���:�È�����³���û�È�¿�������ñ�Ñ���Y�!�����+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�������
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���������ñ�þ�ã�L�����
�¿�Ö���³�����þ�Ù���ã��
management, corporate governance (including sustainability governance) and staff composition, remuneration and benefits, are 
�Ù�ë�¿�å�
�Ä�È�Ä�� �Ù�ë�� �³�û�û�å�Ù�¿�³�¾�å�È�� �û�³�þ������ �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ö�È�� �U�È�û�ñ�þ���� �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ö�È�� ���Ù�þ�È�¿���ñ�þ���� �Ù�ë�� �Y�!���� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]���� ���ë�ë�
�³�å�� �U�È�û�ñ�þ���� �›�˜�š�¡�I Full version of Sustainability 
report included in the Annual Report of SEB Group for the year 2018, can be found on website subgroup.com. 

About S�!���]�����¾�
���Ù�ë�È���� 

SEB is a leading Nordic financial services group. In the Baltic countries, SEB offers financial advice and a wide range of financial 
services to corporates and private individuals. The bank strives to provide customers with services thatmeet their needs and 
preferences including long-term sustainability aspects. 
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Approach to sustainability 

As a bank, SEB is an integrated part of society. SEB aims to be a role model in sustainability and has a strong ambition to 
contribute to sustainable growth and to help customers and other stake- holders prosper. Through financing and investment 
activities, the bank strives to facilitate the transition towards sustainable solutions. The world has common challenges and SEB 
can be a driving force and thereby part of the solution. SEB aims to contribute to short-, medium- and long-term value creation 
from economic, social, governance and environmental perspectives. In the course of its business, SEB affects, both directly and 
indirectly, markets and communities and at the same time recognises the importance of responding and adapting to trends that 
impact the bank. 

SEB aims to avoid or minimise negative impact of its products and services and strives to identify business opportunities to 
create positive impact i�ë���å�Ù�ë�È�����Ù���Ö�����Ö�È���¾�³�ë�ã�]�����û�
�þ�û�ñ���È�L�����Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���³�ë�Ä�������þ�³���È�Ò���I 

�Y�
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù������ �Ù���� �Ù�ë���È�Ò�þ�³���È�Ä�� �Ù�ë�� �Y�!���]���� �¾�
���Ù�ë�È������ �³�¿���Ù���Ù���Ù�È���� ���Ö�þ�ñ�
�Ò�Ö�� ���Ö�È�� ���
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù������ �Ñ�þ�³�ê�È���ñ�þ�ã�L�� �¿�ñ�ë���Ù�����Ù�ë�Ò�� �ñ�Ñ�� ���
�¿�¿�È������ �Ñ�³�¿���ñ�þ�� and 
fundamental enablers. To get the greatest possible effect, SEB has chosen to focus on four success factors: 

- Innovation and entrepreneurship �z SEB is guided by a strong belief that entrepreneurial minds and innovative 
companies are the key to creating a better world. SEB supports innovation and entrepreneurship to drive sustainable 
economic development and contribute to creating new jobs and growth in society; 

- Sustainable financing �z SEB strives to contribute to reorienting capital flows to low-carbon and sustainable activities, to 
increase the share of positive impact financing �³�ë�Ä���û�ñ���Ù���Ù���È�å�����Ù�ê�û�³�¿�����¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ���]�����
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù�������Ñ�ñ�¿�
���N 

- Sustainable investments �z SEB aims to have a comprehensive and competitive offering with environmental, social and 
governance factors fully integrated into all investment processes; 

- Responsible and proactive advice �z �Y�!���� �È�ë�Ò�³�Ò�È���� �Ù�ë�� �
�ë�Ä�È�þ�����³�ë�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò�� �Ù������ �¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ���]�� �ë�È�È�Ä���� �³�ë�Ä�� �û�þ�È�Ñ�È�þ�È�ë�¿�È���� �Ù�ë�� ���Ö�È��
transition to a more sustainable society. This is enabled by engaged and knowledgeable employees. 

The fundamental enablers (blue boxes below) are at the core of SEB�]�����å�ñ�ë�Ò-term success. As a company in the business of trust, 
short-comings in any of these areas would limit the bank from being able to create long-term value for stakeholders. 

 
 
 

 
 

During 2018, sustainability aspects were further integrated into several �¿�ñ�þ�È���û�þ�ñ�¿�È�����È�������
�¿�Ö���³�����Y�!���]�����¾�
���Ù�ë�È�������û�å�³�ë�ë�Ù�ë�Ò���û�þ�ñ�¿�È������
���Ö�È�þ�È�����
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù�������Ö�³�����¾�È�È�ë���Ä�È�Ñ�Ù�ë�È�Ä���³�����ñ�ë�È�������þ�³���È�Ò�Ù�¿���¿�ñ�ê�û�ñ�ë�È�ë�����ñ�Ñ���Y�!���]�����¾�
���Ù�ë�È�������û�å�³�ë���›�˜�š�¢�z2021.  

Guidelines and policies 

�Y�!���]�������
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���������ñ�þ�ã���Ù�����¾�³sed on applicable laws, regulations, international agreements and initiatives. These include: 
�|  The UN Global Compact; 

�|  The UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights; 

�|  The ILO Core Conventions on Labour Standards; 

�|  The UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights; 

�|  ���Ö�Ù�å�Ä�þ�È�ë�]�����U�Ù�Ò�Ö�������³�ë�Ä�����
���Ù�ë�È�������R�þ�Ù�ë�¿�Ù�ûles; 

�|  The OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises; 

Success  
factors 

Responsible and proactive advise 

Innovation and entrepreneurship 

Sustainable financing Sustainable investments 

Fundamental  
enablers Financial 

strength and 
resilience 

Risk 
management 

Business 
ethics and 
conduct 

Cyber and 
information 
security 
and Data 
protection 

 

People 



AB SEB bankas  
 
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(all amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 

Page  17 of 126 
 
 

 

�|  UN-supported Principles for Responsible Investments (PRI); 

�|  The UN Environment Programme Finance Initiative (UNEPFI); 

�|  The Equator Principles. 

Over the years, SEB has developed various steering documents in the area of sustainability. SEB abides by the Corporate 
Sustainability Policy, the Environmental Policy, the Human Rights Policy, the Code of Conduct, the Code of Conduct for suppliers 
and the Tax Policy. SEB has three position statements (Child Labour, Climate Change and Fresh Water) and six sector policies 
(Arms and Defence, Forestry, Fossil Fuel, Mining and Metals, Renewable Energy and Shipping). These provide guidelines on best 
practice as well as on the international conventions and standards that the bank encourages companies to follow. SEB aims to 
work with customers and portfolio companies towards improved business practices. Furthermore, SEB is committed to 
international agreements such as the Paris Agreement and the UN Sustainable Development Goals and actively supports the EU 
Commission Action Plan for Financing Sustainable Growth and the Task Force for Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). 

UN sustainable development goals 

The UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) have set the global agenda for nations, businesses and societies on how to 
approach the major challenges of our time, how to achieve sustainable economic growth, social inclusion and environmental 
protection. 

�������Y�!���]�����¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ�����³�þ�È���þ�È�û�þ�È���È�ë���È�Ä���Ù�ë���³�å�å�����È�Ò�ê�È�ë�������³�ë�Ä���Ù�ë���³�����Ù�Ä�È range of sectors, the bank can add value and contribute to all 
�ñ�Ñ���c�B�]�����Y���+���L���Ä�Ù�þ�È�¿���å�����³�ë�Ä���Ù�ë�Ä�Ù�þ�È�¿���å���I���/�ñ���È���È�þ�L�����Ö�È���¾�³�ë�ã���Ö�³�����Ù�Ä�È�ë���Ù�Ñ�Ù�È�Ä���³�ë�Ä���û�þ�Ù�ñ�þ�Ù���Ù���È�����Ñ�ñ�
�þ���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���Ò�ñ�³�å�������Ö�³�����³�þ�È���¿�å�È�³�þ�å�����å�Ùnked to 
the business strategy and sustainability approach, and where the operations have a fundamental impact: 

�|  Decent work and economic growth; 

�|  Industry, innovation and infrastructure; 

�|  Climate action; 

�|  Peace, justice and strong institutions. 

In 2018, SEB continued to integrate the above SDGs into the business, and this report also visualises the connection to several 
other SDGs. 

INNOVATION AND ENTREPRENEURSHIP 

SEB was founded over 160 years ago in the service of enterprise and has since then been committed to supporting companies to 
develop and create value for society. Thriving businesses lead to growth and new jobs, as well as opportunities to solve 
environmental and societal challenges. 

In Baltic countries, SEB regularly hosts events that connect entrepreneurs and innovators with investors. 

SUSTAINABLE FINANCING 

Responsib�å�È�� �Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�ë�Ò�� �³�ë�Ä�� �å�È�ë�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò�� �³�þ�È�� �¿�ñ�þ�ë�È�þ�����ñ�ë�È���� �ñ�Ñ�� �Y�!���]���� �¾�
���Ù�ë�È�����L�� �¿�þ�È�³���Ù�ë�Ò�� �å�ñ�ë�Ò-term sustainable value for customers and 
shareholders. SEB is committed to supporting its customers in their work on transitioning to sustainable solutions. The bank 
integrates risks and opportunities related to environmental, social and governance (ESG) aspects into customer dialogues, 
�û�ñ�å�Ù�¿�Ù�È�����³�ë�Ä���û�þ�ñ�¿�È�����È���I�����¿�¿�ñ�þ�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò�����ñ���Y�!���]�������þ�È�Ä�Ù�����R�ñ�å�Ù�¿�����ñ�ë�����ñ�þ�û�ñ�þ�³���È���Y�
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù�����L�����
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù�������þ�Ù���ã�������Ö�³�å�å���¾�È���¿�ñ�ë���Ù�Ä�È�þ�Èd in all 
credit decisions, with focus on the repayment capacity of the customer, the underlying value of collateral, as well as reputational 
consequences for SEB. The aim is to identify, analyse and manage these issues, including in the areas of human rights, anti-
corruption, labour rights, social relations and environment. SEB continuously strives to further integrate sustainability into its 
business as well as into risk management and due diligence processes. The bank is convinced that increased knowledge and 
understanding among employees is crucial for success. In 2018, the bank therefore intensified this work. Through increased 
knowledge and understanding, the aim is to further integrate sustainability in due diligence processes, such as the Know-Your 
Customer process. 
 
Supporting customers 

SEB supports its customers in their efforts to reduce negative environmental impact on biodiversity and the environment. At the 
���³�ê�È�����Ù�ê�È�L���Y�!���������þ�Ù���È�������ñ���Ù�Ä�È�ë���Ù�Ñ�����ñ�û�û�ñ�þ���
�ë�Ù���Ù�È�����³�����ñ�¿�Ù�³���È�Ä�����Ù���Ö���¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ���]���³�ê�¾�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�������ñ���¿�Ö�ñ�ñ���È�����
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�å�È solutions. 

The bank does for example not provide financing for new coal- fired power plants, other than to customers committed to the use 
�ñ�Ñ�� ���È�¿�Ö�ë�ñ�å�ñ�Ò�Ù�È���� ���
�¿�Ö�� �³���� �b�¿�³�þ�¾�ñ�ë�� �¿�³�û���
�þ�È�^�L�� ���Ö�Ù�¿�Ö�� ���
�¾�����³�ë���Ù�³�å�å���� �þ�È�Ä�
�¿�È�� �Ò�þ�È�È�ë�Ö�ñ�
���È�� �Ò�³���� �È�ê�Ù�����Ù�ñ�ë���I SEB aims to support legacy 
customers in making environmentally beneficial improvements in their shift away from coal.  
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The climate change challenge and TCFD recommendations 

SEB believes that climate change is one of the most serious global challenges the world is facing. It will have significant impact 
across many sectors and the bank has an important role to ensure transparency around climate-related risks and opportunities. 
�^�Ö�È���›�˜�š�¡���þ�È�û�ñ�þ�����Ñ�þ�ñ�ê���c�ë�Ù���È�Ä���B�³���Ù�ñ�ë�]�����1�ë���È�þ�Ò�ñ���È�þ�ë�ê�È�ë���³�å���R�³�ë�È�å���ñ�ë�����å�Ù�ê�³���È�����Ö�³�ë�Ò�È���S�1�R�����T���û�ñ�Ù�ë���È�Ä�����ñ�����Ö�È���Ò�þ�ñ���Ù�ë�Ò��importance of 
nations, organisations and the business community strengthening their efforts to limit the global temperature rise to well below 
���Ö�È���›�ä�������³�þ�Ò�È���I 

Climate change governance at SEB 

In 2018, SEB endorsed the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) recommendations, a global initiative 
�³�Ù�ê�Ù�ë�Ò�� ���ñ�� �Ù�ë�¿�þ�È�³���È�� �³�ë�Ä�� �Ö�³�þ�ê�ñ�ë�Ù���È�� �¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë�Ù�È���]�� �¿�å�Ù�ê�³���È-related financial disclosure to stakeholders. Since then, the bank has 
initiated work to implement the TCFD recommendations, under the sponsorship of the Chief Risk Officer, targeting four 
cornerstones �z �Ò�ñ���È�þ�ë�³�ë�¿�È�L�������þ�³���È�Ò���L���þ�Ù���ã���ê�³�ë�³�Ò�È�ê�È�ë���L���³�������È�å�å���³�����ê�È���þ�Ù�¿�����³�ë�Ä�����³�þ�Ò�È�����I���Y�!���]�����³�ê�¾�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���Ù�������ñ���Ñ�
�þ���Ö�È�þ���Ù�ë���È�Ò�þ�³���È�����Ö�È��
climate challenge into its processes. 

The Board of Directors has adopted the Corpora���È�� �Y�
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù������ �R�ñ�å�Ù�¿���L�� ���Ö�Ù�¿�Ö�� �Ù�ë�¿�å�
�Ä�È���� �Y�!���]���� �È�ë���Ù�þ�ñ�ë�ê�È�ë���³�å�� �¿�ñ�ê�ê�Ù���ê�È�ë���I�� �^�Ö�È��
�û�þ�È���Ù�Ä�È�ë���� �Ö�³���� �³�û�û�þ�ñ���È�Ä�� ���Ö�È�� �¾�³�ë�ã�]���� �û�ñ���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�� �����³���È�ê�È�ë���� �ñ�ë�� �¿�å�Ù�ê�³���È�� �¿�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È�I�� �^�Ö�È�� ���ñ�³�þ�Ä�� �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ù�þ�È�¿���ñ�þ���� �³�å���ñ�� �ñ���È�þ���È�È���� �Y�!���]���� �þ�Ù���ã��
�ê�³�ë�³�Ò�È�ê�È�ë���� �Ñ�þ�³�ê�È���ñ�þ�ã�I�� �Y�!���a���� �Ò�ñ���È�þ�ë�³�ë�¿�È�� �³�þ�ñ�
�ë�Ä�� ���
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù��y starts with the oversight by the Board of Directors to 
operational committees in the divisions. 

Since 2018, the Group Risk Committee is the formal escalation forum for reputational and sustainability risk matters. 

One priority of the Group Sustainability function in 2018 was to further develop the key performance indicators in order to 
measure progress within sustainability. 

Climate change strategy 

To date, a number of strategic decisions have been taken as a result of the climate challenge. Examples incl�
�Ä�È���Y�!���]�����Ä�È�¿�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�����ñ��
lower its exposure to coal producers in both its credit portfolio and fund holdings. The ambition is also to grow the green loan 
portfolio consisting of assets contributing to lower carbon emissions, as well as new products such as green mortgages 
supporting energy efficient housing. Integrating sustainability in the business model, aiming to develop new sustainable products 
and services, and enhancing corporate advisory capacity to capture opportunities in a transforming energy sector are some of 
���Ö�È���Ù�ë�Ù���Ù�³���Ù���È�����Ù�ë�����Ö�È���¾�³�ë�ã�]�����¾�
���Ù�ë�È�������û�å�³�ë���›�˜�š�¢�z2021.  

Managing climate-related risk 

���å�Ù�ê�³���È���¿�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È���¿�³�ë���Ö�³���È���³�ë���Ù�ê�û�³�¿�����ñ�ë���Y�!���]�����¿�þ�È�Ä�Ù�����û�ñ�þ���Ñ�ñ�å�Ù�ñ���³�ë�Ä���Ñ�
�ë�Ä���Ö�ñ�å�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò���L���³�ë�Ä���Ù�����Ù�����Ù�ê�û�ñ�þ���³�ë�������Ö�³�������Ö�Ù�����Ù�����¿�ñ�ë���Ù�Ä�È�þ�È�Ä���Ù�ë the 
risk analysis and management. The bank has developed a methodology to capture the more long-term effects of material 
sustainability and disruption issues in the credit analysis. 

Qualitative sector analyses are being performed on the most affected industries in the transition to a low-carbon environment, 
including energy, transport and the manufacturing industries. With regards to physical risk, industries such as real estate, 
forestry and insurance are deemed to be more impacted. 

The implementation of the TCFD recommendation is a jour�ë�È���I���1�����Ù�����Y�!���]�����³�ê�¾�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�����ñ���¾�È�����È�þ���
�ë�Ä�È�þ�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È���Ù�ê�û�³�¿�����ñ�Ñ���Ä�Ù�Ñ�Ñ�È�þ�È�ë����
climate scenarios, in terms of a transition to a low-carbon environment and physical consequences of climate change, as well as 
opportunities and risks implied. This will be important for future strategic decisions and risk management. 

SEB is also investigating ways to measure the climate impact of the credit portfolio and assets under management in terms of 
carbon emissions. One initiative is the Impact Metric Tool, which SEB developed for customer use. SEB will also be liaising with 
the domestic and international financial community in the development of definitions and standards. 

Green financing 

For more than a decade, SEB has supported large corporations and financial institutions in finding sustainable financing solutions, 
���
�¿�Ö�� �³���� �Ò�þ�È�È�ë�� �¾�ñ�ë�Ä���I�� �›�˜�š�¡�� ���³���� ���Ö�È�� �š�˜���Ö�� �³�ë�ë�Ù���È�þ���³�þ���� �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ö�È�� ���ñ�þ�å�Ä�]���� �Ñ�Ù�þ������ �Ò�þ�È�È�ë�� �¾�ñ�ë�Ä�� �Ñ�ñ�þ�� �Ù�ë�����Ù���
���Ù�ñ�ë�³�å�� �Ù�ë���È�����ñ�þ���L�� �Ù�����
�È�Ä�� �¾���� ���Ö�È 
World Bank and initiated by SEB. Over the years, SEB has gradually developed its role as a global thought leader and has 
proactively contributed to setting the standard for this financing vehicle. 

�Y�!�����þ�È�¿�ñ�Ò�ë�Ù���È�������Ö�È���ë�È�È�Ä���Ñ�ñ�þ���Ñ�
�þ���Ö�È�þ���Ö�³�þ�ê�ñ�ë�Ù���Ù�ë�Ò�����Ö�È���Ò�þ�È�È�ë���¾�ñ�ë�Ä���ê�³�þ�ã�È�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�
�������
�û�û�ñ�þ���������Ö�È���!�c�����ñ�ê�ê�Ù�����Ù�ñ�ë�]�����³�¿���Ù�ñ�ë���û�å�³�ë���Ñ�ñ�þ��
sustainable finance and the ambition to create a green bond standard among other things. In 2018, SEB was the fifth largest 
�
�ë�Ä�È�þ���þ�Ù���È�þ�� �³�ë�Ä�� �Y�!���]���� �Ò�å�ñ�¾�³�å�� ���Ö�³�þ�È�� �ñ�Ñ�� �
�ë�Ä�È�þ���þ�Ù���Ù�ë�Ò�� ���³���� �œ�I� �� �û�È�þ�� �¿�È�ë���L�� �¿�ñ�þ�þ�È���û�ñ�ë�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò�� ���ñ�� �³�� ���ñ�å�
�ê�È�� �ñ�Ñ�� �c�Y���� �ž�¾�ë�� �S���ñ�
�þ�¿�È�M��
Bloomberg). 
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�Y�!���]�����ñ���ë���Ò�þ�È�È�ë���¾�ñ�ë�Ä 

�Y�!���]�����Ñ�Ù�þ�������ñ���ë���Ò�þ�È�È�ë���¾�ñ�ë�Ä���Ù�ë�����Ö�È���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�����ñ�Ñ���!�c�U���ž�˜�˜�ê�����³�����Ù�����
�È�Ä���Ù�ë���›�˜�š� �I���^�Ö�È���û�þ�ñ�¿�È�È�Ä�����³�þ�È���
���È�Ä�����ñ���Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�È���Y�!���]�����Ò�þ�È�È�ë���å�ñ�³�ë��
�û�ñ�þ���Ñ�ñ�å�Ù�ñ�L�� ���Ö�Ù�¿�Ö�� �¿�ñ�ë���Ù�������� �ñ�Ñ�� �³�����È������ �³�ë�Ä�� �û�þ�ñ�â�È�¿������ ���Ö�³���� �¿�ñ�ë���þ�Ù�¾�
���È�� ���ñ�� �å�ñ���È�þ�� �¿�³�þ�¾�ñ�ë�� �È�ê�Ù�����Ù�ñ�ë���� �³�ë�Ä�� ���
�û�û�ñ�þ���� ���Ö�È�� �c�B�]���� �Y���+���I�� �Y�!���]����
Green Bond Framework provides a clear definition of what is required for assets to be eligible for green financing. The Green 
���ñ�ë�Ä���*�þ�³�ê�È���ñ�þ�ã���³�ë�Ä�������þ�³���È�Ò���L�����ñ�Ò�È���Ö�È�þ�����Ù���Ö���Y�!���]�����!�ë���Ù�þ�ñ�ë�ê�È�ë���³�å���R�ñ�å�Ù�¿�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È���³�¿�¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë���Ù�ë�Ò�����È�¿���ñ�þ���û�ñ�å�Ù�¿�Ù�È���L���û�þ�ñ���Ù�Ä�È���³���þ�ñ�¾�
������
basis for ensuring t�Ö�³�����Y�!���]�����Ò�þ�È�È�ë���¾�ñ�ë�Ä���³�¿���Ù���Ù���Ù�È�����û�þ�ñ�ê�ñ���È 

low-�¿�³�þ�¾�ñ�ë���³�ë�Ä���¿�å�Ù�ê�³���È���¿�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È���þ�È���Ù�å�Ù�È�ë�����Ù�ë���È�����ê�È�ë�����I���1�ë���›�˜�š�¡�L���Y�!���]�����Ò�þ�È�È�ë���å�ñ�³�ë���û�ñ�þ���Ñ�ñ�å�Ù�ñ���Ù�ë�¿�þ�È�³���È�Ä���¾�����Y�!�:���œ�¾�ë�����ñ���Y�!�:���š�Ÿ�¾�ë�I���Y�!����
intends to further develop and expand sustainable financing over the next few years. 

Contributing to green and social impact 

SEB has for several years focused on financing solutions for social impact. In 2018, Fannie Mae (FNMA), the US government-
sponsored enterprise and leading provider of financing for the US housing market, engaged SEB to h�È�å�û���Ù�ë���þ�ñ�Ä�
�¿�È���*�B�A���]�����Ò�þ�È�È�ë��
bond programme to socially responsible investors in Europe. Two green bond transactions with SEB as a lead manager followed. 

�Y�!�������³�����³�å���ñ���â�ñ�Ù�ë�����å�È�³�Ä���ê�³�ë�³�Ò�È�þ���Ù�ë�����Ö�È���!�
�þ�ñ�û�È�³�ë���1�ë���È�����ê�È�ë�������³�ë�ã�]�����S�!�1���T���Ù�ë�³�
�Ò�
�þ�³�å���Y�
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�å�È�������³�þ�È�ë�È������Bond (SAB), a bond 
���Ö�³�����Ä�È�ê�ñ�ë�����þ�³���È�����!�1���]�����¿�ñ�ê�ê�Ù���ê�È�ë�������ñ�����
�û�û�ñ�þ���Ù�ë�Ò�����Ö�È���c�B���Y�
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�å�È�����È���È�å�ñ�û�ê�È�ë�����+�ñ�³�å���I���m�Ö�Ù�å�È�����Ö�È���û�þ�ñ�¿�È�È�Ä�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���Ù�ë�³�
�Ò�
�þ�³�å��
bond are used for investment in water supply, sanitation and flood protection, the SAB programme is expected to expand to 
other sectors such as health and education once detailed reporting frameworks are in place. 

Equator principles 

SEB adheres to the Equator Principles (EP) since 2007, a voluntary set of guidelines used by financial institutions to assess the 
social and environmental impact of large projects and to help their customers to manage them. A review of EP is ongoing. 

During 2018, SEB took part in the work related to the update to EP IV, which is planned to be finalised in 2019. 

In 2018, SEB had two project financing transactions under the Equator Principles, one category A (projects with potential 
significant adverse environmental and social risks and/or severe impact), one category B (projects with potential limited adverse 
environmental and social risks and/or impact that are less severe). 

SUSTAINABLE INVESTMENTS 

SEB is one of the largest institutional investors in the Nordic region with SEK 1,699bn in assets under management for private, 
corporate and institutional customers. In 2018, the assets under management for funds within SEB amounted to SEK 622bn, of 
which 100 per cent were managed according to the UN-supported Principles for Responsible Investments, PRI (one index fund 
excluded). SEB is a signatory of the PRI since 2008 and has since then reported yearly on how SEB complies with the six PRI 
�û�þ�Ù�ë�¿�Ù�û�å�È���I�� �1�ë�� �R�U�1�]���� �Ò�þ�³�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò�� �ñ�Ñ�� ���
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�å�È�� �Ù�ë���È�����ê�È�ë������ �›�˜�š�¡�L�� �Y�!���� �þ�È�¿�È�Ù���È�Ä�� �³�ë�� ���� �þ�³���Ù�ë�Ò�L�� ���Ö�Ù�¿�Ö�� �Ù���� �³�ë�� �Ù�ê�û�ñ�þ���³�ë���� �¿�ñ�ë�Ñ�Ù�þ�ê�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� �ñ�Ñ 
�Y�!���]�������ñ�þ�ã�����Ù���Ö�Ù�ë�����
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�å�È���Ù�ë���È�����ê�È�ë�����I 

SEB aims to integrate sustainability aspects into all types of investments and in all asset classes, to meet customers' 
expectations and to contribute to the development of a sustainable society. The investment strategies are based on continuous 
engagement with the companies that SEB invests in on behalf of its customers, and on including companies that perform well in 
���
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù�������ñ�þ���Ö�³���È�����È�å�å���Ä�È�Ñ�Ù�ë�È�Ä���û�å�³�ë�����Ñ�ñ�þ���³�����þ�³�ë���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�I���1�ë���³�Ä�Ä�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�L���¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë�Ù�È�������Ö�³�����Ä�ñ���ë�ñ�����³�¾�Ù�Ä�È���¾�����Y�!���]�������
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù������criteria 
are excluded. 

Inclusion of sustainable companies 

On the customers' behalf, SEB increasingly invests in businesses that actively manage the environmental, social and governance 
aspects of their operations and believes that these will be more successful over time, adding value for customers, companies and 
society. As an example, fund managers strive to identify companies that have a reduced impact on the climate, within areas such 
as carbon emissions, water use and handling of toxic waste. One of these funds is SEB Sustainability Fund Global. SEB offers 
more than 20 funds with a clear sustainability profile, and the customer demand for this category of products is increasing. 
During 2018, SEB further transitioned funds to become sustainable, meaning they adhere to the strictest sustainability criteria. 
Going forward, SEB will continue to develop products with positive impact. 

Exclusion criteria 

All SEB's mutual funds exclude companies involved in the production or marketing of controversial weapons and the 
development or production of nuclear weapons programm�È���I�� �*�
�þ���Ö�È�þ�ê�ñ�þ�È�L�� �Y�!���]���� �Ñ�
�ë�Ä���� �Ä�ñ�� �ë�ñ���� �Ù�ë���È������ �Ù�ë�� �¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë�Ù�È���� ���Ö�³���� �Ñ�³�Ù�å�� ���ñ��
respect international conventions and guidelines, such as the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the UN Global 
Compact, the ILO Core Conventions on Labour Standards and the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises. SEB does not 
invest in companies involved in thermal coal extraction, that is, mining activities in which thermal coal accounts for more than 20 
�û�È�þ���¿�È�ë�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë���]�����ñ�þ���Ò�þ�ñ�
�û�]�������
�þ�ë�ñ���È�þ�I���Y�!���]�������
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù������funds do not invest in companies that extract coal, gas or oil. 
SEB reviews the fund holdings with its adviser ISS-Ethix semi-annually.  
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Evaluation of external funds 

Mutual funds from suppliers other than SEB (external funds) are evaluated by a special fund analysis team. The sustainability 
analysis process was implemented in 2017 with a focus on analysing how fund companies integrate sustainability into their 
investment processes. 

During 2018, the sustainability analysis of all the funds in the offering continued. At year-end 2018, 46 funds out of a total of 
about 65 had been analysed and assigned a sustainability rating of A to C, where A is the highest rating. Furthermore, a number 
of A-rated external funds with strong sustainability integration have be�È�ë���³�Ä�Ä�È�Ä�����ñ�����Ö�È���ñ�Ñ�Ñ�È�þ�Ù�ë�Ò�I���Y�!���]�����³�ê�¾�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���Ù�������ñ���Ù�ë�¿�þ�È�³���È�����Ö�È��
level of sustainability in the external fund offering over time. 

All new external fund management companies are required to sign the Principles for Responsible Investments (PRI) and to 
exclude controversial weapons. At year-end 2018, 100 per cent (at year-end 2017 �z 97 per cent) of these companies had 
signed the PRI. 

Engagement for reducing carbon emissions 

SEB has been actively supported power generation companies for several years, where coal as an energy source exceeds 10 per 
cent, in finding sources of energy other than coal. The focus of the work is primarily on European power companies. Since 2017, 
SEB is also engaged, together with Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC), in t�³�þ�Ò�È���Ù�ë�Ò�����Ö�È�����ñ�þ�å�Ä�]�����š�˜�˜���å�³�þ�Ò�È������
carbon emitters in order to reduce emissions globally. In 2018, 18 per cent of these 100 companies reported their official 
support for, or had undertaken to implement, the recommendations of TCFD. 22 per cent of the companies had set or committed 
to set a science-based target for reducing their greenhouse gas emissions or equivalent long-term target beyond 2030. 

�Y�!�����Ö�³�������Ù�Ò�ë�È�Ä�����Ö�È���A�ñ�ë���þ�È�³�å�����³�þ�¾�ñ�ë���R�å�È�Ä�Ò�È���³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È�þ�È�¾�����¿�ñ�ê�ê�Ù���������ñ���³�ë�ë�
�³�å�å�����þ�È�û�ñ�þ�����ñ�ë���Ù�������Ñ�
�ë�Ä���]���¿�³�þ�¾�ñ�ë���Ñ�ñ�ñ���û�þ�Ù�ë���I���1n 2018, all of 
�Y�!���]�����È�ý�
�Ù�������Ñ�
�ë�Ä�������È�þ�È���ê�È�³���
�þ�È�Ä���³�ë�Ä���þ�È�û�ñ�þ���È�Ä���ñ�ë���Y�!���]�������È�¾- site from all three central emission areas (scope 1�z3) according 
���ñ�����Ö�È���+�þ�È�È�ë�Ö�ñ�
���È���+�³�����R�þ�ñ���ñ�¿�ñ�å�I���^�Ö�È���¿�³�å�¿�
�å�³���Ù�ñ�ë�����³�þ�È���¾�³���È�Ä���ñ�ë�����Ö�È���Y���È�Ä�Ù���Ö���1�ë���È�����ê�È�ë�����*�
�ë�Ä�����������ñ�¿�Ù�³���Ù�ñ�ë�]�����Ò�
�Ù�Ä�È�å�Ù�ë�È����for fund 
companies operating in the Swedish market. 

�Y�!�����È�ë�Ò�³�Ò�È�����Ä�Ù�þ�È�¿���å�����Ù�ë���³���Ä�Ù�³�å�ñ�Ò�
�È�����Ù���Ö���¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë�Ù�È���]���ê�³�ë�³�Ò�È�ê�È�ë�����³�ë�Ä���¾�ñ�³�þ�Ä�����ñ�Ñ���Ä�Ù�þ�È�¿���ñ�þ�����þ�È�Ò�³�þ�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò���Ö�ñ�������ñ���ê�³�ã�È���Ù�ê�û�þ�ñ���È�ê�È�ë������
in issues related to human rights, labour rights and social relations, anti-corruption and environment. As regards international 
companies, SEB collaborates with other investors as well as with partners like Hermes EOS, IIGCC, the Carbon Disclosure Project 
(CDP) and PRI Clearinghouse. 

Impact Metric Tool 

�1�ë���å�Ù�ë�È�����Ù���Ö���Y�!���]���� �¾�
���Ù�ë�È������ �����þ�³���Ègy, the bank continuously develops sustainable products and services. In 2018, SEB launched 
the Impact Metric Tool, a quantitative framework for assessing the sustainability of any customer portfolio of listed equities or 
securities. The aim is to increase the industry transparency regarding responsible investment and provide investors with 
additional information in the fund selection process, introduce new dimensions when constructing portfolios and evaluate 
investment policies. The tool can be used to def�Ù�ë�È���Ò�å�ñ�¾�³�å���¿�Ö�³�å�å�È�ë�Ò�È���� ���Ö�þ�ñ�
�Ò�Ö�����Ö�È���c�B�]���� �Y���+���I�� �1�ë���›�˜�š�¡, more than 20 customer 
portfolios were analysed and the responses from customers were positive. 

In 2019, SEB will analyse all SEB-branded funds by this tool. 

Impact investing 

SEB is one of the largest microfinance fund managers in Europe. By investing in microfinance institutions, investors can earn a 
�þ�È���
�þ�ë�����Ö�Ù�å�È���ê�³�ã�Ù�ë�Ò���³�����ñ�¿�Ù�³�å���Ù�ê�û�³�¿���I���^�Ö�þ�ñ�
�Ò�Ö�����ñ�ê�È���Ÿ�˜���ê�Ù�¿�þ�ñ�Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�È���Ù�ë�����Ù���
���Ù�ñ�ë���L���Y�!���]�����ê�Ù�¿�þ�ñ�Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�È���Ñ�
�ë�Ä�����ñ�Ñ�Ñ�È�þ���å�ñ�³�ë�������ñ���û�È�ñ�û�åe 
with lower income in developing countries, people who are often excluded from the financial market. 

In 2018, SEB broadened the impact investing offering with the SEB Impact Opportunity Fund. This fund has a broad investment 
universe of which many areas, such as energy, financial inclusion, education and agricultural development, are directly linked to 
���Ö�È�� �c�B�]���� �Y���+���I�� �^�Ö�È�� �Ñ�
�ë�Ä�� �Ö�³���� �¾�È�È�ë�� �Ä�È���È�å�ñ�û�È�Ä�� �Ù�ë�� �¿�å�ñ���È�� �¿�ñ�å�å�³�¾�ñ�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� ���Ù���Ö�� �³�� �Ñ�È���� �Ù�ë�����Ù���
���Ù�ñ�ë�³�å�� �Ù�ë���È�����ñ�þ���� �³�ë�Ä�� �Ö�³���� �ë�ñ�� ���È���� �ê�³���
�þ�Ù������
date, which allows the fund to work more long-term with selected projects. 

RESPONSIBLE AND PROACTIVE ADVICE 

For SEB, it is important to know its customers and their preferences. The bank aims to have constructive dialogues and provide 
responsible and proactive advice to customers about sustainability aspects as well as about the consequences of their activities. 
�Y�!���� �Ù���� �Ò�
�Ù�Ä�È�Ä�� �¾���� �Ò�å�ñ�¾�³�å�� �Ù�ë�Ù���Ù�³���Ù���È���L�� �Ù�ë���È�þ�ë�³���Ù�ñ�ë�³�å�� �����³�ë�Ä�³�þ�Ä���L�� �³�ë�Ä�� ���Ö�È�� �¾�³�ë�ã�]���� �Ù�ë���È�þ�ë�³�å�� �û�ñ�å�Ù�¿�Ù�È���� �³�ë�Ä�� �û�ñ���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�� �����³���È�ê�È�ë������ �Ñ�ñ�þ�ê�� �³ 
valuable base in the customer dialogues and help incorporate sustainability aspects into decision-making. 
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�1�ë���›�˜�š�¡�L���Y�!���]�����<�Ù�Ñ�È���‡���R�È�ë���Ù�ñ�ë���Ù�ë���
�þ�³�ë�¿�È���¾�
���Ù�ë�È�������¾�È�Ò�³�ë���Ä�È���È�å�ñ�û�Ù�ë�Ò�����ñ�ñ�å�������ñ���Ù�ë���È�Ò�þ�³���È�����
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù�������Ù�ë���ñ�����Ö�È���³�Ä���Ù���ñ�þ�����û�þ�ñ�¿�È����. The 
�³�Ù�ê�� �Ù���� ���ñ�� �È���û�å�ñ�þ�È�� �¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ���]�� ���
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù������ �û�þ�È�Ñ�È�þ�È�ë�¿�È���� �³�ë�Ä�� ���ñ�� �û�þ�ñ���Ù�Ä�È�� ���
�Ù���³�¾�å�È�� ���ñ�å�
���Ù�ñ�ë���I�� �1�ë�� �³�Ä�Ä�Ù���Ùon, this will help SEB under- 
stand the need for support among advisers in the organisation and help them to be proactive as national and international 
regulations evolve in this area. 

Identifying potential negative impact 

SEB strives to identify and assess areas within human rights, labour rights and social relations where the bank can potentially 
have negative impact through its business relations. Based on prioritisation, proportionality and/or leverage, findings are acted 
upon to prevent, mitigate and remediate potential impact. SEB is willing to work with customers with sustainability risk, provided 
that there is a willingness and financial capacity to implement the required corrective measures. 

SEB expects its customers to respect all Human Rights and the ILO Core Conventions on Labour Standards through appropriate 
due diligence systems. Moreover, SEB is committed to identifying and managing corruption risks in transactions. The bank 
continuously works to strengthen key processes from a sustainability perspective such as in the know-your-customer, credit 
granting and risk management processes. 

�Y�!���]�����³�û�û�þ�ñ�³�¿�Ö�����ñ�����³�� 

SEB pays taxes in accordance with applicable laws and regulations in all countries where the bank operates. SEB undertakes all 
dealings with tax authorities in a professional, transparent and timely manner, both when it comes to its own tax matters and in 
reporting obligations regarding customers. SEB does not use nor facilitate tax evasion schemes. SEB works actively with risk 
assessments, frameworks and controls in order to ensure compliance by all SEB units. The bank does not use structures lacking 
business rationale in order to avoid taxes. Neither does SEB provide products or promote structures where the sole purpose is 
tax advantages. The bank does not co-operate with external parties to facilitate tax evasion, nor to facilitate transactions, which 
SEB is unwilling to provide itself, where the sole purpose is tax advantages. During 2019, SEB is conducting a review of its tax 
policy. 

Customer privacy 

�^�Ö�È�� ���þ�
������ �ñ�Ñ�� �Y�!���]���� �¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ���� �Ù���� �¾�³���È�Ä�� �ñ�ë�� �þ�È���û�È�¿���� �Ñ�ñ�þ�� �³�ë�Ä�� �û�þ�ñ���È�¿���Ù�ñ�ë�� �ñ�Ñ�� �¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ���]�� �û�þ�Ù���³�¿���I�� �Y�!���� �Ö�³���� ���ñ�þ�ã�È�Ä�� �³�¿���Ù���È�å���� ���ñ�� �¾�È��
compliant with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), the EU reformed data protection legislation that came into force 
�Ù�ë���›�˜�š�¡���³�ë�Ä�����Ö�Ù�¿�Ö���Ö�³���������þ�È�ë�Ò���Ö�È�ë�È�Ä���Ù�ë�Ä�Ù���Ù�Ä�
�³�å���]���þ�Ù�Ò�Ö�������Ù�ë�����È�þ�ê�����ñ�Ñ���Ö�ñ�������Ö�È�Ù�þ���Ä�³���³���³�þ�È���Ö�³�ë�Ä�å�È�Ä���¾�����¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë�Ù�È���I 

SEB actively contributes to sustainable development in the EU 

�Y�!�������È�å�¿�ñ�ê�È�������Ö�È���!�
�þ�ñ�û�È�³�ë�����ñ�ê�ê�Ù�����Ù�ñ�ë�]�������¿���Ù�ñ�ë���û�å�³�ë���ñ�ë���*�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�ë�Ò���Y�
�����³�Ù�ë�³�¾�å�È���+�þ�ñ�����Ö�I The plan sets out the necessary steps 
for the financial system to contribute to sustainable development and has three main objectives: 

- reorient capital flows towards sustainable investment, in order to achieve sustainable and inclusive growth; 

- manage financial risks stemming from climate change, environmental degradation and social issues; and 

- to foster transparency and long-termism in financial and economic activity. 

Since 2018, SEB is represented in the Technical Expert Group and is one of 35 members that, in collaboration, develop an EU 
classification system, a taxonomy, create an EU green bond standard, improve the disclosure of climate-related information and 
develop a category of low-carbon indices. SEB believes that this work will be crucial for enhancing the financing of sustainable 
growth in EU. 

SUPPLIERS 

SEB has established, and maintains, procedures to evaluate and select suppliers and contractors, based on financial, 
environmental and social aspects. These aspects include human rights, labour rights and social relations, anti-corruption and are 
���³�ã�È�ë���Ù�ë���ñ���³�¿�¿�ñ�
�ë�����Ù�ë���û�þ�ñ�¿�
�þ�È�ê�È�ë�����Ä�È�¿�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�����³�å�ñ�ë�Ò�����Ù���Ö���¿�ñ�ê�ê�È�þ�¿�Ù�³�å���³���û�È�¿�����I���Y�!�����ê�ñ�ë�Ù���ñ�þ�������
�û�û�å�Ù�È�þ���]���û�þ�ñ�¿�È�����È�����³�ë�Ä���û�È�þ�Ñ�ñ�þ�ê�³�ë�¿�È��
where appropriate. During 2019 SEB will update its sustainability requirements included in the supplier agreements and review 
���Ö�È���û�þ�ñ�¿�È�������ñ�Ñ�����
�û�û�å�Ù�È�þ�����¿�þ�È�È�ë�Ù�ë�Ò�L�����Ö�Ù�¿�Ö���Ù�����å�Ù�ë�ã�È�Ä�����ñ���Y�!���]�����û�
�þ�¿�Ö�³���Ù�ë�Ò���û�þ�ñ�¿�È����. 

PEOPLE 

As an employer, SEB has a responsibility to ensure that all employees are treated equally and with respect. Everyone should be 
given the same opportunities for professional and personal development. SEB rejects all forms of discrimination and harassment, 
���Ö�È���Ö�È�þ�����Ö�Ù�����Ù�����¾�³���È�Ä���ñ�ë���³�ë���Ù�ë�Ä�Ù���Ù�Ä�
�³�å�]�����È���Ö�ë�Ù�¿���ñ�þ���ë�³���Ùonal origin, gender, skin colour, faith, citizenship, age, disability, civil status 
or sexual orientation. This is equally important in relation to customers and other stakeholders as in relation to colleagues.  
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In 2018, SEB increased its focus on inclus�Ù�ñ�ë�� �³�ë�Ä�� �Ä�Ù���È�þ���Ù������ �Ù�ë�� ���Ö�È�� �ñ�þ�Ò�³�ë�Ù���³���Ù�ñ�ë�I�� �Y�!���]���� �Ñ�Ù�þ������ �1�ë�¿�å�
���Ù�ñ�ë�� �³�ë�Ä�� ���Ù���È�þ���Ù������ �R�ñ�å�Ù�¿���� ���³����
adopted by the Board in 2018. A governance structure was established, which includes a steering group with members from the 
Group Executive Committee and divisional management, as well as an appointed Chief Inclusion & Diversity Officer. Moreover, an 
�1�ë�¿�å�
���Ù�ñ�ë�� �³�ë�Ä�� ���Ù���È�þ���Ù������ �1�ë�Ä�È���� ���³���� �¿�þ�È�³���È�Ä�� �³�ë�Ä�� �Ù�ë���È�Ò�þ�³���È�Ä���Ù�ë���ñ���Y�!���]���� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È�� ���
�þ���È���I�� �1�ë�� �³�Ä�Ä�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�� ���ñ�� �È�ê�û�Ö�³���Ù���� �ñ�ë�� �Ò�È�ë�Ä�È�þ�L�� �³�Ò�È�L��
professional background and geographical provenance, special attention has been put on issues concerning sexual harassments 
where processes for raising concerns are established. Unethical or unlawful behaviours can be reported via both external and 
internal whistleblowing channels. 

A safe and sound work e�ë���Ù�þ�ñ�ë�ê�È�ë�����¿�ñ�ê�¾�Ù�ë�È�Ä�����Ù���Ö���Ò�ñ�ñ�Ä���Ö�È�³�å���Ö���³�ë�Ä�����ñ�þ�ã�Y�å�Ù�Ñ�È���¾�³�å�³�ë�¿�È���Ñ�ñ�þ�ê�����Ö�È���Ñ�ñ�
�ë�Ä�³���Ù�ñ�ë���Ñ�ñ�þ���Y�!���]�����È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È���]��
�û�È�þ�Ñ�ñ�þ�ê�³�ë�¿�È�� �³�ë�Ä�� �â�ñ�¾�� ���³���Ù���Ñ�³�¿���Ù�ñ�ë�I�� ���å�å�� �ñ�Ñ�� �Y�!���]���� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È���� �³�þ�È�� �¿�ñ���È�þ�È�Ä�� �¾���� �¿�ñ�å�å�È�¿���Ù���È�� �ñ�þ�� �å�ñ�¿�³�å�� �³�Ò�þ�È�È�ê�È�ë������ �ñ�þ�� �å�³�¾�ñ�
�þ�� �å�³���I�� ����
continuous dialogue is carried on with employees, employee representatives and with trade unions. SEB has had a European 
Works Council (EWC) since 2003. 

ENVIRONMENT, DIRECT IMPACT 

SEB works to reduce its direct environmental impact, while its greatest environmental impact is indirect. SEB has set a goal to 
reduce its total carbon emissions by 20 per cent from 2016 to 2020. In 2018, SEB reduced carbon emissions by approx. 2.5 per 
cent, where, among other things, reduced office space contributed to lower energy consumption. Emissions from business travel 
increased by about 5 percent. Going forward, SEB will further focus on reducing emissions related to travel. In 2018, SEB 
updated the emission factors for the calculation of conversion from MWh to tonne. This resulted in the figures for carbon 
emissions being recalculated, and the target has been adjusted, from 17,000 tonnes to 18,500 tonnes. 

TARGETS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS RELATED TO SUSTAINABILITY 

�Y�!���]�����¾�
���Ù�ë�È�������û�å�³�ë���›�˜�š�¢�z2021 includes strengthened focus on sustainability. SEB will start to classify and gradually transform 
its credit and investment portfolios. This will be underpinned by increased transparency and disclosures of progress. Metrics and 
targets will continuously be developed and aligned with future national and international requirements and expectations. 

 

Area 

 

Description Result 2018 Result 2017 

Target 2019 - 
2021  

Innovation Create sustainable finance innovation centre to develop and 
launch new sustainable products and services 

Decided  Establish (2019) 

Sustainable 
finance 

�x Green loan portfolio 

 

SEK 16bn 

 

SEK 13,2bn 

 

Increase 
 

 

�x Green mortgages Launched 
  

Establish baseline 
(2019), increase 
 

�x Green bond issuance, ranking in the Nordic countries (1) 1 1 Keep 

�x Gradually shift credit portfolio towards increased 
sustainable financing 

 
 

 
 

Classify and set 
targets (2019)  
 

Sustainable 
investment 

�x Total Assets under Management (AuM) managed 
with sustainability criteria 

11% (2)  8% (2)  Increase 

�x SEB funds managed with sustainability criteria, share of 
AuM 

30%  25%  Increase 

�x SEB funds managed with human rights criteria, share of 
AuM 

 

100%  100%  Keep 

�x SEB impact and thematic funds (3), total AuM SEK 8bn  Increase 
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Note 2018

2017 
Reclassified 
(Note 37) 2018

2017 
Reclassified 
(Note 37)

Interest income 3 129,420                 119,523                 129,562                 119,643                 
out of this interest income at effective interest 
rate 113,259                105,105                113,401                105,224                

Interest expenses 3 (12,269)                  (20,486)                  (12,264)                  (20,486)                  
Net interest income                   117,151                       99,037                   117,298                       99,157 

Fee and commission income 4 96,039                    87,477                    91,606                    83,591                    
Fee and commission expenses 4 (28,878)                  (23,088)                  (28,380)                  (22,566)                  
Net fee and commission income 67,161                    64,389                    63,226                    61,025                    

Net financial income 5                       17,285                       14,601                       17,285                       14,601 
Gains less losses from investment securities -                              (1,394)                      -                              (444)                          
Dividends 6 -                                                                   -   -                                                        1,680 
Other operating income                           2,763                           1,258                           2,937                           1,458 
Net other income                          2,763                            (136)                         2,937                          2,694 
Total operating income 204,360                177,891                200,746                177,477                

Personnel expenses 7 (43,180)                  (39,808)                  (42,732)                  (39,342)                  
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of 
tangible and intangible assets 18, 19, 20 (5,655)                      (5,911)                      (5,638)                      (5,892)                      
Other expenses 8 (30,807)                  (30,014)                  (30,357)                  (29,595)                  
Total operating expenses (79,642)                  (75,733)                  (78,727)                  (74,829)                  

Profit before credit losses 124,718                102,158                122,019                102,648                

Net expected credit losses 9 (698)                          -                              (698)                          -                              
Impairment losses on loans and advances 9 -                              6,976                        -                              6,976                        
Profit before income tax 124,020                109,134                121,321                109,624                

Income tax expense 10 (18,182)                  (16,096)                  (17,775)                  (15,950)                  
Net profit for the year                   105,838                       93,038                   103,546                       93,674 

The Group The Bank
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Note 2018 2017 2018 2017

Net profit for the year 105,838                93,038                    103,546                93,674                    
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to the 
income  statement:
Net gain (realised result) on available for sale 
assets 28 -                              1,248                        -                              1,249                        
Income tax relating to the components of other 
comprehensive income 28 -                              (187)                          -                              (187)                          
Items that will not be reclassified to the income  
statement -                              -                              -                              -                              
Other comprehensive income for the year -                              1,061                       -                              1,062                       

Total comprehensive income for the year 105,838                94,099                    103,546                94,736                    

The Group The Bank
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Note

2018

2017 
Reclassified 
(Note 37)

2016 
Reclassified 
(Note 37) 2018

2017 
Reclassified 
(Note 37)

2016 
Reclassified 
(Note 37)

Assets
Cash and balances with central 
bank 11 979,355                 1,223,894            179,313                 979,355                 1,223,894            179,313                 
Loans and advances to credit 
institutions 12, 13 127,062                 221,046                 1,399,102            127,062                 221,046                 1,399,102            
Loans to the public 13 6,280,419            5,739,091            5,339,408            6,280,452            5,739,133            5,339,459            
Debt securities 14 335,806                 394,998                 381,933                 335,632                 394,822                 378,014                 
Derivatives 15 64,741                    47,549                    124,735                 64,741                    47,549                    124,735                 
Equity instruments 16 6,914                        4,143                        3,268                        6,914                        4,143                        3,268                        
Investments in subsidiaries 17 -                              -                              -                              2,871                        2,871                        10,111                    
Intangible assets 18 6,557                        4,646                        6,641                        6,557                        4,646                        6,641                        
Property, plant and equipment 19 9,733                        7,953                        7,615                        9,686                        7,892                        7,520                        
Investment property 20 1,071                        2,015                        3,205                        1,071                        2,015                        3,205                        
Deferred income tax assets 10 2,045                        11,004                    24,927                    2,035                        10,996                    24,787                    
Other financial assets 21 32,727                    53,202                    38,511                    33,703                    54,091                    39,338                    
Other non-financial assets 22 10,193                    8,100                        9,281                        9,461                        7,406                        8,591                        

Total assets 7,856,623           7,717,641           7,517,939           7,859,540           7,720,504           7,524,084           

Liabilities
Deposits from central banks and 
credit institutions 23 673,399                 1,398,638            1,370,839            673,399                 1,398,638            1,370,839            
Deposits and borrowings from the 
public 24               6,282,077 5,411,527                          5,152,334               6,289,807 5,416,837                          5,161,752 
Derivatives 15 64,163                    45,249                    122,031                 64,163                    45,249                    122,031                 
Current income tax liabilities 10 5,130                        1,187                        4,316                        5,057                        1,147                        4,292                        
Deferred income tax liabilities 10 -                              -                              202                            -                              -                              -                              
Debt securities issued -                              526                            8,048                        -                              526                            8,048                        
Provisions 25 10,273                    10,300                    12,237                    10,273                    10,300                    12,237                    
Other financial liabilities 26 29,787                    61,963                    30,752                    29,787                    61,963                    30,752                    
Other non-financial liabilities 27 20,039                    20,677                    21,121                    19,762                    20,440                    20,881                    
Total liabilities 7,084,868           6,950,067           6,721,880           7,092,248           6,955,100           6,730,832           

Equity 28

Share capital 299,564                 299,564                 299,564                 299,564                 299,564                 299,564                 
Other reserves 176,030                 161,686                 143,712                 175,743                 161,399                 143,043                 
Retained earnings                    296,161 306,324                                    352,783                    291,985                    304,441                    350,645 
Total equity 771,755                767,574                796,059                767,292                765,404                793,252                

Total liabilities and equity 7,856,623           7,717,641           7,517,939           7,859,540           7,720,504           7,524,084           
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The Group Note
Share 
capital Reserve capital

Financial assets 
revaluation 

reserve Legal reserve
General and 

other reserves
Retained 
earnings Total Equity

Balance at 1 January 2017 299,564                637                            36                                139,535                3,504                       352,783                796,059                
Other comprehensive income 28 -                             -                             1,061                       -                             -                             -                             1,061                       
Profit for the year -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             93,038                   93,038                   
Total comprehensive income -                              -                              1,061                        -                              -                              93,038                    94,099                    

Share-based compensation -                              -                              -                              -                              562                            -                              562                            
Realisation of share-based compensation (800)                          800                            -                              
Transfers to reserves -                              -                              -                              17,532                    -                              (17,532)                  -                              
Dividends to shareholders -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              (123,146)               (123,146)               
Liquidation of subsidiary -                              -                              -                              (381)                          -                              381                            -                              

Balance at 31 December 2017 299,564                637                            1,097                       156,686                3,266                       306,324                767,574                

Balance at 1 January 2018 299,564                637                            1,097                       156,686                3,266                       306,324                767,574                
Effect of applying IFRS 9 -                              -                              (1,097)                      -                              -                              6,697                        5,600                        
Restated balance at 1 January 2018 299,564                637                            -                              156,686                3,266                       313,021                773,174                
Other comprehensive income -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             
Profit for the year -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             105,838                105,838                
Total comprehensive income -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              105,838                 105,838                 

Share-based compensation -                              -                              -                              -                              781                            -                              781                            
Realisation of share-based compensation -                              -                              -                              -                              (562)                          562                            -                              
Transfers to reserves -                              -                              -                              15,222                    -                              (15,222)                  -                              
Dividends to shareholders -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              (108,038)               (108,038)               

Balance at 31 December 2018 299,564                637                            -                              171,908                3,485                       296,161                771,755                

Other reserves
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The Bank Note
Share 
capital Reserve capital

Financial assets 
revaluation 

reserve Legal reserve
General and 

other reserves
Retained 
earnings Total Equity

Balance at 1 January 2017 299,564                637                            34                                138,868                3,504                       350,645                793,252                
Other comprehensive income 28 -                             -                             1,062                       -                             -                             -                             1,062                       
Profit for the year -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             93,674                   93,674                   
Total comprehensive income -                              -                              1,062                        -                              -                              93,674                    94,736                    

Share-based compensation -                             -                             -                              -                              562                            -                              562                           
Realisation of share-based compensation -                             -                             -                              -                              (800)                          800                            -                             
Transfers to reserves -                              -                             -                              17,532                    -                              (17,532)                  -                              
Dividends to shareholders -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              (123,146)               (123,146)               

Balance at 31 December 2017                   299,564                               637                          1,096                   156,400                          3,266                   304,441                   765,404 

Balance at 1 January 2018 299,564                637                            1,096                       156,400                3,266                       304,441                765,404                
Effect of applying IFRS 9 2 -                              -                              (1,096)                      -                              -                              6,696                        5,600                        
Restated balance at 1 January 2018 299,564                637                            -                              156,400                3,266                       311,137                771,004                
Other comprehensive income -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             
Profit for the year -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             103,546                103,546                
Total comprehensive income -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              103,546                 103,546                 

Share-based compensation -                              -                             -                             -                             780                            -                              780                            
Realisation of share-based compensation -                              -                             -                             -                             (562)                          562                            -                              
Transfers to reserves -                              -                              -                              15,222                    -                              (15,222)                  -                              
Dividends to shareholders -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              (108,038)               (108,038)               

Balance at 31 December 2018                   299,564                               637                                      -                     171,622                          3,484                   291,985                   767,292 

Other reserves
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Note 2018

2017 
Reclassified 

(note 37) 2018

2017 
Reclassified 

(note 37)

Cash from operating activities
Interest income received 135,149                 115,413                 135,291                 115,534                 
Interest expenses paid (11,795)                  (22,814)                  (11,790)                  (22,814)                  
Net foreign currency exchange gain 14,898                    11,133                    14,898                    11,133                    
Net gain in securities trading and financial
  instruments (2,013)                      2,851                        (2,015)                      2,851                        

Net gain in derivatives trading 5,761                        404                            5,761                        404                            
Net fee and commission income 70,060                    65,766                    66,299                    62,602                    
Personnel expenses (42,585)                  (39,030)                  (42,137)                  (38,564)                  
Other payments (68,428)                  (21,213)                  (67,979)                  (20,847)                  
Net cash from operating activities before 
  change in operating assets and liabilities 101,047                112,509                98,328                    110,298                

 
Changes in operating assets
Decrease (increase) in compulsory balances  
  with the Central Bank 2,955                        (5,210)                      2,955                        (5,210)                      
(Increase) decrease in loans and advances to credit 
institutions (9,966)                      6,402                        (9,966)                      6,402                        
(Increase) in loans to the public (534,503)               (392,270)               (534,494)               (392,261)               
Decrease (Increase) in other financial and non-
financial assets 8,492                        (15,980)                  8,852                        (15,822)                  
Net change in operating assets (533,022)              (407,058)              (532,653)              (406,891)              

Changes in operating liabilities
Increase in deposits and borrowings from the public 870,405                 259,735                 872,825                 255,627                 
Increase in other liabilities 9,478                        34,425                    9,029                        34,247                    
Net change in operating liabilities 879,883                294,160                881,854                289,874                

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities 
  before income tax 447,907                (388)                          447,528                (6,718)                     

Income tax paid (6,269)                      (5,657)                      (5,893)                      (5,492)                      

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities after 
  income tax 441,638                (6,045)                     441,635                (12,210)                  

The Group The Bank
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Note 2018

2017 
Reclassified 

(note 37) 2018

2017 
Reclassified 

(note 37)

Cash flow (used in)/from investing activities
Acquisition of tangible and intangible fixed 
  assets, net (9,824)                      (4,990)                      (9,821)                      (4,990)                      
Sale of Government securities 
  available for sale -                              731                            -                              728                            

Cash flow on liquidation of subsidiary 17 -                              -                              -                              6,796                        
Dividends received from subsidiaries 6 -                              -                              -                              1,680                        
Acquisition of debt securities (590,538)               (683,379)               (590,538)               (683,379)               
Sale of debt securities 647,322                 661,776                 647,322                 659,468                 

Cash (used in)/from investing activities 46,960                    (25,863)                  46,963                    (19,698)                  

Cash flow (used in)/from financing activities
Dividends paid to the shareholder (108,038)               (123,146)               (108,038)               (123,146)               
Increase (decrease) in amounts owed to the 
  Central Bank 36 2                                   (5)                                 2                                   (5)                                 
(Decrease) increase in deposits from
  credit institutions 36 (725,568)               30,236                    (725,568)               30,236                    
Repurchased own issued debt securities 36 (499)                          (6,866)                      (499)                          (6,866)                      
Interest paid for own issued debt securities 36 (29)                              (594)                          (29)                              (594)                          
Cash (used in)/from financing activities (834,132)              (100,375)              (834,132)              (100,375)              

Net (decrease)/increase in cash/cash equivalents (345,534)              (132,283)              (345,534)              (132,283)              

Cash/cash equivalents 1 January 1,379,860           1,512,143           1,379,860           1,512,143           

Cash/cash equivalents 31 December 1,034,326           1,379,860           1,034,326           1,379,860           

Specified as follows:

Balance available for withdrawal with the Central 
Bank 11 785,733                 1,041,167            785,733                 1,041,167            
Overnight deposits 12 -                              140,432                 -                              140,432                 
Cash on hand 11 132,678                 118,828                 132,678                 118,828                 
Current accounts with other banks 12 115,915                 79,433                    115,915                 79,433                    

1,034,326           1,379,860           1,034,326           1,379,860           

The BankThe Group
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

AB SEB bankas (the Bank) is a joint-stock company registered in the Enterprise Register of the Republic of Lithuania, 
Gedimino ave. 12, Vilnius. The Bank is registered with registration number 112021238. The Bank and its subsidiaries (the Group) 
are engaged in banking and financial services business. As of 31 December 2018, the Bank holds investments in the following 
subsidiaries:  

 

The sole shareholder of the Bank is Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) (SEB Group), who is also the ultimate controlling 
party, registered in Sweden.           

These consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been approved by the 
Management Board on 12 March 2019 and are subject to approval by the shareholder.       

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1.1 Statement of compliance 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), adopted in the European Union. 

1.2 Basis of preparation 

These financial statements are prepared on historical cost basis, except for the certain financial assets and liabilities (including 
derivative instruments) measured at fair value. The accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2018 are consistent with those used in the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2017 , apart from the accounting policy changes resulting from the adaption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 that are effective from 1 
January 2018.  

The financial statements are presented in thousands of euro, unless otherwise stated. 

1.3 Consolidation 

�1�ë���È�����ê�È�ë�������Ù�ë�����
�¾���Ù�Ä�Ù�³�þ�Ù�È�����Ù�ë�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�� standalone financial statements are accounted for using the cost method less impairment 
and are initially recognized at cost. 

These financial statements combine the financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiary. 

Subsidiaries are companies, over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement and has the ability to use its power to affect the amount of the returns. Control is deemed to 
exist when the parent company (i) has power to direct relevant activities of the investee that significantly affect their returns, 
(ii)  has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investees, and (iii) has the ability to use its power over 
the in���È�����È�È�������ñ���³�Ñ�Ñ�È�¿�������Ö�È���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�����ñ�Ñ���Ù�ë���È�����ñ�þ�]�����þ�È���
�þ�ë���I 

The financial statements of the parent company and the consolidated subsidiaries refer to the same period and have been drawn 
up according to the accounting policies applicable to the Group. A subsidiary is included in the consolidated accounts from the time 
of acquisition, being the date when the parent company gains control over the subsidiary. The subsidiary is included in the 
consolidated accounts until the date when control over the company ceases to exist. 

The consolidated accounts are prepared in accordance with the acquisition method. The acquisition value is measured as the fair 
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed. 

The identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values on acquisition date, irrespective of any minority interest. Intra-group transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 

Company name
Registry 

code Address Activity

�c�������Y�!�����1�ë���È�����Ù�¿�Ù�â�������³�å�Ä���ê�³��125277981 Gedimino ave. 12, Vilnius
Provision of investment's 

management services
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.4 Foreign currency translation 

The functional and presentation currency of the parent company and subsidiaries is Euro. Foreign currency transactions are 
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates of the European Central Bank prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. On subsequent balance sheet dates monetary items in foreign currency are translated using the closing rate. Non-
monetary items, which are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency, are translated using the exchange rate on the 
date of the transaction. Non-monetary items, which are measured at fair value in a foreign currency, are translated applying the 
exchange rate of the European Central Bank on the date on which the fair value is determined. 

Gains and losses arising as a result of exchange rate differences on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in 
profit or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary items, classified as financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, are included in the change in fair value of those items. 

1.5 Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of presentation in the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand, overnight deposits, 
correspondent accounts with the Central Banks and correspondent accounts with other banks, which are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

1.6 Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when the Group and the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument and are measured at fair value on initial recognition. Transaction costs are included in the fair value on initial 
recognition except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, where transaction costs are expensed in profit or loss. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired, the Group and the Bank have transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards and upon substantial modification. Financial assets at fair value are recognised on the balance 
sheet on trade date. Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on settlement date. 

The Group and the Bank classifies and subsequently measures its financial assets in the following categories: 

- �Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���Ù�ë�����þ�
�ê�È�ë�������³�����Ñ�³�Ù�þ�����³�å�
�È�����Ö�þ�ñ�
�Ò�Ö���û�þ�ñ�Ñ�Ù�����ñ�þ���å�ñ�������S�a�*�l�R�<�]�T�N�� 

- �³�ê�ñ�þ���Ù���È�Ä���¿�ñ�������S�a�����]�T�I�� 

The classification will depend on if the financial asset is a debt instrument, an equity instrument or a derivative. 

1.6.1 Debt instruments (loans and debt securities) 

The classification is based on a combination of assessing the business model for managing the financial assets and whether the 
�¿�ñ�ë���þ�³�¿���
�³�å���¿�³���Ö���Ñ�å�ñ�����¿�Ö�³�þ�³�¿���È�þ�Ù�����Ù�¿�����¿�ñ�ë���Ù�������ñ�Ñ�����ñ�å�È�å�����û�³���ê�È�ë�������ñ�Ñ���û�þ�Ù�ë�¿�Ù�û�³�å���³�ë�Ä���Ù�ë���È�þ�È�������S�a�Y�R�R�1�]�T�I���^�Ö�È���¾�
���Ù�ë�È��s model assessment 
is performed for homogenous portfolios identified based on how the business is managed in the divisions of the Group and the 
Bank. The assessment is based on reasonable scenarios taking into consideration how the portfolio is evaluated and reported to 
management; the risks affecting the performance of the portfolio and how these risks are managed; how managers are 
compensated; and the frequency, value and timing of sales including the reasons for the sales. In determining if the cash flows 
consist solely of principal and interest, the principal is defined as the fair value of the debt instrument at initial recognition, which 
can change over the life if there are repayments or capitalisation of interest. Interest cash flows are consistent with components 
per a basic lending arrangement including consideration for time value of money, credit risk, liquidity risk as well as administrative 
costs and profit margin. If there are contractual features introducing an exposure to other risks or volatility, it is not considered to 
consist of solely payments of principal and interest. Debt instruments are presented in the statement of financial position items: 
Cash and cash balances with central bank, Loans to credit institutions, Loans to the public and Debt securities, and include 
instruments in the following measurement categories. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.6 Financial assets (continued) 

1.6.1 Debt instruments (continued) 

Fair value through profit or loss: Debt instruments are classified in this category if not meeting the criteria for amortised cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income. This is the case if the business model is held for trading; where financial assets are 
considered held for trading if they are held with the intention to be sold in the short-term and for the purpose of generating profits. 
Debt instruments are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss if the assets are managed and evaluated on a fair 
value basis or the assets are held with an intention to sell alternatively if the cash flows do not consist of solely payments of 
principal and interest. Debt instruments that would otherwise be classified as fair value through other comprehensive income or 
amortised cost are also included in this category if, upon initial recognition, designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value 
option). The fair value option can be applied only in situations where such designation reduces measurement inconsistencies. 

Amortised cost: Debt instruments are classified in this category if both of the following criteria are met: 

(a) the business model objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and  

(b) the contractual cash flow characteristics consist of solely payments of principal and interest. The gross carrying amount of 
these assets is measured using the effective interest method and adjusted for expected credit losses. 

1.6.2 Equity instruments 

Equity instruments are per default classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. An irrevocable election can be 
made on initial recognition to classify equity instruments (not held for trading) at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

1.6.3 Derivatives 

Derivatives are classified as fair value through profit or loss (held for trading) unless designated as hedging instruments. If 
designated as hedging instruments, the principles for hedge accounting are applied. 

1.6.4 Modification 

The Group and the Bank may renegotiate loans and modify contractual terms. If the new terms are substantially different from the 
original terms, the Group and the Bank derecognizes the original financial asset and recognises a new asset. The Group and the 
Bank also assesses whether the new financial asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. If the terms are not substantially 
different, the modification does not result in derecognition and the Group and the Bank recalculates the gross carrying amount 
based on the new cash flows using the original effective interest rate of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or 
loss. 

1.6.5 Reclassification 

In rare circumstances debt instruments (financial assets) excluding those designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial 
recognition, can be reclassified if there has been a change in the business model for managing the financial asset. 

1.6.6 Write-off  

The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it is unlikely to collect debt from the borrower and it cannot be 
recovered from a sale of collateral. Write-offs constitute derecognition event and shall include amounts caused both by reductions 
of the carrying amount of financial assets recognised directly in profit or loss as well as reductions in the amounts of the allowance 
accounts for credit losses taken against the carrying amount of financial assets. 

The Group may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The outstanding contractual amounts of 
such assets written off during the year ended 31 December 2018 was EUR 2,433 thousand. The Group still seeks to recover 
amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no reasonable expectation on full recovery. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.7 Financial guarantees 

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group and the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a 
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 
Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value, which most often equals the premium received. The initial 
fair value is amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. The guarantee liability is subsequently carried at the higher of this 
amortised amount and the best estimate of the expenditure required settling any financial obligation arising as a result of the 
guarantee at the balance sheet date. Provisions and changes in provisions are recognised in the income statement as Net credit 
losses. The contractual amounts according to financial guarantees are not recognised in the statement of financial position but 
disclosed as obligations. 

1.8 Expected credit loss 

1.8.1 Measurement 

The impairment requirements are based on an expected credit loss (ECL) model. The guiding principle of the ECL model is to reflect 
the general pattern of deterioration or improvement in the credit quality of financial instruments. All financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, as well as lease receivables, financial guarantees contracts and certain loan commitments are in scope for 
expected credit loss. 

ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised cost and lease receivables are presented as allowances, i.e., as an integral part of 
the measurement of those assets in the statement of financial position. The allowance reduces the gross carrying amount. ECLs on 
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts are presented as provisions, i.e., as a liability, in the statement of financial 
position. Adjustment to the loss allowance and provision due to changes in ECLs is recognised in the income statement as Net 
expected credit losses. 

The assessment of credit risk, and the estimation of ECL, has to be unbiased and probability-weighted, and shall incorporate all 
available information, which is relevant to the assessment, including information about past events, current conditions and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions at the reporting date. SEB Group uses both models 
and expert credit judgement (ECJ) for calculating ECLs. 

The ECL model has a three-stage approach based on changes in the credit risk. A 12-month ECL (Stage 1) applies to all items, 
unless there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. For items where there is a significant increase in credit 
risk (Stage 2) or in default (Stage 3), lifetime ECL applies. 

1.8.2 Significant increase in credit risk 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group and the Bank perform an assessment of whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. The assessment of whether there has been a significant change in credit risk is based on 
quantitative and qualitative indicators. Both historic and forward-looking information is used in the assessment. 

For arrangements with an initial origination date as of 1 January 2018 or later, the primary indicator is changes in lifetime 
probability of default (PD) by comparing the scenario-weighted annualised lifetime PD at the reporting date with the scenario-
weighted annualised lifetime PD at initial recognition. For arrangements with an initial origination date prior to 1 January 2018,  
�¿�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È�����Ù�ë���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����³�ë�ã�]�����Ù�ë���È�þ�ë�³�å���þ�Ù���ã���¿�å�³�����Ù�Ñ�Ù�¿�³���Ù�ñ�ë�������Ù�ë�¿�È���Ù�ë�Ù���Ù�³�å���ñ�þ�Ù�Ò�Ù�ë�³���Ù�ñ�ë���³�þ�È���
���È�Ä���³�������Ö�È���û�þ�Ù�ê�³�þ�����Ù�ë�Ä�Ù�¿�³���ñ�þ�I 

Regardless of the quantitative indicator, a significant increase in credit risk is triggered if the following backstop indicators occur: 

-  payments are past due >30 days but <90 days; or 
-  financial assets have been classified as watch-listed; or  
- financial assets are forborne (where �Ä�
�È�����ñ�����Ö�È���¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ�]�����Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���Ä�Ù�Ñ�Ñ�Ù�¿�
�å���Ù�È�������Ö�È���¿�ñ�ë���þ�³�¿���
�³�å�����È�þ�ê�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���å�ñ�³�ë�����Ö�³���È��

been revised and concessions given). 

Backstop indicators normally overlap with the quantitative indicator of significant increase in credit risk. 

In case there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an allowance for lifetime ECL shall be recognised 
and the financial instrument is transferred to Stage 2. The approach is symmetrical, meaning that in subsequent reporting periods, 
if the credit quality of the financial instrument improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, the financial assets move back to Stage 1. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.8 Expected credit loss (continued) 

1.8.2 Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 

If credit quality of financial instrument deteriorates further, the financial instrument is transferred to Stage 3. Transfer to Stage 3 
is triggered if the following indications occur: 

- Payments are past due more than 90 days; 

- Financial instrument is in default (PD = 100%).  

1.8.3 Definition of default 

Financial instruments in default are in Stage 3. The Group and the Bank apply a definition of default for accounting purposes that 
is consistent with how it is defined in the Capital requirements regulation No 575/2013 , which includes financial assets past due 
more than 90 days. All financial assets in Stage 3 are considered credit-impaired. 

1.8.4 Modelling 

The ECL is calculated as a function of the probability of default (PD), the exposure at default (EAD) and the loss given default 
�S�<�+���T�L���³�������È�å�å���³�������Ö�È�����Ù�ê�Ù�ë�Ò���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���å�ñ�����I���^�Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����1�*�U�Y���¢���ê�È���Ö�ñ�Ä�ñ�å�ñ�Ò�����Ñ�ñ�þ���!���<���ê�È�³���
�þ�È�ê�È�ë�����Ù�����¾�³���È�Ä���ñ�ë���È���Ù����ing 
internal rating-based risk models (IRB) to the extent allowed under IFRS 9. As the objectives of these frameworks differ, the 
manner in which the expected credit losses are calculated also differs and appropriate adjustments are made to the IRB 
parameters to meet IFRS 9 requirements. Adjustments include the conversion of through-the-cycle and downturn parameters 
used in IRB risk models to point-in-time parameters used under IFRS 9 that considers forward-looking information. 

PD represents the likelihood that a loan will not be repaid and will go into default in either a 12-month or a lifetime horizon. The 
expected PD for each individual instrument incorporates a consideration of past events, current market conditions and reasonable 
and supportable information about future economic conditions. The Group and the Bank use IFRS 9 specific PD models. The models 
are calibrated based on a combination of geography, assets class and product type. EAD represents an estimate of the outstanding 
amount of credit exposure at the time a default may occur. For off-balance sheet amounts, EAD includes an estimate of any further 
amounts to be drawn at the time of default. For IFRS 9, EAD models are adjusted for a 12-month or lifetime horizon. LGD is the 
amount that may not be recovered in the event of default. LGD takes into consideration the amount and quality of any collateral 
held as well as the probability of cure, whereby the borrower repays all his past due obligations on the defaulted loan and 
recommences contractual repayments. The Group and the Bank use existing LGD models adjusted to meet IFRS 9 requirements. 

When measuring ECL, the Group and the Bank use the maximum contractual period during which the Group and the Bank is exposed 
to risk. All contractual terms are considered when determining the expected life, including prepayment options and extension and 
rollover options. For revolving facilities, such as credit cards, and retail mortgage facilities the expected life is modelled based on 
historical behaviour. The residual behavioural expected life for such facilities is based on historically observed survival curve and 
it is affected by the time since origination of the arrangement. 

1.8.5 Forward-looking information 

The SEB Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-looking information incorporated 
in the ECL measurement. In order to ensure an unbiased estimation of credit losses under IFRS 9, at least three scenarios are used. 
One of the scenarios is the base case scenario, representing the most likely outcome, which is also applied in the financial planning 
and budgeting process, while other case scenarios represent more positive or negative outcomes. 

The forward-looking scenarios are prepared by SEB Group Economic Research Department. The scenarios are approved by the 
SEB Group Risk Committee. 

A scenario consists of a qualitative description of the macroeconomic development and a quantitative part, with forecasts of key 
macroeconomic variables for three subsequent years, as well as the likelihood of occurrence (scenario- weight). The scenarios are 
reviewed and updated on a quarterly basis. In case of significant changes in the macroeconomic environment and outlook, the 
scenarios will be updated more frequently. The base scenario variables are benchmarked to various external sources of similar 
forward-looking scenarios, e.g. from OECD, IMF, EU and National Statistics Offices. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.8 Expected credit loss (continued) 

1.8.6 Expert credit judgement 

The Group and the Bank use both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) in order to determine ECLs. The degree of judgement 
that is required to estimate ECL depends on the model outcome, materiality and the availability of detailed information. The model 
provides guidance and transparency as to how economic events could affect the impairment of financial assets. ECJ may be 
applied to the modelled outcome to incorporate an estimated impact of factors not captured by the model. Such judgemental 
adjustment to the model-generated ECLs may be applied to significant exposures at a counterparty level. The adjustments are 
decided by the relevant credit committee using the model ECLs as guidance. In addition, there may be a need for adjustments at a 
portfolio level, which is decided by the SEB Group Risk Committee. 

1.9 Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are measured at fair value on initial recognition. In case the financial liabilities are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or the issuance of the financial liability are recognised in 
profit or loss. For other financial liabilities direct transaction cost are recognised as a deduction from the fair value. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as held for trading. Financial liabilities held for trading are 
derivatives not designated as hedging instruments.  

Other financial liabilities 

�^�Ö�È���¿�³���È�Ò�ñ�þ���� �ñ���Ö�È�þ���Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���å�Ù�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���Ù�È���� �û�þ�Ù�ê�³�þ�Ù�å�����Ù�ë�¿�å�
�Ä�È�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]���� �³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]���� ���Ö�ñ�þ��-term and long-term borrowings. After 
initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Statement of 
�Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å�� �û�ñ���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�]���� �1tems Deposits from central banks and credit institutions, Deposits and borrowings from the public, Other 
financial liabilities and Debt securities issued are included in this category. 

1.10 Debt securities in issue 

Issued debt securities are classified as financial liabilities, which are repurchased as one amount or in instalments under a certain 
repayment schedule. Issued debt securities are recognized initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds net of transaction costs 
incurred. They are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate approach.  

Some hybrid instruments are measured at fair value through profit (loss) in order to reduce inconsistency that would otherwise 
arise from using different measurement basis. 

Debt securities placed prior to specified issue date are accounted as other liabilities.  

If the Group and the Bank purchases its own debt, it is removed from the statement of financial position, and the difference 
between the carrying amount of a liability and the consideration paid is included in net trading income.  

1.11 Fair value measurement 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place between 
market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price 
for the instrument being measured in an actively traded market. Where the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair 
value is calculated using an established valuation technique. These valuation techniques involve a degree of estimation, the extent 
�ñ�Ñ�����Ö�Ù�¿�Ö���Ä�È�û�È�ë�Ä�����ñ�ë�����Ö�È���Ù�ë�����þ�
�ê�È�ë���]�����¿�ñ�ê�û�å�È���Ù�������³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È���³���³�Ù�å�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù�������ñ�Ñ���ê�³�þ�ã�È��-based data. When valuing financial liabilities at fair 
value own credit standing is reflected. Given the uncertainty and subjective nature of valuing financial instruments at fair value, it 
is possible that the outcomes in the next financial year could differ from the assumptions used. 

�*�ñ�þ�����ñ�ê�È���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����³�ë�ã�]����financial assets and liabilities, especially for certain derivatives, quoted prices are not available, 
and valuation models are used to estimate fair value. As part of the fair value measurement, valuation adjustments are made when 
valuing derivative financial instruments, to incorporate counterparty and own credit risk. The methodologies for estimating 
valuation adjustments are continuously revised as a result of changing market practices in response to regulatory and accounting 
policy changes, as well as general market developments. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.12 Offsetting financial transactions 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legal 
right to offset transactions and an intention to settle net or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

1.13 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognized at cost, consisting of the purchase price, non-refundable taxes and other 
direct costs related to taking the asset in to use. Subsequently property, plant and equipment is measured at cost and depreciated 
according to plan on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. The depreciation period for buildings is up to 
50 years, for other property, plant and equipment - �¾�È�����È�È�ë���›���³�ë�Ä���š�˜�����È�³�þ���I���Y�
�¾���È�ý�
�È�ë�����¿�ñ���������³�þ�È���Ù�ë�¿�å�
�Ä�È�Ä���Ù�ë�����Ö�È���³�����È���]�����¿�³�þ�þ���Ù�ë�Ò��
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 
the income statement during the reporting period in which they are incurred. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the income statement. 

Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment. 

1.14 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without physical substance. For an intangible asset to be recognised an 
entity must be able to demonstrate control of the intangible asset, which implies that the entity has the ability to ensure that the 
future economic benefits flowing from the underlying resource will accrue to the company. Intangible assets, other than goodwill, 
are only recognised in the statement of financial position if it is probable that the future economic benefits attributable to the asset 
will accrue to the Group and the Bank and if the acquisition cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Intangible assets are measured initially at acquisition cost, and thereafter at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives, i.e. all intangible assets except goodwill, are amortised on a straight line basis over their 
useful lives (3 years) and tested for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Internally generated intangible assets, such as software development, are amortised 
over a period of 8 years. 

The recoverable amount of an intangible asset is determined if there is indication of a reduction in the value of the asset. An 
impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset. 

1.15 Investment properties 

Investments in properties held in order to receive rental income and/or for capital appreciation are reported as investment 
properties. Investment property is initially measured at its cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment property is measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. If any indication exists 
that investment properties may be impaired, the Group and Bank estimates the recoverable amount as the higher of value in use 
and fair value less costs to sell. The carrying amount of an investment property is written down to its recoverable amount through 
a charge to profit or loss for the year. An impairment loss recognised in prior years is reversed if there has been a subsequent 
�¿�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È���Ù�ë�����Ö�È���È�����Ù�ê�³���È�����
���È�Ä�����ñ���Ä�È���È�þ�ê�Ù�ë�È�����Ö�È���³�����È���]�����þ�È�¿�ñ���È�þ�³�¾le amount. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with will flow to the Group and Bank and the cost can be measured reliably. 

All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is 
reclassified to premises and equipment. 

Expected useful lives of the investment property groups �z between 25-50 years. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.16 Impairment of non-financial assets 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In such circumstances, the recoverable value of the asset is assessed and compared 
���ñ���Ù�������¿�³�þ�þ���Ù�ë�Ò�����³�å�
�È�I�����ë���Ù�ê�û�³�Ù�þ�ê�È�ë�����å�ñ�������Ù�����þ�È�¿�ñ�Ò�ë�Ù���È�Ä���Ñ�ñ�þ�����Ö�È���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�����¾�������Ö�Ù�¿�Ö�����Ö�È���³�����È���]�����¿�³�þ�þ���Ù�ë�Ò���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�����È���¿�È�È�Ä�����Ù�������þ�È�¿�ñ��erable 
�³�ê�ñ�
�ë���I�� �^�Ö�È�� �þ�È�¿�ñ���È�þ�³�¾�å�È�� �³�ê�ñ�
�ë���� �Ù���� ���Ö�È�� �Ö�Ù�Ò�Ö�È�þ�� �ñ�Ñ�� �³�ë�� �³�����È���]���� �Ñ�³�Ù�þ value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial 
assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

1.17 Leasing 

1.17.1 The Group and the Bank as lessor 

The receivables from the financial lease agreements are recognised in net present value of the minimum lease payments, from 
which the payments of principal received have been deducted, plus unguaranteed residual value at the end of contract. Lease 
payments collected are allocated between repayment of principal and financial income. Financial income is recognised over the 
rental period based on the p�³�����È�þ�ë���þ�È�Ñ�å�È�¿���Ù�ë�Ò���³���¿�ñ�ë�����³�ë�����û�È�þ�Ù�ñ�Ä�Ù�¿���þ�³���È���ñ�Ñ���þ�È���
�þ�ë���ñ�ë�����Ö�È���å�È�����ñ�þ�]�����ë�È�����Ù�ë���È�����ê�È�ë�����Ù�ë�����Ö�È���Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���å�È�³���È�I��
�1�ë�Ù���Ù�³�å�����È�þ���Ù�¿�È���Ñ�È�È���� �¿�ñ�å�å�È�¿���È�Ä���³���� �Ù�����
�³�ë�¿�È���³�þ�È���Ù�ë�¿�å�
�Ä�È�Ä���Ù�ë���ñ�����Ö�È���¿�³�å�¿�
�å�³���Ù�ñ�ë���ñ�Ñ���È�Ñ�Ñ�È�¿���Ù���È���Ù�ë���È�þ�È������ �þ�³���È���³�ë�Ä�� �å�È�����ñ�þ�]���� �ë�È���� �Ù�ë���Èstment. 
�<�È�����ñ�þ�]�����Ä�Ù�þ�È�¿�� expenses, related to the contract, are part of effective interest rate and are booked as decrease of leasing income 
over the period of leasing contract. Allowances for lease receivables are presented on the respective line of statement of financial 
position at negative value. 

The lease receivable from the client is recognised in the statement of financial position as of the moment of delivering the assets 
being the object of the agreement to the client. In case of transactions, in which the assets being the object of the agreement having 
a long delivery term have not yet been delivered to the client, the payments received from the lessees under these agreements 
�³�þ�È���þ�È�¿�ñ�Ò�ë�Ù���È�Ä���Ù�ë�����Ö�È�������³���È�ê�È�ë�����ñ�Ñ���Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���û�ñ���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���³�����û�þ�È�û�³���ê�È�ë�������ñ�Ñ���¾�
���È�þ�����Ù�ë���å�Ù�ë�È���bOther financial liabilities�^�I���^�Ö�È���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�������û�³�Ù�Ä��
by the leasing firm for the assets under lease agreements not yet delivered are recognised in the statement of financial position as 
�û�þ�È�û�³���ê�È�ë���������ñ�����
�û�û�å�Ù�È�þ�����ñ�ë���å�Ù�ë�È���b���¿�¿�þ�
�È�Ä���Ù�ë�¿�ñ�ê�È���³�ë�Ä���û�þ�È�û�³�Ù�Ä���È���û�È�ë���È���^�I 

1.17.2 The Group and the Bank as lessee  

Operating lease payments are recognised in income statement as expense over the rental period on straight-line basis. Rental 
�È���û�È�ë���È���Ù�����þ�È�¿�ñ�Ò�ë�Ù���È�Ä���Ù�ë���Ù�ë�¿�ñ�ê�È�������³���È�ê�È�ë�����³�����b�H���Ö�È�þ���È���û�È�ë���È���^�I 

1.18 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised for present obligations arising as consequences of past events where it is more likely than not that a 
transfer of economic benefit will be necessary to settle the obligation, and it can be reliably estimated. 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

Provisions are made for undrawn loan commitments and similar facilities if it is probable that the facility will be drawn by a debtor 
in financial difficulties. 

Provisions are evaluated at each balance sheet date and are adjusted as necessary.                  

1.19 Operating income 

1.19.1 Interest income and interest expenses         

The effective interest method is applied to recognise interest income and interest expenses in profit or loss for financial assets and 
financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of 
allocating interest income and interest expenses. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial instrument. 
When calculating future payments, all payments included in the terms and conditions of the contracts, such as advance payments, 
are taken into consideration. The calculation of the effective interest rate includes fees to be received and paid that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate. However, expected credit losses are not taken into account. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.19 Operating income (continued) 

1.19.1 Interest income and interest expenses (continued) 

If a financial asset subsequently has become credit impaired the interest income is recognised applying the effective interest rate 
to the amortised cost, i.e. gross carrying amount adjusted for the loss allowance. In case a financial asset is credit-impaired at initial 
recognition, the expected credit losses are included in the estimated cash flows to calculate a credit adjusted effective interest 
rate, which then is applied to recognise the interest income.        

1.19.2 Fee commission income 

The recognition of revenue from contracts with customers is reported as fee and commission income. This does not apply for 
revenue from leasing contracts or financial instruments and other contractual obligations within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments. 

Fees that are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument measured at amortised cost, such 
as loan origination fees, are allocated over the expected tenor of the instrument applying the effective interest method and 
presented in Net interest income. 

Fee and commission income is recognised to depict the transfer of promised services to the customers in an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which the Group and the Bank expects to be entitled in exchange for the service. The major types of fees are 
described below. 

Fee and commission income for payment cards, current account services, payments is recognised as revenue at a point of time or 
over the period in which services are provided, depending on the service provided to the client. There is neither significant variable 
consideration included in the transaction price, which could be subject to reversal in the future, nor separate performance 
obligations, which should be distinct. 

Fee and commission income for asset custody and asset management to customers is recognised as revenue over the period in 
which the services are provided. Performance based fees are recognised when it is highly probable that a significant reversal of 
recognised revenue will not occur, which is most often when the performance criteria are fulfilled. 

Expenses that are directly related to the generation of fee and commission income are recognised as fee and commission expense. 

1.19.3 Net financial income          

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 
are reported under the item Net financial income.  

1.19.4 Dividend income       

���Ù���Ù�Ä�È�ë�Ä�����³�þ�È���þ�È�¿�ñ�Ò�ë�Ù���È�Ä�����Ö�È�ë�����Ö�È���È�ë���Ù�����]�����þ�Ù�Ò�Ö����to receive payment is established. 

1.20 Employee benefits 

1.20.1 Short-term benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave that are expected to 
be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised 
�Ù�ë���þ�È���û�È�¿�����ñ�Ñ���È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È���]�����È�þ���Ù�¿�È�����
�û�����ñ�����Ö�È���È�ë�Ä���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���þ�È�û�ñ�þ���Ù�ë�Ò���û�È�þ�Ù�ñ�Ä���³�ë�Ä���³�þ�È���ê�È�³���
�þ�È�Ä���³�������Ö�È���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�������È���û�È�¿���È�Ä�����ñ���¾�È���û�³�Ù�Ä����hen 
the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as Other liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

1.20.2 Termination benefits 

�^�È�þ�ê�Ù�ë�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� �¾�È�ë�È�Ñ�Ù������ �³�þ�È�� �û�³���³�¾�å�È�� ���Ö�È�ë�È���È�þ�� �³�ë�� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�È�]���� �È�ê�û�å�ñ���ê�È�ë���� �Ù���� ���È�þ�ê�Ù�ë�³���È�Ä�� �¾�È�Ñ�ñ�þ�È�� ���Ö�È�� �ë�ñ�þ�ê�³�å�� �þ�È���Ù�þ�È�ê�È�ë���� �Ä�³���È�� �ñ�þ��
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group and the Bank recognizes 
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed either to terminate the employment of current employees according to a 
detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy.     
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.20 Employee benefits (continued) 

1.20.3 Defined contribution plans 

The Group is paying into the defined contribution plans or life insurance contracts on behalf of its employees. A defined contribution 
�û�å�³�ë���Ù�����³���û�È�ë���Ù�ñ�ë���û�å�³�ë�����Ö�È�þ�È�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û���û�³�������³���¿�ñ�ë���þ�Ù�¾�
���Ù�ñ�ë�����ñ���������b�Y�!�����+�������¾�É�����Ä�þ�³�
�Ä�Ù�ê�³���^���³�ë�Ä���Ö�³�����ë�ñ���Ñ�
�þ���Ö�È�þ���ñ�¾�å�Ù�Ò�³���Ù�ñ�ë���ñ�ë�¿�È����he 
contribution is paid. Pension costs for defined contribution plans of life insurance premiums are recognised as an expense during 
the period the employees carry out the service to which the payment relates.     

1.20.4 Share-based payments           

The Group and the Bank operates a number of share-based incentive programmes based on Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 
(publ) shares, under which it awards SEB equity instruments to its employees. Only key persons can participate in those 
programmes. The programmes, referred to above, are the Share Deferral Program (SDP) and Share Matching Program 
(SMP).Equity-settled share-based incentive programmes entitle employees to receive SEB equity instruments. Cash-settled share-
based incentive programmes entitle employees to receive cash based on the price or value of equity instruments of SEB. Fair value 
of these rights is determined by using appropriate valuation models, taking into account the terms and conditions of the award and 
���Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����È�����Ù�ê�³���È���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���ë�
�ê�¾�È�þ���ñ�Ñ���þ�Ù�Ò�Ö���������Ö�³�������Ù�å�å���È���È�ë���
�³�å�å�������È�����L��which is reassessed at each reporting date. 
Social security costs, if applicable, are accounted for over the vesting period and the provision for social security costs is 
reassessed on each reporting date to ensure that the provision is based on the rights�]���Ñ�³�Ù�þ�����³�å�
�È���³�������Ö�È���þ�È�û�ñ�þ���Ù�ë�Ò���Ä�³���È�I���^�Ö�È���þ�È�¿�ñ�þ�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò��
of expenses will last until the end of the qualification period of the respective programs. 

The cost of equity-settled share-based incentive programmes is measured by reference to the fair value of equity instruments on 
the date they are granted and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period with a corresponding 
increase in equity. The vesting period is the period that the employees have to remain in service in SEB in order for their rights to 
vest. For cash-settled share-based incentive programmes, the services acquired and liability incurred are measured at the fair 
value of the liability and recognised as an expense over the vesting period, during which the employees render service. Until 
settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement.      

1.21 Taxes  

�^�Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�������³�����Ñ�ñ�þ�����Ö�È���û�È�þ�Ù�ñ�Ä���¿�ñ�ë���Ù���������ñ�Ñ���¿�
�þ�þ�È�ë�����³�ë�Ä���Ä�È�Ñ�È�þ�þ�È�Ä�����³���I�����
�þ�þ�È�ë�������³�����³�����È�������³�ë�Ä��liabilities for the current 
and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to or from tax authorities using the tax rates and tax laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Current tax is calculated based on the taxable results for 
the period. Deferred tax arises due to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts. 

Current tax and deferred tax are generally recognised in profit or loss. However, tax that relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income is also reported directly in other comprehensive income. Deferred tax assets are recognised in the 
statement of financial position to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available, against which they can 
be utilized.         

1.22 Uncertain tax positions 

The Group's and the Bank's uncertain tax positions are reassessed by management at the end of each reporting period. Liabilities 
are recorded for income tax positions that are determined by management as more likely than not to result in additional taxes 
being levied if the positions were to be challenged by the tax authorities. The assessment is based on the interpretation of tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any known court or other rulings on such 
�Ù�����
�È���I���<�Ù�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���Ù�È�����Ñ�ñ�þ���û�È�ë�³�å���Ù�È���L���Ù�ë���È�þ�È�������³�ë�Ä�����³���È�����ñ���Ö�È�þ�����Ö�³�ë���ñ�ë���Ù�ë�¿�ñ�ê�È���³�þ�È���þ�È�¿�ñ�Ò�ë�Ù���È�Ä���¾�³���È�Ä���ñ�ë���ê�³�ë�³�Ò�È�ê�È�ë���]�����¾�È�������È�����Ù�ê�³���È of 
the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the end of the reporting period. 

1.23 Fiduciary activities 

The Group provides asset management services and offers fund management services. The assets owned by third parties, but 
managed by the Group, and income arising thereon, are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not assets of the 
Group. Commissions received from fiduciary activities are shown in fee and commission income.       
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.24 Single resolution fund 

At the end of the year 2015,  the Bank started contributions to the Single Resolution Fund (the Fund) under the Bank Recovery and 
Resolution Directive (BRRD) adopted by European Parliament in 2014. 

The Fund will be built up during the first eight years (2016-2023) and shall reach at least 1% of covered deposits (as defined in 
���Ö�È�����È�û�ñ���Ù�����+�
�³�þ�³�ë���È�È���Y�¿�Ö�È�ê�È�����Ù�þ�È�¿���Ù���È���›�˜�š�•�Y�•�¢�Y�!�c�T�����Ö�³�����Ù�����³�û�û�þ�ñ���I���”�ž�ž�¾�ë���Ù�ë���›�˜�›�•�I�� 

The level of contributions of an individual bank will be based on two factors: 

1)  A flat contribution calculated pro-�þ�³���³�� �¾�³���È�Ä�� �ñ�ë�� ���Ö�È�� �³�ê�ñ�
�ë���� �ñ�Ñ�� �È�³�¿�Ö�� �Ù�ë�����Ù���
���Ù�ñ�ë�a���� �å�Ù�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���Ù�È���L�� �È���¿�å�
�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò�� �ñ���ë�� �Ñ�
�ë�Ä���� �³�ë�Ä��
covered deposits compared to the total liabilities, excluding own funds and covered deposits of all covered institutions; 
and 

2)  A risk-adjusted contribution based on criteria set out in the BRRD. 

National deposit guarantee schemes must still be financed, since, in case of a bank failure, the deposit guarantee schemes will still 
be liable up to the amount they would have been if a bank was wound down under normal insolvency proceedings. 

Contribution to the Single Resolution fund for the year as well as instalments to the Deposit Insurance Fund paid by the Bank are 
�³�¿�¿�ñ�
�ë���È�Ä���
�ë�Ä�È�þ�����Ö�È���å�Ù�ë�È���a�B�È�����Ù�ë���È�þ�È�������Ù�ë�¿�ñ�ê�È�]���Ù�ë�����Ö�È���1�ë�¿�ñ�ê�È�������³���È�ê�È�ë���I 

1.25 Share capital and dividends 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as 
a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par value of shares 
issued is recorded as share premium in equity. 

Dividends are recorded in equity in the period in which they are declared. Any dividends declared after the end of the reporting 
period and before the financial statements are authorised for issue, are disclosed in the subsequent events note.        

1.26 Accounting policies applicable until 31 December 2017 and replaced by IFRS 9 

Financial Assets 

The Group and the Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; and available-for-sale financial assets. Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represent two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and those 
designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired principally 
for selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as 
hedges. Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss when certain investments, that are managed and 
evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk strategy management and reported to key management on 
that basis, are designated at fair value through profit or loss. Interest income on these financial assets is reflected in �a�1�ë���È�þ�È������
�Ù�ë�¿�ñ�ê�È�]�I 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They arise when the Group and the Bank provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading 
the receivable. 

Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the 
�+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����ê�³�ë�³�Ò�È�ê�È�ë�����Ö�³�������Ö�È���û�ñ���Ù���Ù���È���Ù�ë���È�ë���Ù�ñ�ë���³�ë�Ä���³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���������ñ���Ö�ñ�å�Ä�����ñ���ê�³���
�þ�Ù�����I���m�È�þ�È�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û���³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�����ñ��sell 
other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as available 
for sale. 

Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs 
for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices. 

A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognised using either trade date accounting or settlement date accounting. 
The method used is applied consistently for all purchases and sales of financial assets that belong to the same category of financial 
assets. When settlement date accounting is used for an asset that is subsequently measured at cost or amortised cost, the asset is 
recognised initially at its fair value on the settlement date.  
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.26 Accounting policies applicable until 31 December 2017 and replaced by IFRS 9 (continued) 

Within the SEB Group, trade date accounting is used for the categories fair value through profit or loss and available for sale and 
settlement date accounting is used for all other categories. 

Available for sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. 
Loans and receivables and held to maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains 
�³�ë�Ä���å�ñ�����È�����³�þ�Ù���Ù�ë�Ò���Ñ�þ�ñ�ê���¿�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È�����Ù�ë�����Ö�È���Ñ�³�Ù�þ�����³�å�
�È���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���a�Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���³�����È�������³�����Ñ�³�Ù�þ�����³�å�
�È�����Ö�þ�ñ�
�Ò�Ö���û�þ�ñ�Ñ�Ù�����ñ�þ���å�ñ�����]���¿�³���È�Ò�ñ�þ�����³�þ�È included in 
the income statement in the period in which they arise. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available for sale 
financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, until the financial asset is derecognised or impaired at which time 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity should be recognised in profit or loss. However, interest calculated 
using the effective interest method is recognised in the income statement. Dividends on available for sale equity instruments are 
�þ�È�¿�ñ�Ò�ë�Ù���È�Ä���Ù�ë�����Ö�È���Ù�ë�¿�ñ�ê�È�������³���È�ê�È�ë�������Ö�È�ë�����Ö�È���È�ë���Ù�����]�����þ�Ù�Ò�Ö�������ñ���þ�È�¿�È�Ù���È payment is established. 

The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on current bid prices.  

Derivative Financial Instruments and hedging activities 

Derivative financial instruments including foreign exchange contracts, currency swaps and other derivative financial instruments 
are initially recognised in the statement of financial position at fair value. Any transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices or discounted cash flow models as appropriate (except for 
pricing options). All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. 

The fair-value pricing of an OTC derivative depends on market variables (i.e. interest rates, exchange rates, etc.) and the 
creditworthiness of both counterparties entering into the contract. In this context, a credit valuation adjustment (CVA) is typically 
defined as the difference between the value of a derivative assuming the counterparty is default-risk free and the value reflecting 
default risk of the counterparty. Similarly, a debit valuation adjustment (DVA) is typically defined as the difference between the 
value of the derivative assuming the bank is default-risk free and t�Ö�È�����³�å�
�È���þ�È�Ñ�å�È�¿���Ù�ë�Ò���Ä�È�Ñ�³�
�å�����þ�Ù���ã���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���¾�³�ë�ã�I�����Ö�³�ë�Ò�È�����Ù�ë���³���¾�³�ë�ã�]����
�ñ���ë���¿�þ�È�Ä�Ù�����þ�Ù���ã�����Ö�È�þ�È�Ñ�ñ�þ�È���þ�È���
�å�����Ù�ë���¿�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È�����Ù�ë�����Ö�È�����l�����¿�ñ�ê�û�ñ�ë�È�ë�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È�����³�å�
�³���Ù�ñ�ë���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���¾�³�ë�ã�]�����Ä�È�þ�Ù���³���Ù���È���I 

���Ö�³�ë�Ò�È�����Ù�ë�����Ö�È���Ñ�³�Ù�þ�����³�å�
�È���ñ�Ñ���Ä�È�þ�Ù���³���Ù���È�����Ö�È�å�Ä���Ñ�ñ�þ�����þ�³�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò���³�þ�È���Ù�ë�¿�å�
�Ä�È�Ä���Ù�ë���a�B�È�����Ò�³ins on operations with debt securities and derivative 
�Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���Ù�ë�����þ�
�ê�È�ë�����]�I 

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group and the Bank designates certain derivatives as hedges of the 
fair value of recognised assets (fair value hedge).  

Hedge accounting is used for derivatives designated as hedging instrument provided certain criteria are met. The Group and the 
Bank documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedged items and hedging instruments, as well as 
its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group and the Bank also documents 
its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions 
are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.  

The Bank has fair value hedge relationship where hedging instrument is interest rate swap and hedged item Lithuanian 
Government Eurobonds (accounted for as available for sale investments until 1 July 2008 and vast majority being reclassified to 
loans and receivables category starting from 1 July 2008 - matured in February 2016). Hedged risk is fixed interest risk on loans 
and receivables, which could result in the change in fair value of the bonds classified as loans and receivables due to market 
interest rate volatility. After the reclassification of bonds to loans and receivables category fair value hedge relationships were 
continued. Hedged bonds matured in February 2018. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement 
���Ù���Ö�Ù�ë���b�Bet financial income�^�L�����ñ�Ò�È���Ö�È�þ�����Ù���Ö���³�ë�����¿�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È�����Ù�ë�����Ö�È���Ñ�³�Ù�þ�����³�å�
�È���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���Ö�È�Ä�Ò�È�Ä���³�����È�������Ö�³�����³�þ�È���³�����þ�Ù�¾�
���³�¾�å�È�����ñ�����Ö�È���Ö�È�Ä�Ò�È�Ä��
risk (see Note 5).  

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which 
the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity.  
  



AB SEB bankas  
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(All amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

Page 43 of 126 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.26 Accounting policies applicable until 31 December 2017 and replaced by IFRS 9 (continued) 

Impairment of Financial Assets 

Assets carried at amortised cost: the Group and the Bank assesses at each financial position date whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired 
and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
�ñ�¿�¿�
�þ�þ�È�Ä���³�Ñ���È�þ�����Ö�È���Ù�ë�Ù���Ù�³�å���þ�È�¿�ñ�Ò�ë�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���³�����È�����S�³���a�å�ñ�������È���È�ë���]�T and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

The Group and the Bank first assess whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group and the 
Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant 
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for 
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised 
are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held to maturity investments carried at amortised 
c�ñ�������Ö�³�����¾�È�È�ë���Ù�ë�¿�
�þ�þ�È�Ä�L�����Ö�È���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���å�ñ�������Ù�����ê�È�³���
�þ�È�Ä���³�������Ö�È���Ä�Ù�Ñ�Ñ�È�þ�È�ë�¿�È���¾�È�����È�È�ë�����Ö�È���³�����È���]�����¿�³�þ�þ���Ù�ë�Ò���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È���û�þ�È���Ènt 
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial as���È���]����
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income 
statement.  

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows 
that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable. 

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped based on similar credit risk characteristics. 
Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the 
�Ä�È�¾���ñ�þ���]���³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���������ñ���û�³�����³�å�å���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�������Ä�
�È���³�¿�¿�ñ�þ�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò�����ñ�����Ö�È���¿�ñ�ë���þ�³�¿���
�³�å�����È�þ�ê�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���³�����È�������¾�È�Ù�ë�Ò���È���³luated. 

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated based on the 
contractual cash flows of the group of the assets and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to 
those of the group. Historical loss experience is adjusted based on current observable data to reflect the effects of current 
conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in 
the historical period that do not exist currently. 

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in the income statement. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. The amount of the reversal 
is recognised in the income statement. 

Provision rates for homogeneous credit groups are set not only by applying statistical methods based on historical data, but also 
using expert judgement adjustments. Probability of default (PD) and loss given default (LGD) parameters are set once per year. 
Expert judgement parameters can be updated more frequently depending on objective evidences of portfolio quality development 
and other particularities of credit portfolio, that are not taken into consideration by quantitative assessment of risk parameters 
based on historical data.  

Assets carried at fair value: The Group and the Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are 
impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss �z measured as the difference 
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in 
profit or loss �z is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income 
statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt 
instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the income statement. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.27 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations 

1.27.1 IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) 

In the current year, the Group and the Bank has applied IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related consequential amendments 
to other IFRS Standards that are effective for an annual period that begins on or after 1 January 2018.  

Key features of the new standard are: 

�” Financial assets are required to be classified into three measurement categories: those to be measured subsequently at 
amortised cost, those to be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and those to be 
measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL); 

�” Classification for debt instruments is driven by the entity�]s business model for managing the financial assets and whether 
the contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI). If a debt instrument is held to collect, it may 
be carried at amortised cost if it also meets the SPPI requirement. Debt instruments that meet the SPPI requirement that are held 
in a portfolio where an entity both holds to collect a�����È�����]���¿�³���Ö���Ñ�å�ñ�������³�ë�Ä�����È�å�å�����³�����È�������ê�³�����¾�È���¿�å�³�����Ù�Ñ�Ù�È�Ä���³�����*�l�H���1�I�����*�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���³�����È������
that do not contain cash flows that are SPPI must be measured at FVPL (for example, derivatives). Embedded derivatives are no 
longer separated from financial assets but will be included in assessing the SPPI condition; 

�” Investments in equity instruments are always measured at fair value. However, management can make an irrevocable 
election to present changes in fair value in other comprehensive income, provided the instrument is not held for trading. If the 
equity instrument is held for trading, changes in fair value are presented in profit or loss; 

�” Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were carried forward 
unchanged to IFRS 9. The key change is that an entity will be required to present the effects of changes in own credit risk of 
financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss in other comprehensive income; 

�” IFRS 9 introduces a new model for the recognition of impairment losses �z the expected credit losses (ECL) model. There 
is a �athree stage�] approach, which is based on the change in credit quality of financial assets since initial recognition. In practice, the 
new rules mean that entities will have to record an immediate loss equal to the 12-month ECL on initial recognition of financial 
assets that are not credit impaired (or lifetime ECL for trade receivables). Where there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk, impairment is measured using lifetime ECL rather than 12-month ECL. The model includes operational simplifications for lease 
and trade receivables; 

�” Hedge accounting requirements were amended to align accounting more closely with risk management. The standard 
provides entities with an accounting policy choice between applying the hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 9 and continuing 
to apply IAS 39 to all hedges because the standard currently does not address accounting for macro hedging. The Group and the 
Bank does not apply hedge accounting.  

The application of IFRS 9 with regards to impairment results in decrease in credit loss allowances and provisions by EUR 5,600 
thousands net of income tax and an overall increase of retained earnings by the same amount. As a result of change in classification 
and measurement, the Group and the Bank have changed classification of equity instruments and some debt securities previously 
classified as available for sale under IAS 39 to measured at fair value through profit or loss category. The effect with regard to 
classification and measurement is that a positive market valuation net of income tax of EUR 1,096 thousand is removed from 
���³�ë�ã�]�����³�ë�Ä���!�c�U���š�L�˜�¢� �����Ö�ñ�
���³�ë�Ä���Ñ�þ�ñ�ê���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����*�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���³�����È�������þ�È���³�å�
�³���Ù�ñ�ë���þ�È���È�þ���È�����ñ���U�È���³�Ù�ë�È�Ä���È�³�þ�ë�Ù�ë�Ò���I 

As permitted by transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Group and the Bank has elected not to restate comparatives in respect of the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments. Any adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities 
at the date of transition are recognized in the opening retained earnings and other reserves as at 1 January 2018. 

���È���³�Ù�å���� �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ö�È���È�� �ë�È���� �þ�È�ý�
�Ù�þ�È�ê�È�ë������ �³���� ���È�å�å�� �³���� ���Ö�È�Ù�þ�� �Ù�ê�û�³�¿���� �ñ�ë�� ���Ö�È�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�� ���³�ë�ã�]����consolidated financial statements are 
described below. 

As of 1 January 2018 the Group and the Bank has adjusted its Statements of financial position to reflect reclassifications made 
for purpose of improving comparability with other SEB Group entities. Detailed information on reclassification made and Statement 
of financial position before and after reclassification is presented in the Note 37. The table below reflects the line items as at 31 
December 2017 after the reclassification. 

The table below sh�ñ���������Ö�È�����þ�³�ë���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���È�Ñ�Ñ�È�¿�������ñ�Ñ���1�*�U�Y���¢���ñ�ë���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����³�ë�ã�]���������³���È�ê�È�ë�����ñ�Ñ���Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���û�ñ���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���³�����³���þ�È���
�å�����ñ�Ñ���ë�È����
measurement categories and ECL allowance under the new structure of statement of financial position, reconciling the closing 
balances under IAS 39 as per 31 December 2017 with the opening balances under IFRS 9 as per 1 January 2018: 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.27 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.27.1 IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) (continued) 

 

 

 
  

The Group

Assets
Cash and balances with central bank 1,223,894            -                              -                              1,223,894          
Loans to credit institutions 221,046                 -                              -                              221,046               
Loans to the public 5,739,091            -                              7,180                        5,746,271          
Debt securities 394,998                 -                              -                              394,998               
Derivatives 47,549                    -                              -                              47,549                  
Equity Instruments 4,143                        -                              -                              4,143                      
Investments in subsidiaries -                              -                              -                              -                            
Intangible assets 4,646                        -                              -                              4,646                      
Property, plant and equipment 7,953                        -                              -                              7,953                      
Investment property 2,015                        -                              -                              2,015                      
Deferred income tax assets 11,004                    -                              (857)                          10,147                  
Other financial assets 53,202                    -                              -                              53,202                  
Other non-financial assets 8,100                        -                              -                              8,100                      

Total assets 7,717,641           -                              6,323                       7,723,964         

Liabilities -                              

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 1,398,638            -                              -                              1,398,638          
Deposits and borrowings from the public 5,411,527            -                              -                              5,411,527          
Derivatives 45,249                    -                              -                              45,249                  
Current income tax liabilities 1,187                        -                              131                            1,318                      
Deferred income tax liabilities -                              -                              -                              -                            
Debt securities issued 526                            -                              -                              526                          
Provisions 10,300                    -                              592                            10,892                  
Other financial liabilities 61,963                    -                              -                              61,963                  
Other non-financial liabilities 20,677                    -                              -                              20,677                  

Total liabilities 6,950,067           -                              723                            6,950,790         

Equity

Share capital 299,564                 -                              -                              299,564               
Other reserves 161,686                 (1,097)                      -                              160,589               
Retained earnings 306,324                 1,097                        5,600                        313,021               

-                            
Total equity 767,574                -                              5,600                       773,174              

Total liabilities and equity 7,717,641           -                              6,323                       7,723,964         

 Change of 
classification 

 Change in ECL 
allowances 

Opening balance 
1 January 2018

IFRS 9 Financial instruments
 New 

presentation of 
closing balance 
31 December 

2017 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.27 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.27.1 IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) (continued) 

 

 

 

The Bank

Assets
Cash and balances with central bank 1,223,894                     -                             -                             1,223,894                   
Loans to credit institutions 221,046                         -                             -                             221,046                        
Loans to the public 5,739,133                     -                             7,180                      5,746,313                   
Debt securities 394,822                         -                             -                             394,822                        
Derivatives 47,549                             -                             -                             47,549                           
Equity Instruments 4,143                                -                             -                             4,143                               
Investments in subsidiaries 2,871                                -                             -                             2,871                               
Intangible assets 4,646                                -                             -                             4,646                               
Property, plant and equipment 7,892                                -                             -                             7,892                               
Investment property 2,015                                -                             -                             2,015                               
Deferred income tax assets 10,996                             -                             (857)                         10,139                           
Other financial assets 54,091                             -                             -                             54,091                           
Other non-financial assets 7,406                                -                             -                             7,406                               

Total assets 7,720,504                    -                             6,323                      7,726,827                  

Liabilities -                             

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 1,398,638                     -                             -                             1,398,638                   
Deposits and borrowings from the public 5,416,837                     -                             -                             5,416,837                   
Derivatives 45,249                             -                             -                             45,249                           
Current income tax liabilities 1,147                                -                             131                           1,278                               
Deferred income tax liabilities -                                       -                             -                             -                                     
Debt securities issued 526                                     -                             -                             526                                   
Provisions 10,300                             -                             592                           10,892                           
Other financial liabilities 61,963                             -                             -                             61,963                           
Other non-financial liabilities 20,440                             -                             -                             20,440                           

Total liabilities 6,955,100                    -                             723                           6,955,823                  

Equity

Share capital 299,564                         -                             -                             299,564                        
Other reserves 161,399                         (1,096)                    -                             160,303                        
Retained earnings 304,441                         1,096                      5,600                      311,137                        

-                                     
Total equity 765,404                         -                             5,600                      771,004                       

Total liabilities and equity 7,720,504                    -                             6,323                      7,726,827                  

IFRS 9 Financial instruments

 New presentation of 
closing balance 31 
December 2017 

 Change of 
classification 

 Change in ECL 
allowances 

Opening balance 1 
January 2018
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.27 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.27.1 IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) (continued) 

The tables below provide a complete overview of the transition from measurement categories and carrying amounts under IAS 39 as per 31 December 2017 to the measurement categories and carrying 
amounts under IFRS 9 as per 1 January 2018. The change in carrying amounts following transition is a result of new measurement categories for financial assets and liabilities and ECL allowance 
(expected credit losses) for financial assets valued at amortised cost and off-balance sheet exposures under IFRS 9. For more details on the change in classification and measurement, see the detailed 
classification and measurement tables below.  

 

(Continued) 
  

The Group
Assets  HFT  FVO  AFS  LaR  Other  Total  FVHFT  FVMPL  AmC  Other  Total 

Cash and balances with central bank -                    -                    -                    1,223,894  -                    1,223,894  -                    -                    1,223,894  -                    1,223,894  
Loans to credit institutions -                    -                    -                    221,046      -                    221,046      -                    -                    221,046      -                    221,046      
Loans to the public -                    -                    -                    5,739,091  -                    5,739,091  -                    -                    5,746,271  -                    5,746,271  
Debt securities 26,069          353,027      15,902          -                    -                    394,998      26,069          368,929      -                    -                    394,998      
Derivatives 47,549          -                    -                    -                    -                    47,549          47,549          -                    -                    -                    47,549          
Equity Instruments -                    -                    4,143             -                    -                    4,143             -                    4,143             -                    -                    4,143             
Investments in subsidiaries -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
Intangible assets -                    -                    -                    -                    4,646             4,646             -                    -                    -                    4,646             4,646             
Property, plant and equipment -                    -                    -                    -                    7,953             7,953             -                    -                    -                    7,953             7,953             
Investment property -                    -                    -                    -                    2,015             2,015             -                    -                    -                    2,015             2,015             
Deferred income tax assets -                    -                    -                    -                    11,004          11,004          -                    -                    -                    10,147          10,147          
Other financial assets -                    -                    -                    53,202          -                    53,202          -                    -                    53,202          -                    53,202          
Other non-financial assets -                    -                    -                    -                    8,100             8,100             -                    -                    -                    8,100             8,100             

Total assets 73,618         353,027      20,045         7,237,233 33,718         7,717,641 73,618         373,072      7,244,413 32,861         7,723,964 

 Closing balance as of 31 December 2017 under IAS 39 
accounting categories 

 Opening balance as of 1 January 2018 
under IFRS 9 accounting categories 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.27 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.27.1 IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) (continued) 

 

 

 

(Concluded) 

IAS 39 abbreviations: Held for trading (HFT), Fair Value Option (FVO), Available-for-sale (AFS), Loans and Receivables (LaR), Amortised Cost (AmC) and Held to Maturity (HTM). 

IFRS 9 abbreviations: Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Held for Trading (FVHFT/FVTPL held for trading), Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Mandatorily (FVMPL/FVTPL mandatorily), Fair Value Through 
Profit or Loss Designated (FVDPL/FVTPL designated), Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) and Amortised Cost (AmC). 
  

The Group
 Closing balance as of 31 December 2017 under IAS 39 

accounting categories 
 Opening balance as of 1 January 2018 

under IFRS 9 accounting categories 

Liabilities and equity  HFT  FVO  AmC  Other  Total  FVHFT  AmC  Other  Total 
Deposits from central banks and credit 
institutions -                    -                    -                    1,398,638  -                    1,398,638  -                    -                    1,398,638  -                    1,398,638  
Deposits and borrowings from the 
public -                    -                    -                    5,411,527  -                    5,411,527  -                    -                    5,411,527  -                    5,411,527  
Derivatives 45,249          -                    -                    -                    -                    45,249          45,249          -                    -                    -                    45,249          
Current income tax liabilities -                    -                    -                    -                    1,187             1,187             -                    -                    -                    1,318             1,318             

Deferred income tax liabilities -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
Debt securities issued -                    -                    -                    526                  -                    526                  -                    -                    526                  -                    526                  
Provisions -                    -                    -                    -                    7,256             7,256             -                    -                    -                    7,848             7,848             
Other financial liabilities -                    -                    -                    61,963          -                    61,963          -                    -                    61,963          -                    61,963          
Other non-financial liabilities -                    -                    -                    -                    23,721          23,721          -                    -                    -                    23,721          23,721          
Equity -                    -                    -                    -                    767,574      767,574      -                    -                    -                    773,174      773,174      

Total liabilities and equity 45,249         -                    -                    6,872,654 799,738      7,717,641 45,249         -                    6,872,654 806,061      7,723,964 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.27 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.27.1 IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) (continued) 

 

(Continued) 
  

The Bank
Assets  HFT  FVO  AFS  LaR  Other  Total  FVHFT  FVMPL  AmC  Other  Total 

Cash and balances with central bank -                    -                    -                    1,223,894  -                    1,223,894  -                    -                    1,223,894  -                    1,223,894  
Loans to credit institutions -                    -                    -                    221,046      -                    221,046      -                    -                    221,046      -                    221,046      
Loans to the public -                    -                    -                    5,739,133  -                    5,739,133  -                    -                    5,746,313  -                    5,746,313  
Debt securities 26,069          353,027      15,726          -                    -                    394,822      26,069          368,753      -                    -                    394,822      
Derivatives 47,549          -                    -                    -                    -                    47,549          47,549          -                    -                    -                    47,549          
Equity Instruments -                    -                    4,143             -                    -                    4,143             -                    4,143             -                    -                    4,143             
Investments in subsidiaries -                    -                    -                    -                    2,871             2,871             -                    -                    -                    2,871             2,871             
Intangible assets -                    -                    -                    -                    4,646             4,646             -                    -                    -                    4,646             4,646             
Property, plant and equipment -                    -                    -                    -                    7,892             7,892             -                    -                    -                    7,892             7,892             
Investment property -                    -                    -                    -                    2,015             2,015             -                    -                    -                    2,015             2,015             
Deferred income tax assets -                    -                    -                    -                    10,996          10,996          -                    -                    -                    10,139          10,139          
Other financial assets -                    -                    -                    54,091          -                    54,091          -                    -                    54,091          -                    54,091          
Other non-financial assets -                    -                    -                    -                    7,406             7,406             -                    -                    -                    7,406             7,406             

Total assets 73,618         353,027      19,869         7,238,164 35,826         7,720,504 73,618         372,896      7,245,344 34,969         7,726,827 

 Closing balance as of 31 December 2017 under IAS 39 
accounting categories 

 Opening balance as of 1 January 2018 
under IFRS 9 accounting categories 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.27 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.27.1 IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) (continued) 

 

 

(Concluded) 

IAS 39 abbreviations: Held for trading (HFT), Fair Value Option (FVO), Available-for-sale (AFS), Loans and Receivables (LaR), Amortised Cost (AmC) and Held to Maturity (HTM). 

IFRS 9 abbreviations: Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Held for Trading (FVHFT/FVTPL held for trading), Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Mandatorily (FVMPL/FVTPL mandatorily), Fair Value Through 
Profit or Loss Designated (FVDPL/FVTPL designated), Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) and Amortised Cost (AmC). 

 

 

The Bank
 Closing balance as of 31 December 2017 under IAS 39 

accounting categories 
 Opening balance as of 1 January 2018 

under IFRS 9 accounting categories 

Liabilities and equity  HFT  FVO  AmC  Other  Total  FVHFT  AmC  Other  Total 
Deposits from central banks and credit 
institutions -                    -                    -                    1,398,638  -                    1,398,638  -                    -                    1,398,638  -                    1,398,638  
Deposits and borrowings from the 
public -                    -                    -                    5,416,837  -                    5,416,837  -                    -                    5,416,837  -                    5,416,837  
Derivatives 45,249          -                    -                    -                    -                    45,249          45,249          -                    -                    -                    45,249          
Current income tax liabilities -                    -                    -                    -                    1,147             1,147             -                    -                    -                    1,278             1,278             
Deferred income tax liabilities -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
Debt securities issued -                    -                    -                    526                  -                    526                  -                    -                    526                  -                    526                  
Provisions -                    -                    -                    -                    7,256             7,256             -                    -                    -                    7,848             7,848             
Other financial liabilities -                    -                    -                    61,963          -                    61,963          -                    -                    61,963          -                    61,963          
Other non-financial liabilities -                    -                    -                    -                    23,484          23,484          -                    -                    -                    23,484          23,484          
Equity -                    -                    -                    -                    765,404      765,404      -                    -                    -                    771,004      771,004      

Total liabilities and equity 45,249         -                    -                    6,877,964 797,291      7,720,504 45,249         -                    6,877,964 803,614      7,726,827 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.27 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.27.1 IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) (continued) 

Th�È�� �Ñ�ñ�å�å�ñ���Ù�ë�Ò�� ���³�¾�å�È���� �þ�È�¿�ñ�ë�¿�Ù�å�È�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�� previous classification categories under IAS 39 as per 31 December 2017 with the 
classification categories under IFRS 9 as per 1 January 2018. 

 

 

 
As of 1 January 2018, the Group will no longer apply fair value option for a portion of its debt instruments. These instruments are 
managed and evaluated on a fair value basis and are therefore mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss under 
IFRS 9. 

 

As part of the business mode�å���³�����È�����ê�È�ë���L���³���û�ñ�þ���Ù�ñ�ë���ñ�Ñ���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]����debt securities previously classified as available-for-sale has been 
assessed to meet the criteria for FVTPL mandatorily as these financial instruments are managed and evaluated on a fair value 
basis. As such, these instruments have been reclassified from available-for-sale to fair value through profit or loss mandatorily. 
Equity instruments are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss in line with IFRS 9. The accumulated OCI for equity 
instruments was EUR 1,097 thousand as of 31 December 2017 and has been recognised in retained earnings as of 1 January 
2018.  

 

 
  

 Classification 
and 

measurement  ECL Allowances 

 Class of assets 

 Carrying amount 
as of 31 

December 2017  Change  Impairment 

 Carrying amount 
at 1 January 

2018  Classification 

IAS 39 IFRS 9

Loans and receivables 7,237,233           
to Amortized cost 7,237,233            7,180                        7,244,413           Amortised cost

Held for trading 73,618                    
 to Fair Value Through Profit 
or Loss Held for Trading 73,618                    -                              73,618                    

 Fair Value through Profit or 
Loss Held for Trading 

 Financial assets 
designated at fair value 353,027                
 to Fair Value Through Profit 
or Loss Mandatorily 353,027                 -                              353,027                

 Fair Value through Profit or 
Loss Mandatorily 

Available for sale - debt securities 15,902                    
Available for sale - equity instruments 4,143                       

 to Fair Value Through Profit 
or Loss Mandatorily 20,045                    -                              20,045                    

 Fair Value through Profit or 
Loss Mandatorily 

 Classification 
and 

measurement  ECL Allowances 

 Class of liabilities 

 Carrying amount 
as of 31 

December 2017  Change  Impairment 

 Carrying amount 
at 1 January 

2018  Classification 

Held for trading 45,249                    

 to Fair Value Through Profit 
or Loss Held for Trading 45,249                    -                              45,249                    

 Fair Value through Profit or 
Loss Held for Trading 

 Amortised cost 6,872,654           
 to Amortised cost 6,872,654            -                              6,872,654            Amortised cost 

IAS 39 IFRS 9
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.27 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.27.1 IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) (continued) 

�^�Ö�È�� �Ñ�ñ�å�å�ñ���Ù�ë�Ò�� ���³�¾�å�È���� �þ�È�¿�ñ�ë�¿�Ù�å�È�� ���³�ë�ã�]���� �û�þ�È���Ù�ñ�
���� �¿�å�³�����Ù�Ñ�Ù�¿�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� �¿�³���È�Ò�ñ�þ�Ù�È���� �
�ë�Ä�È�þ�� �1���Y�� �œ�¢�� �³����per 31 December 2017 with the 
classification categories under IFRS 9 as per 1 January 2018. 

 

 

 

As of 1 January 2018, the Bank will no longer apply fair value option for a portion of its debt instruments. These instruments are 
managed and evaluated on a fair value basis and are therefore mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss under 
IFRS 9. 

 

�������û�³�þ�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���¾�
���Ù�ë�È�������ê�ñ�Ä�È�å���³�����È�����ê�È�ë���L���³���û�ñ�þ���Ù�ñ�ë���ñ�Ñ�����³�ë�ã�]�����Ä�È�¾�������È�¿�
�þ�Ù���Ù�È�����û�þ�È���Ù�ñ�
���å�����¿�å�³�����Ù�Ñ�Ù�È�Ä���³�����³���³�Ù�å�³�¾�å�È-for-sale has been 
assessed to meet the criteria for FVTPL mandatorily as these financial instruments are managed and evaluated on a fair value 
basis. As such, these instruments have been reclassified from available-for-sale to fair value through profit or loss mandatorily. 
Equity instruments are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss in line with IFRS 9. The accumulated OCI for equity 
instruments was EUR 1,096 thousand as of 31 December 2017 and has been recognised in retained earnings as of 1 January 
2018.  
  

 Classification 
and 

measurement  ECL Allowances 

 Class of assets 

 Carrying amount 
as of 31 

December 2017  Change  Impairment 

 Carrying amount 
at 1 January 

2018  Classification 

IAS 39 IFRS 9

Loans and receivables 7,238,164           
to Amortized cost 7,238,164            7,180                        7,245,344           Amortised cost

Held for trading 73,618                    
 to Fair Value Through Profit 
or Loss Held for Trading 73,618                    -                              73,618                    

 Fair Value through Profit or 
Loss Held for Trading 

 Financial assets 
designated at fair value 353,027                
 to Fair Value Through Profit 
or Loss Mandatorily 353,027                 -                              353,027                

 Fair Value through Profit or 
Loss Mandatorily 

Available for sale - debt securities 15,726                    
Available for sale - equity instruments 4,143                       

 to Fair Value Through Profit 
or Loss Mandatorily 19,869                    -                              19,869                    

 Fair Value through Profit or 
Loss Mandatorily 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.27 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.27.1 IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) (continued) 

 
 

�^�Ö�È�����³�¾�å�È���¾�È�å�ñ�����þ�È�¿�ñ�ë�¿�Ù�å�È�������Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����³�ë�ã�]�����¿�å�ñ���Ù�ë�Ò���û�È�þ�Ù�ñ�Ä�\�����Ù�ê�û�³�Ù�þ�ê�È�ë�����³�å�å�ñ���³�ë�¿�È���ê�È�³���
�þ�È�Ä���Ù�ë���³�¿�¿�ñ�þ�Ä�³�ë�¿�È�����Ù���Ö�����Ö�È���1���Y���œ9 
incurred loss model and the provisions for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts in accordance with IAS 37 to the 
new impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IFRS 9 expected loss model at 1 January 2018.  

 

*Accrued interest and interest income for loans overdue more than 60 days was directly reduced by allowances in amount of EUR 
3,442 thousand as of 31 December 2017. From 1 January 2018 allowances for accrued interest on overdue loans are recognized 
in Net expected credit losses.  
  

 Classification 
and 

measurement  ECL Allowances 

 Class of liabilities 

 Carrying amount 
as of 31 

December 2017  Change  Impairment 

 Carrying amount 
at 1 January 

2018  Classification 

Held for trading 45,249                    

 to Fair Value Through Profit 
or Loss Held for Trading 45,249                    -                              45,249                    

 Fair Value through Profit or 
Loss Held for Trading 

 Amortised cost 6,877,964           
 to Amortised cost 6,877,964            -                              6,877,964            Amortised cost 

IAS 39 IFRS 9

Financial assets

Provisions for 
impairment IAS 

39
ECL allowance 

IFRS 9

IAS 39 IFRS 9
31 December 

2017
Change in 

allowances 1 January 2018

Loans to the public* LaR AmC (71,915)                                            7,180                    (64,735)

Loan commitments and financial 
guarantees

Provisions IAS 
37

ECL allowance 
IFRS 9

IAS 39 IFRS 9
31 December 

2017
Change in 

allowances 1 January 2018

Provisions N/A N/A (7,256)                      (592)                          (7,848)                      

Classification

Classification
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.27 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.27.1 IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) (continued) 

The table below shows �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����³�ë�ã�]����gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance and Nominal amounts for exposures 
off -balance divided by stage as a mean to put ECL allowances in context to overall exposure levels: 

 
 

1.27.2 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018)  

The new standard introduces the core principle that revenue must be recognised when the goods or services are transferred to 
the customer, at the transaction price. Any bundled goods or services that are distinct must be separately recognised, and any 
discounts or rebates on the contract price must generally be allocated to the separate elements. When the consideration varies 
for any reason, minimum amounts must be recognised if they are not at significant risk of reversal. Costs incurred to secure 
contracts with customers have to be capitalised and amortised over the period when the benefits of the contract are consumed. 
The Group and the Bank adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contract with Customers with a date of transition 1 January 2018. The 
Group and the Bank have chosen to apply the standard retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented. The transition 
effect should be recognised in retained earnings, as at 1 January 2017. The Group and the Bank do not have an effect on transition 
to the financial statements. 

Amendments to IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018). The amendments do not change the underlying principles of the standard but clarify how those principles should be applied.  
The amendments clarify how to identify a performance obligation (the promise to transfer a good or a service to a customer) in a 
contract; how to determine whether a company is a principal (the provider of a good or service) or an agent (responsible for 
arranging for the good or service to be provided); and how to determine whether the revenue from granting a licence should be 
recognised at a point in time or over time.  In addition to the clarifications, the amendments include two additional reliefs to reduce 
cost and complexity for a company when it first applies the new standard. The Group and the Bank do not have the impact to the 
financial statements from the Amendments. 

There are no other new or revised standards or interpretations that are effective for the first time for the financial year beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018 that have a material impact to the Group and the Bank. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.28 New Accounting Pronouncements 

Certain new or revised standards and interpretations have been issued that are m�³�ë�Ä�³���ñ�þ���� �Ñ�ñ�þ�� ���Ö�È�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]���� �³�ë�ë�
�³�å�� �û�È�þ�Ù�ñ�Äs 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019  and which the Group has not early adopted. 

IFRS 16, Leases (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The new standard sets out the principles 
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. All leases result in the lessee obtaining the right to use an 
asset at the start of the lease and, if lease payments are made over time, also obtaining financing. Accordingly, IFRS 16 eliminates 
the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases as is required by IAS 17 and, instead, introduces a single 
lessee accounting model. Lessees will be required to recognise:  

(a) assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value; and 
(b)   depreciation of lease assets separately from interest on lease liabilities in the income statement.  

IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its 
leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently.  

General impact of application of IFRS 16 Leases 

Upon transition to IFRS 16, the Group and the Bank have decided to apply the modified retrospective approach. For the purpose 
of applying the modified retrospective approach to the leases, the Group and the Bank have elected to measure the right-of-use 
assets to an amount equal to the lease liability.  

In addition, the Group and the Bank decided to apply the practical expedients to use hindsight when assessing the lease term, not 
to recognise a right-of-use asset or lease liability to leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the date of initial 
application and not to include assets of low value.  

�^�Ö�È���ê�³�Ù�ë���Ù�ê�û�³�¿�����ñ�ë�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å�������³���È�ê�È�ë�������Ù�����Ñ�þ�ñ�ê�����Ö�È���³�¿�¿�ñ�
�ëting of property leases. The Group and the 
Bank will recognize following impact on transition to IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019: 

 

There is no significant impact on the income statement, although the presentation in the income statement changes as other 
expenses will be replaced by depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest expenses on the lease liability. There is no 
significant impact on large exposures and capital adequacy. 

The new standard also introduces new estimates and judgements that affect the measurement of lease liabilities. The Group and 
the Bank measures the lease liability at the commencement date based on management estimates regarding exercising any 
termination or exemption options and may be required to revise it, e.g. the assessment of whether an option is reasonably certain 
to be exercised. As this will increase financial statement volatility, this will be revised and monitored by the Group and the Bank 
continuously. 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 cycle (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019; not yet 
adopted by the EU).The narrow scope amendments impact four standards. IFRS 3 was clarified that an acquirer should remeasure 
its previously held interest in a joint operation when it obtains control of the business. Conversely, IFRS 11 now explicitly explains 
that the investor should not remeasure its previously held interest when it obtains joint control of a joint operation, similarly to the 
existing requirements when an associate becomes a joint venture and vice versa. The amended IAS 12 explains that an entity 
recognises all income tax consequences of dividends where it has recognised the transactions or events that generated the related 
distributable profits, e.g. in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. It is now clear that this requirement applies in all 
circumstances as long as payments on financial instruments classified as equity are distributions of profits, and not only in cases 
when the tax consequences are a result of different tax rates for distributed and undistributed profits. The revised IAS 23 now 
includes explicit guidance that the borrowings obtained specifically for funding a specified asset are excluded from the pool of 
general borrowings costs eligible for capitalisation only until the specific asset is substantially complete. The changes have no 
material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.28 New accounting pronouncements (continued 

Amendments to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2020; not yet adopted by the EU).The revised Conceptual Framework includes a new chapter on measurement; guidance 
on reporting financial performance; improved definitions and guidance - in particular the definition of a liability; and clarifications 
in important areas, such as the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. The revised 
Conceptual Framework have no material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank.  

Definition of materiality �z Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020; 
not yet adopted by the EU).The amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should be applied by including in the 
definition guidance that until now has featured elsewhere in IFRS. In addition, the explanations accompanying the definition have 
been improved. Finally, the amendments ensure that the definition of material is consistent across all IFRS Standards. Information 
is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions that the primary users of 
general-purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about 
a specific reporting entity. The amendments have not a material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

There are no other new or revised standards or interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material 
impact on the Group and the Bank. 

1.29 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies 

Amended critical judgements - expected credit loss model 

When calculating expected credit loss (ECL) there are a number of key concepts that require a high level of judgement. Estimating 
expected credit loss is, by its very nature, uncertain and the accuracy of these estimates depends on many factors, e.g. 
macroeconomic forecasts and involves complex modelling and judgements. The assessment of significant increase in credit risk is 
a new concept under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and will require significant judgement. At the end of each reporting period the 
Group and the Bank shall perform an assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition by 
considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument, using key risk indicators 
���Ö�³�����³�þ�È���
���È�Ä���Ù�ë�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����³�ë�ã�]�����È���Ù�����Ù�ë�Ò risk management processes. Another area requiring significant judgement is the 
incorporation of forward-looking information and macroeconomic scenarios. IFRS 9 requires an unbiased and probability-weighted 
estimate of credit losses by evaluating a range of possible outcomes that incorporates forecasts of future economic conditions. 
SEB Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-looking information in the ECL 
measurement. SEB Group uses both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) in order to determine ECLs. The objective of 
applying ECJ is to incorporate the estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL. The degree of judgement that is 
required to estimate expected credit losses depends on the outcome from calculations, materiality and the availability of detailed 
information. The models, assessment and assumptions are regularly reviewed by the risk organization of the SEB Group and 
approved by the SEB Group Risk Committee. The assumptions and sensitivity analysis are further described in Note 2.2. 

Fair Value of Derivatives 

The fair values of financial derivatives that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques. All such 
not quoted derivative financial transactions are entered with third parties and mirror transactions are entered with SEB Group. 
Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed 
by qualified personnel independent of the area that created them. All models are certified before they are used, and models are 
calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. For pricing of options Black-Scholes model is 
used, with only observable market data (e.g. historical volatility, market interest rates, market prices). Further details of major 
assumptions of fair values of derivatives provided under this note section Fair values.  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES 

2.1 Fair values 

The table �¾�È�å�ñ�������
�ê�ê�³�þ�Ù���È�������Ö�È���¿�³�þ�þ���Ù�ë�Ò���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�������³�ë�Ä���Ñ�³�Ù�þ�����³�å�
�È�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�ñ���È���Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���³�����È�������³�ë�Ä���å�Ù�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���Ù�È�����û�þ�È���È�ë���È�Ä���ñ�ë�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]����
statement of financial position at amortized cost:  
 

 
 
 
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those finan�¿�Ù�³�å���³�����È�������³�ë�Ä���å�Ù�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���Ù�È�����û�þ�È���È�ë���È�Ä���ñ�ë�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]����
statement of financial position at amortized cost:  
 

 

Loans and advances to banks, balances with the Central Bank. The fair value of floating rate placements and overnight deposits is 
their carrying amount. The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing 
money-market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.  

Loans to the public are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and receivables represents the 
discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted using interest 
rates for newly issued loans with the similar maturity date.  

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes 
non-interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on demand.  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.1 Fair values (continued) 

Deposits from public The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits and other borrowings not quoted in an active 
market is based on discounted cash flows using current market interest rates. 

Debt securities in issue The discounted cash flow model is used using current market rates.  

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place between 
market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. In order to arrive at the fair value of a financial 
instrument AB SEB bankas Group uses different methods; quoted prices in active markets, valuation techniques incorporating 
observable data and valuation techniques based on internal models. For disclosure purposes, financial instruments carried at fair 
value are classified in a fair value hierarchy according to the level of market observability of the inputs. 

An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to provide pricing information on an 
ongoing basis. The objective is to arrive at a price at which a transaction without modification or repacking would occur in the 
principal market for the instrument to which SEB has immediate access. 

Fair value is generally measured for individual financial instruments, in addition adjustments are made to cover credit risk. To 
reflect counterparty risk in OTC derivatives, adjustments are made based on the net exposure towards each counterpart. These 
adjustments are calculated on a counterparty level based on estimates of exposure at default, probability of default and recovery 
rates. Probability of default and recovery rate information is generally sourced from the CDS markets. For counterparties where 
this information is not available, or considered unreliable due to the nature of the exposure, alternative approaches are taken 
where the probability of default is based on generic credit indices for specific industry and /or rating. 

Financial instruments carried at fair value are valued on a daily basis. Valuations are performed using recent and reliable bid prices 
from at least one external market data provider where the relevance of a traded price is assessed in light of current market 
movements. Instruments that require models for valuation, are valued using industry standard pricing models with input 
parameters that are either based on observable market data or, if deemed more appropriate, set or validated by independent risk 
control function. 

Level 1: Quoted market prices 

Valuations in Level 1 are determined by reference to unadjusted quoted market prices for identical instruments in active markets 
where the quoted prices are readily available and the prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an 
�³�þ�ê�]�����å�È�ë�Ò���Ö���¾�³���Ù���I���!���³�ê�û�å�È�����ñ�Ñ���<�È��el 1 financial instruments are listed equity securities, debts securities and exchange-traded 
derivatives. 

Level 2: Valuation techniques with observable inputs 

In level 2 valuation techniques, all significant inputs to the valuation models are observable either directly or indirectly. Level 2 
valuation techniques include using discounted cash flows, option pricing models, recent transactions and the price of another 
instrument that is substantially the same. 

Examples of observable inputs are foreign currency exchange rates, binding securities price quotations, market interest rates 
(Libor, etc.), volatilities implied from observable option prices for the same term and actual transactions with one or more external 
counterparts executed by SEB.  

Examples of Level 2 financial instruments are most OTC derivatives such as options and interest rate swaps based on the Libor 
swap rate or foreign-denominated yield curve. 

Level 3: Valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs 

Level 3 valuation techniques incorporate significant inputs that are unobservable. These techniques are generally based on 
extrapolating from observable inputs for similar instruments, analyzing historical data or other analytical techniques. Examples of 
Level 3 financial instruments are more complex OTC derivatives, long dated options for which the volatility is extrapolated or 
derivatives that depend on an unobservable correlation. Other examples are instruments for which there is currently no active 
market or binding quotes, such as unlisted equity instruments. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.1 Fair values (continued) 

Transfers between levels may occur when there are indications that market conditions have changed, e.g. a change in liquidity. 
There have been no transfers between levels during the years 2018 and 2017. 

�*�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���³�����È�������³�ë�Ä���å�Ù�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���Ù�È�����û�þ�È���È�ë���È�Ä���ñ�ë�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]���������³���È�ê�È�ë�����ñ�Ñ���Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���û�ñ���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���³����amortized cost for the 
year 2018 and 2017 for which fair value is disclosed in the tables above are of level 3 within fair value hierarchy.  

�^�Ö�È�����³�¾�å�È���¾�È�å�ñ�������
�ê�ê�³�þ�Ù���È�������Ö�È���Ö�Ù�È�þ�³�þ�¿�Ö�����ñ�Ñ���Ñ�³�Ù�þ�����³�å�
�È���ê�È�³���
�þ�È�ê�È�ë�����ñ�Ñ���³�����È�����³�ë�Ä���å�Ù�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���Ù�È�����û�þ�È���È�ë���È�Ä���ñ�ë�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]���������³���È�ê�È�ët 
of financial position at fair value:  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.1 Fair values (continued) 

�^�Ö�È�����³�¾�å�È���¾�È�å�ñ�������
�ê�ê�³�þ�Ù���È�������Ö�È���Ö�Ù�È�þ�³�þ�¿�Ö�����ñ�Ñ���Ñ�³�Ù�þ�����³�å�
�È���ê�È�³���
�þ�È�ê�È�ë�����ñ�Ñ���³�����È�����³�ë�Ä���å�Ù�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���Ù�È�����û�þ�È���È�ë���È�Ä���ñ�ë�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]���������³���È�ê�È�ë�� of 
financial position at fair value:  
 

 
 
 

 

All instruments measured at fair value are subject to recurring valuation. 

The table below represents ���Ö�È���¿�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�� �³�ë�Ä�����³�ë�ã�]�� Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2018: 
 

 
 

Equity instruments are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss in line with IFRS 9 starting from 1 January 2018. 
The accumulated reserve in Other comprehensive income for equity instruments was EUR 1,097 thousand as of 31 December 
2017 and has been recognised in retained earnings as of 1 January 2018. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.1 Fair values (continued) 

�^�Ö�È�����³�¾�å�È���¾�È�å�ñ�����þ�È�û�þ�È���È�ë���������Ö�È���¿�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����³�ë�ã���]����Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2017: 
 

 

Level 3 Equity instruments �z i�ë���B�ñ���È�ê�¾�È�þ���›�˜�š�ž���l�Ù���³�� �1�ë�¿�I�� �³�ë�ë�ñ�
�ë�¿�È�Ä�� �¾�
���Ù�ë�Ò���ñ�
���� �l�1�Y���� �!�
�þ�ñ�û�È�� �<�Ù�ê�Ù���È�Ä�����Ö�³�þ�È���� �Ñ�þ�ñ�ê���Ù���]���� �ê�È�ê�¾�È�þ��
banks. AB SEB bankas was a holder of one redeemable ordinary share of EUR 10 in Visa Europe Limited. The price offered for the 
shares have been calcul�³���È�Ä���¾�³���È�Ä���ñ�ë���ê�È�ê�¾�È�þ���]���¿�ñ�ë���þ�Ù�¾�
���Ù�ñ�ë�����ñ���l�Ù���³���!�
�þ�ñ�û�È�]�����¾�
���Ù�ë�È���� and consisted of cash part, preferred stock 
(series C shares) and 3 years deferred payment. The number of shares of class A common stock underlying each share of preferred 
stock is specified by the class A common equivalent number with respect to the applicable series of preferred stock. The equivalent 
number has been set on the issue date of preferred stock which occurred at the closing of the deal. The class A common equivalent 
number will be adjusted from time to time pursuant to the applicable governing documents with respect to such series. 

Valuation of VISA Inc. preferred stock 

Positions, that are classified as level 3 and for which a traded price nor a third party quote is available, are to be valued by 
benchmarking to another product with similar characteristics and for which a traded price or an independent third party quote is 
available. Information from traded indices and other sources shall also be used when available. The benchmarking exercise must 
be well documented and approved by the relevant Valuation Committee in order to allow for a review of the appropriateness of 
used prices. 

The Bank, as an owner of the preferred share, has a stake in the company in proportion to the stocks held under the conversion 
estimate provided by Visa Inc. Valuation inputs to approximate the value of the preference shares have been used. The expected 
number of A class shares to be received on conversion shares has been estimated by management based on known terms and 
conditions.  Following the exercise of the stock conversion, stock will be valued at the traded price for the Visa Inc. shares 
(NYSE:V).  Given that preference shares are directly convertible to A Class shares, the use of market observable inputs has been 
maximized. The SEB valuation of the preferred shares has therefore been modelled on the traded closing price at month end for 
the Visa Inc. share on NYSE. In order to account for the fact that the SEB preferred shares are non-transferrable and subject to 
ownership restrictions, the listed A class share price is adjusted. The adjustment reflects that, when the transaction is closed, 
holders of preference shares do not have access to the primary market where Visa A class shares are traded. Preference shares 
may only be sold or transferred to other members in the transaction or other holders of B-class shares. 

The adjustment also reflects uncertainties around the conversion rate and the outcome of covered litigation, where the conversion 
rate will be reduced in the event that Visa Inc. suffers losses related to certain covered litigation, a haircut has been applied to the 
estimated number of shares to be allocated to the Bank. The embedded conversion feature, which reduces the number of Visa Inc. 
equity instruments a Principal Member receives on conversion of its preferred share, is dependent upon the uncertain outcome of 
litigation. 

The total adjustment made by the Bank initially was 50 percent .In third quarter of 2018 SEB Group has reviewed inputs for Visa 
shares valuation and total adjustment made by the Bank was changed to 30%. Change in valuation is related to the reducing 
uncertainty in the conversion factor as the transaction matures. 

On a quarterly basis the Group reviews the classification of level 3 instruments and assesses if there is additional information 
indicating changes in their value.  

If the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-5% while other factors are unchanged the change in fair value of the 
level 3 instruments for the Group would be estimated higher or lower by EUR 393 thousand (2017: EUR 215 thousand).  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Financial risk management policy 

Definition of Risk  

AB SEB bankas Group defines the risk as the possibility of a negative deviation from an expected financial outcome. One 
consequence of risk-taking is the occurrence of losses, which can be broken into expected and unexpected losses. �^�Ö�È���b�ë�ñ�þ�ê�³�å��
�å�È���È�å�^���ñ�Ñ���å�ñ�����È�����S�ê�È�³���
�þ�È�Ä���³�����È���û�È�¿���È�Ä���å�ñ�����È���T���Ù�����¿�ñ�ë���Ù�Ä�È�þ�È�Ä���³�����³���¿�ñ�������ñ�Ñ���Ä�ñ�Ù�ë�Ò���¾�
���Ù�ë�È�������Ñ�þ�ñ�ê���³���þ�Ù���ã���û�ñ�Ù�ë�����ñ�Ñ�����Ù�È���L���³�ë�Ä���Ù�����¿�ñvered 
through transaction pricing and risk reserves. The Group and the Bank shall make appropriate efforts to minimise expected losses 
through ensuring sound internal practices and good internal controls. The unusual, large and unexpected losses are not foreseen 
to be completely absorbed by day to day transaction profits. The primary protections against such losses are sound internal 
practices, good internal controls, insurance policies and earnings. The last loss-absorbing resource for unexpected losses is the 
capital of the Bank.  

Credit Risk 

The Group and the Bank takes on exposure to credit risk which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full 
when due. The definition of credit risk also encompasses so called �¿�ñ�
�ë���È�þ�û�³�þ�����]���� �¿�ñ�
�ë���þ���� �þ�Ù���ã�� ���Ö�Ù�¿�Ö�� �³�þ�Ù���È���� �Ä�
�È�� ���ñ��the risk of 
settlements between parties according to trading operations.  

�^�Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�a�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����¿�þ�È�Ä�Ù�����û�ñ�å�Ù�¿�����Ù�����¾�³���È�Ä���ñ�ë�����Ö�È���û�þ�Ù�ë�¿�Ù�ûle that any lending transaction must be based on credit analysis. 
Various credit security instruments are applied depending on the complexity of a transaction and trustworthiness of a customer.  

Credit Risk Classification 

The Bank got the permission from the regulators to use an IRB (Internal Ratings Based Approach, according to Basel II 
methodology) models in credit risk assessment process and for the regulatory capital calculation starting from the beginning of 
2008 to be applied for the main credit portfolio segments: Corporate (Non-retail), Financial Institutions (Non-retail), Small 
Corporate (Retail) and Private Individuals (Retail). The Group uses different risk classification systems applicable for particular 
portfolio segment. The same expert judgment based risk classification systems are used for credit risk assessment of Non-retail 
credit exposures in all parts of SEB Group. Credits that exceed 0.5 million EUR �³�ë�Ä�Y�ñ�þ���È�ë���Ù���Ù�È���]�������
�þ�ë�ñ���È�þ���È���¿�È�È�Ä���š�˜���êillion EUR are 
classified as Non-retail positions. The Bank uses the master scale of 16 risk classes classifying the credit risk of Non-Retail 
borrowers with 1 representing the lowest default probability and 16 representing the default. Risk classes 1-7 are considered 
investment grade. The borrowers falling into the range of risk class 1-10 are treated as normal business loans. The classification 
above is applied for loans to customers and finance lease receivables. 

�^�Ö�È�� �¾�ñ�þ�þ�ñ���È�þ���� �ñ�Ñ�� �þ�Ù���ã�� �¿�å�³������ �š�š�� �³�ë�Ä�� �š�›�� �³�þ�È�� �Ä�È�Ñ�Ù�ë�È�Ä�� �³���� �a�þ�È�����þ�Ù�¿���È�Ä�� �¾�
���Ù�ë�È�����]�� �³�ë�Ä�� �a���û�È�¿�Ù�³�å�� �ñ�¾���È�þ���³���Ù�ñ�ë�]�� �þ�È���û�È�¿���Ù���È�å���L�� ���Ö�Ù�å�È�� ���Ö�È��
borrowers in risk classes 13-�š�Ÿ���³�þ�È���¿�å�³�����Ù�Ñ�Ù�È�Ä���³�����a���³���¿�Ö���å�Ù�����]�I���U�Ù���ã���¿�å�³�����È�����³�þ�È���
���È�Ä���³�����Ù�ê�û�ñ�þ���³�ë�����û�³�þ�³�ê�È���È�þ�����Ù�ë�����Ö�È���¿�þ�È�Ä�Ù�����û�ñ�å�Ù�¿���L 
the credit approval process, credit risk measurement and management, monitoring and reporting of credit risk. The credit risk 
assessment is based on analysis of Non-�þ�È���³�Ù�å�� �¾�ñ�þ�þ�ñ���È�þ�]�� ability to meet interest and principal amount repayment obligations, 
covering business and financial risk. Financial ratios and peer group comparison are used in the risk assessment. The credit risk of 
the Non-retail borrowers is reviewed on regular basis at least once per year depending on the risk class assigned to the borrower. 
High-risk exposures are subject to more frequent reviews. The objective is to identify at an early stage, credit exposures with 
increased risk for loss, and work together with the customer towards a constructive solution that enables the Group and the Bank 
to reduce or avoid credit losses as well as maintain long term relationship with the customer. 

Scoring models are used in credit risk assessment process of Retail exposures, i. e small enterprises and private individuals. The 
application scoring models are used for the assessment of counterparty risk (Probability of Default) and transaction risk (Loss 
Given Default) during customer credit application phase. Due to the fact that credit worthiness of the clients changes over time 
the Retail exposures are re-scored quarterly by using the behavioural scoring models. The Bank uses the scale from A to E for 
classification of Retail borrowers credit risk with A representing the lowest default probability and E representing the default. 

The information on distribution of loans portfolio by risk class is presented in note 13. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Financial risk management policy (continued) 

Key macroeconomic variable assumptions for calculating ECL allowances starting 1 January 2018 

The SEB Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-looking information incorporated 
in the ECL measurement. In order to ensure an unbiased estimation of credit losses under IFRS 9, at least three scenarios are used. 
One of the scenarios is the base case scenario, representing the most likely outcome, which is also applied in the financial planning 
and budgeting process, while the other case scenarios represent more positive or negative outcomes. The probability weights 
assigned to each scenario are determined using a combination of statistical analysis and expert judgment. The scenarios are 
reviewed four times a year, or more frequently when appropriate due to rapid developments. The most significant macroeconomic 
���³�þ�Ù�³�¾�å�È���³�����
�ê�û���Ù�ñ�ë�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È�����³���È�����¿�È�ë�³�þ�Ù�ñ���
���È�Ä���³�����ñ�Ñ���œ�š�����È�¿�È�ê�¾�È�þ���›�˜�š�¡�L���³�þ�È�����È�����ñ�
�����¾�È�å�ñ���I���1�ë�Ä�Ù���Ù�Ä�
�³�å�����¿�È�ë�³�þ�Ù�ñ�����Ñ�ñ�þ���Y�!���]�����Ö�ñ�ê�È 
markets are used. 
 

 

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance of the non-retail and retail portfolios, respectively, are as follows: 

 

 
 

 

As of 31 December 2018, the probability of the negative scenario was estimated to 20-25 per cent and the probability of the 
positive scenario was 15 per cent. 

Sensitivity analysis of macroeconomic assumptions 

In general, a worsening of the outlook on forecasted macroeconomic variables for each scenario or an increase in the probability 
of the negative scenario occurring will both increase the number of loans migrating from Stage 1 to Stage 2 and increase the 
estimated ECL allowances. On the other hand, an improvement in the outlook on forecasted macroeconomic variables or an 
increase in the probability of the positive scenario occurring will have the opposite positive impact. 

Should the positive and negative scenarios be assigned 100 per cent probability of occurring, the model calculated ECL allowances 
would increase by 5 per cent and decrease by 3 per cent, respectively compared to the weighted scenario. 

 

Key assumptions for triggering significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 

For arrangements with initial origination date as of 1 January 2018 or later, the primary indicator is changes in lifetime probability 
of default (PD) by comparing the scenario weighted annualised lifetime PD at the reporting date with the scenario weighted 
annualised lifetime PD at initial recognition. For arrangements with an initial origination date prior to 1 January 2018 changes in 
SEB internal risk classification since initial origination are used as the primary indicator. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Financial risk management policy (continued) 

Quantitative measures for triggering significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 

 

 
1)  Placement of a financial asset on watch list automatically classifies it as a significant increase in credit risk and places it in Stage 2. 

Regardless of the quantitative indicator, a significant increase in credit risk is triggered if the following back-stop indicators occur:  

- payments are past due >30 days but < 90 days, or 

- �Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å�� �³�����È������ �³�þ�È�� �Ñ�ñ�þ�¾�ñ�þ�ë�È�� �S���Ö�È�þ�È�� �Ä�
�È�� ���ñ�� ���Ö�È�� �¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ�]���� �Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å�� �Ä�Ù�Ñ�Ñ�Ù�¿�
�å���Ù�È���� ���Ö�È�� �¿�ñ�ë���þ�³�¿���
�³�å�� ���È�þ�ê���� �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ö�È�� �å�ñ�³�ë���� �Ö�³���È�� �¾�È�Èn 
revised and concessions given). 

Back stop indicators normally overlap with the quantitative indicator of significant increase in credit risk. 

Impairment losses on Loans and Receivables until 31 December 2017  

The Group, aiming at fair and timely assessment of credit impairment, performs regular credit revision: corporate loans within risk 
class 8 and better are revised no less than once a year; revisions of 9�{ 10 risk class corporate loans are performed no less than 
once a half-year; corporate loans within risk class 11�{ 16, no less than once a quarter; revisions within homogeneous groups 
(loans to small enterprises, mortgage loans, consumer loans, debts to credit institution) are performed automatically on quarterly 
basis. Revisions in case of corporate loans within the B�³�ë�ã�]���� �È�����³�¾�å�Ù���Ö�È�Ä�� �Ù�ë�¿�þ�È�³���È�Ä�� �þ�Ù���ã�� �È�¿�ñ�ë�ñ�ê���� ���È�¿���ñ�þ���L�� �Ù�þ�þ�È���û�È�¿���Ù���È�� �ñ�Ñ�� ���Ö�È��
established borrower risk class, are performed not less than once a quarter. After loan assessment at the established frequency, 
relevant loss events are identified and relevant loan impairment is assessed. When assessing whether a loss due to impairment 
must be included in the profit (loss) account, the Group assesses, whether before the determination of the loan impairment there 
exist any data in proof that it is possible to establish a decrease in forecasted future cash flows of a company within the credit 
portfolio. The following data is �³�����È�����È�Ä�M�����Ö�È���Ö�È�þ�����Ö�È�þ�È���Ö�³�����ñ�þ���Ö�³�����ë�ñ�����¾�È�È�ë���³���ê�³���È�þ�Ù�³�å���Ä�È���È�þ�Ù�ñ�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë���Ù�ë�����Ö�È���¾�ñ�þ�þ�ñ���È�þ�]�����Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å��
�����³�ë�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò���³�������È�å�å���³�����Ù�ë�Ñ�ñ�þ�ê�³���Ù�ñ�ë���þ�È�å�³���È�Ä�����ñ�����Ö�È���³�����È�����ê�È�ë�����ñ�Ñ���¾�
���Ù�ë�È�������û�È�þ���û�È�¿���Ù���È�I�������¾�ñ�þ�þ�ñ���È�þ�]�����¿�³���Ö���Ñ�å�ñ�������³�þ�È���Ñ�ñ�þ�È�¿�³�����È�Ä���
���Ùng 
a conservative approach, and loan security measures are taken into account �z probable adverse change in the assets value, 
previously sustained losses as well as objective evidence of impairment of the loans within the portfolio.  

Methodology and presumptions used in the forecast of future cash flows and time with the aim to reduce a mismatch between 
forecasted and actual losses are revised on regular basis. 

The criteria that the Group and the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:  

�x Downgrading to internal risk class 16; 

�x Proceeds of the loan without a prior consent of the bank are used for the purposes other than stipulated in the loan 
agreement and this event has a negative impact on the credit risk of the borrower; 

�x Breach of investment project covenants having a negative impact on the credit risk of the borrower; 

�x Related parties of the borrower are in default and this is having impact on the credit risk of the borrower; 

�x Deterioration of active market for debt securities due to financial distress;  

�x Deterioration in value of collateral, in cases where repayment conditions are directly related to the value of collateral 
and earnings method was applied for establishing such collateral value;  

�x Suspension or withdrawal of license for the borrowers that carry licensed activities (for example trade of oil products, 
utilities, etc.) and this event has a negative impact on the credit risk of the borrower;  

�x Declaration of bankruptcy; 

�x Counterparty is in default, i.e. more than 90 days past due*. 

*- A financial asset is past due when any amount of principal, interest or fee has not been paid by a counterparty at the date it was 
contractually due. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Financial risk management policy (continued) 

The Credit Committee has to carry out an extraordinary credit revision, if the borrower is more than 14 days in delay to repay the 
loan or pay interest or in case at least one of the above-referred criteria indicating a possible decrease in the loan value is 
applicable to the borrower/loan. In case loan impairment is found, individual provisions must be formed for a potential credit loss. 
A loan is classified as an impaired loan, if there is objective evidence that one or more loss events have occurred, and if, as an effect 
of such events, there has been a change in the estimated future cash flows, for instance, the customer has significant financial 
problems, fails to pay interest or the principal when due. Loans are not classified as impaired loans, if the collateral value covers 
the loan and interest. 

Provisions for portfolio corporate loans are formed for loans, in case of which no individual impairment has been found, however, 
a probability exists that impairment will occur, but no such fact has been found yet. Loans with similar risk characteristics are 
�¿�å�³�����Ù�Ñ�Ù�È�Ä�����³�ã�Ù�ë�Ò���Ù�ë���ñ���³�¿�¿�ñ�
�ë�������Ö�È���ê�³�Ù�ë���Ñ�³�¿���ñ�þ�������Ö�³�����Ö�³���È���³�ë���Ù�ê�û�³�¿�����ñ�ë���³���¾�ñ�þ�þ�ñ���È�þ�]�����z �å�È�Ò�³�å���È�ë���Ù�����]�����z credit risk, and impairment 
provisions for them are formed taking into account the default probability within relevant classes.  

The portfolio based assessment is applied to the following homogeneous credit groups having the similar risk characteristics: 
mortgage loans, consumer loans, credit cards, small corporate loans. The collective provisions for the homogeneous credit groups 
are formed by applying statistical methods based on historical data about the observed default frequencies of the borrowers (PD) 
and the suffered losses (LGD) within the corresponding homogeneous credit group and expert judgment adjustments considering 
historical experience of adequacy of provisioning levels, objective evidences of portfolio quality development, adequacy of 
security of particular portfolio and other particularities of credit portfolio, that are not taken into consideration by quantitative 
assessment. 

An impairment loss is reported as a write off, if it is deemed impossible to collect the contractual amounts due that have not been 
paid and/or are expected to remain unpaid, or if it is deemed impossible to recover the carrying amount by selling any collateral 
provided. In other cases, a specific provision is recorded in an allowance account. As soon as the non-collectible amount can be 
determined and the asset is written off, the amount reported in the allowance account is dissolved. Similarly, the provision in the 
allowance account is reversed if the estimated recovery value exceeds the carrying amount. 

Credit Risk Limits and Monitoring 

The Group and the Bank structures the levels of credit portfolio risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted 
in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and industry segments. The credit risk exposure to a single borrower or 
�¾�ñ�þ�þ�ñ���È�þ���]�� �Ò�þ�ñ�
�û���� �³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È���Ù�ë�Ä�
�����þ�Ù�È���� �³�þ�È���ê�ñ�ë�Ù���ñ�þ�È�Ä���ñ�ë���³���þ�È�Ò�
�å�³�þ���¾�³���Ù���I�� ���þ�È�Ä�Ù���� �¿�ñ�ë�¿�È�ë���þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë���È���û�ñ���
�þ�È���å�Ù�ê�Ù������ �³�þ�È���È�����³�¾�å�Ù���Ö�È�Ä�� �¾y 
Assets and liability management committee (ALCO) and regularly monitored by risk control function. As of 31 December 2018, 
credit exposures are in compliance with limits set by ALCO.  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Financial risk management policy (continued) 

The table below represents the development of credit exposures within particular industries.  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Financial risk management policy (continued) 

Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk Before Collateral Held or Other Credit Enhancements 

The below table represents a worse case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Group and the Bank as of 31 December 2018 and 
2017, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance-sheet assets, the 
exposures set out below are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial position. 

 

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the Group and the Bank 
resulting from both its loan and receivables portfolio and debt securities. For information on loan ratings see Credit risk 
management note information above. 100% of investments in Government securities compose of Government debt securities that 
have an investing rating.  

Market Risk  

Market risk is defined as the risk of a loss or reduction of future net income following changes in interest rates, credit spreads, 
foreign exchange and equity prices, including price risk in connection with the sale of assets or closing of positions.  

According to the type of financial risk, market risk is classified into trading risk (Trading Book risk) and structural risk of a mismatch 
�¾�È�����È�È�ë���³�����È�������³�ë�Ä���å�Ù�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���Ù�È�����S���³�ë�ã�Ù�ë�Ò�����ñ�ñ�ã���þ�Ù���ã�T�L�����Ö�Ù�¿�Ö���Ö�³�����³�ë���Ù�ê�û�³�¿�����ñ�ë�����Ö�È���û�ñ���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���Ò�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����Ù�ë���È�þ�È�������þ�³���È�����Ènsitive assets 
and liabilities as well as off-�¾�³�å�³�ë�¿�È�����Ö�È�È�����Ù���È�ê�����³�ë�Ä���Ù�����Ä�È�Ñ�Ù�ë�È�Ä���³�������Ö�È���þ�Ù���ã���ñ�Ñ���³���å�ñ�������ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���Ò�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����ë�È�����Ù�ë���È�þ�È�������Ù�ë�¿�ñ�ê�È���³�ë�Ä���³���Ä�È�¿�þ�È�³���È��
in the market value of liabilities. 

The overall market risk exposure (trading and non-trading) is measured using Value-at-Risk (VaR) model based on historical 
simulation method that express the maximum potential loss that can arise at a chosen level of probability during a certain period 
of time. Trading risk is measured on daily basis using 99 percent probability level and 10 days time horizon. VaR exposure for non-
���þ�³�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò�� �û�ñ���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���� �Ù���� �¿�³�å�¿�
�å�³���È�Ä�� �ñ�ë�� �³�� �Ä�³�Ù�å���� �¾�³���Ù���� �
���Ù�ë�Ò�� �š�� �Ä�³���]���� �³�����È�����ê�È�ë���� �È���³�å�
�³���Ù�ñ�ë�� �û�È�þ�Ù�ñ�Ä�� �³�ë�Ä�� �¢�¢�� �û�È�þ�¿�È�ë���� �û�þ�ñ�¾�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù������ �å�È���È�å�I 
Historical data are based on 250 days for estimation of volatility and correlation. Additionally the Bank uses the sensitivity 
measures applied for risk assessment of specific market risk type/portfolio/position: delta 1 p.p. is applied for interest rate 
sensitive portfolios/positions, etc. Value at Risk assessment results on the total portfolio positions are shown in Note 32.  
  



AB SEB bankas  
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(All amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

Page 68 of 126 

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Financial risk management policy (continued) 

Currency Risk  

Foreign Exchange Risk exposure is defined by two measures: single open currency position against EUR and aggregated general 
open currency - the bigger one of summarized long and short open currency positions. The foreign exchange risk measure contains 
the net exposure of spot and forward positions, plus other balance sheet items. The currency risk control is ensured by monitoring 
the risk exposure against the limits established for single open currency position.  

The net positions of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 are presented in 
Note 31. 

Interest Rate Risk  

Interest rate risk is managed by forecasting the market interest rates and managing the mismatches between assets and liabilities 
by re-pricing maturities. The Bank applies the interest rate risk management methods allowing to measure the Group�]�������È�ë���Ù���Ù���Ù������
to interest rate changes by computing the impact to the net effect to the market value of shareholders equity (called delta 1%) in 
case of parallel shift by percentage point in the yield curve. 

The interest rate risk management as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 is presented in Note 32.  

Credit risk margin risk �Ù�����Ä�È�Ñ�Ù�ë�È�Ä���³�����³���þ�Ù���ã�����Ö�³�������Ö�È�����³�å�
�È���ñ�Ñ���Ä�È�¾�������È�¿�
�þ�Ù���Ù�È�������Ù�å�å���Ä�È�¿�þ�È�³���È���³�����³���þ�È���
�å�����ñ�Ñ���³���¿�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È���Ù�ë�����Ö�È���Ù�����
�È�þ�]�����¿�þ�È�Ä�Ù����
risk. This type of risk is calculated using the VaR (Value-at-Risk) model. Risk is managed by setting limits for investments in debt 
securities. 

The credit risk margin risk management as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 is presented in Note 32.  

Liquidity Risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Bank may be unable to timely fulfil its payment obligations or to finance or realize 
its assets over the certain period at an acceptable price. The Group and the Bank adheres to a conservative liquidity risk 
management policy that ensures adequate fulfilment of current financial obligations, the level of obligatory reserves with the 
European Central Bank higher than established.  

AB SEB bankas and the Group is following and managing liquidity risk from a number of perspectives of which the main 
perspectives can be characterized as structural liquidity risk (or funding risk according to European Banking Authority�z  EBA �z  
terminology) and stressed survival horizon (or short-term liquidity risk according to EBA terminology). 

Structural liquidity risk refers primarily to how long-term more illiquid assets (such as lending to the public) are funded by long-
term stable funding (such as stable deposits).  

�^�Ö�È�����ñ�þ�È���+�³�û���U�³���Ù�ñ���Ù�������Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����Ù�ë���È�þ�ë�³�å�������þ�
�¿���
�þ�³�å���å�Ù�ý�
�Ù�Ä�Ù�������þ�Ù���ã���ê�È���þ�Ù�¿�I��A ratio below 100% indicates that the bank is not funded 
with stable enough liabilities relative to illiquid assets.  

Core GAP ratio was 112,9% as of 31 of December 2018 (107 % as of 31 December 2017).  

The Core Gap Ratio will eventually be accompanied by the regulatory metric of structural liquidity risk �z Net Stable Funding Ratio 
which should come into force in 2019. 

�Y���þ�È�����È�Ä�� ���
�þ���Ù���³�å�� �Ö�ñ�þ�Ù�"�ñ�ë�� �S�Y�Y�/�T�� �Ù���� �³�¾�ñ�
���� �Ö�ñ���� ���È�ë���Ù���Ù���È�� ���Ö�È�� �¾�³�ë�ã�]���� �¾�³�å�³�ë�¿�È�� ���Ö�È�È���� �����þ�
�¿���
�þ�È�� �Ù���� ���ñ�� �ê�ñ�þ�È�� ���Ö�ñ�þ��-term funding 
disturbances, e.g. when wholesale funding is difficult to prolong due to a bank-specific or general market stress or when deposits 
leave the bank in an even more stressed scenario. Survival horizon is the number of days accumulated cash flows stays positive.  

Second metric is Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR), which is also a regulatory requirement and measures to what extent liquid assets 
are sufficient to cover short term cash outflows in a stressed scenario. 

LCR for the Bank should be not less than 100%. During the year 2017 and 2018 the Bank and the Group was in compliance with 
this requirement. As at 31 December 2018 LCR for the Bank was 169,80% while for the Group it was 170,28%. 

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Group and the Bank under financial liabilities by remaining contractual 
maturities at the balance sheet date. In addition the Group and the Bank manages the inherent liquidity risk based on expected 
cash inflows. 
  



AB SEB bankas  
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(All amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

Page 69 of 126 

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Financial risk management policy (continued) 

�^�Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����
�ë�Ä�Ù���¿�ñ�
�ë���È�Ä���ë�ñ�ë-derivative financial liability and expected cash inflows analysis as of 31 December 2018:  

 
 
 
�^�Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����
�ë�Ä�Ù���¿�ñ�
�ë���È�Ä���ë�ñ�ë-derivative financial liability and expected cash inflows analysis as of 31 December 2017:  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Financial risk management policy (continued) 

�^�Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����
�ë�Ä�Ù���¿�ñ�
�ë���È�Ä���ë�ñ�ë-derivative financial liability and expected cash inflows analysis as of 31 December 2018: 

 

 

 

�^�Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����
�ë�Ä�Ù���¿�ñ�
�ë���È�Ä���ë�ñ�ë-derivative financial liability and expected cash inflows analysis as of 31 December 2017: 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Financial risk management policy (continued) 

Undiscounted derivative instruments analysis for the Group and the Bank as of 31 December 2018: 

 

 

Undiscounted derivative instruments analysis for the Group and the Bank as of 31 December 2017:  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Financial risk management policy (continued) 

In the tables above net-settled derivatives are included in the analysis only if they have a negative fair value at the balance sheet 
date (if they are liabilities at that date). However all gross-settled derivatives are included in the analysis whether their fair value 
is negative or positive at balance sheet date. Pay leg of such derivatives is presented as outflow and receive leg as inflow. 

Capital Adequacy  

Capital adequacy is assessed by capital adequacy ratio �z capital base compared to risk  exposure amount. 

General Regulations for the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) came into effect as from 1 January 2007. In 
accordance to these regu�å�³���Ù�ñ�ë���L�� �¾�³�ë�ã���]�� ���Ö�ñ�
�å�Ä�� �Ù�Ä�È�ë���Ù�Ñ���� �³�å�å�� �þ�Ù���ã���L�� �ë�ñ���� �ñ�ë�å���� ���Ö�È�� �ñ�ë�È���� �³�����È�����È�Ä�� �Ù�ë�� �¿�³�û�Ù���³�å�� �³�Ä�È�ý�
�³�¿���� �¿�³�å�¿�
�å�³���Ù�ñ�ë�L�� ���ñ��
select risk assessment models, estimate it, choose tools for risks management, and to set a goal for limits. Accordingly, the Bank 
set a goal to ensur�È�� ���³�ë�ã�a���� �����³�ë�Ä�� �³�å�ñ�ë�È�� �³�ë�Ä�� �*�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�a���� �¿�³�û�Ù���³�å�� �³�Ä�È�ý�
�³�¿���� �þ�³���Ù�ñ���� �³���� �å�È�³������ �š�� �û�È�þ�¿�È�ëtage point higher than 
individual capital adequacy ratio set for AB SEB bankas including other requirements applied for the Bank by relevant institutions. 

�^�Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�a�����³�ë�Ä�����Öe Group�]�� capital adequacy ratios at the end of 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017   

The Bank 18.70%  19.95%   

The Group 18.73% 19.98%   

For further information see Note 30. 

Large exposure requirements 

Large exposure is a ���³�ë�ã�]�����ñ�þ���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�� exposure to a client or group of connected clients where its value is equal to or exceeds 10 
per cent of its eligible capital. A Bank or Group shall not incur an exposure, after taking into account the effect of the credit risk 
mitigation, to a client or group of connected clients the value of which exceeds 25 per cent of its eligible capital. When the client is 
an institution (bank or investment company) or when a group of connected clients includes one or several institutions, that value 
���Ö�³�å�å���ë�ñ�����¾�È���³�¾�ñ���È���›�ž���û�È�þ���¿�È�ë�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È���Ù�ë�����Ù���
���Ù�ñ�ë�]�����È�å�Ù�Ò�Ù�¾�å�È���¿�³�û�Ù���³l, or EUR 150 million (taking into account which of the values is 
larger). The amount of loans granted by the bank to its parent undertaking, other subsidiaries of this parent undertaking is not 
�å�Ù�ê�Ù���È�Ä���Ù�Ñ�����Ö�È�����Ö�ñ�å�È���Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���Ò�þ�ñ�
�û�]�������
�û�È�þ���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���ñ�ë���³���¿�ñ�ë���ñlidated basis is carried out following the Capital Requirements Directive 
and Regulation (CRDIV/CRR) or analogous standards effective in a third country. 

The Bank and Group met these requirements at the end of the reporting period as well as during reporting period. 

Stress Testing 

Stress tests and scenario analysis are widely used to identify high-risk areas and relationships including concentration risks, its risk 
drivers and to evaluate the combined effect of shocks in the market. Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of losses 
that could arise in extreme conditions. The stress tests carried out by Credits and Risk division and includes the risk factor stress 
testing, where stress movements are applied to each risk category: market, credit, liquidity and operational risk. The ultimate goal 
of the analysis is to estimate net effect of the stress scenarios to the capital of the Bank and the Group and prepare the action plan 
ensuring that the business operations shall be secured in case the worst case scenario occurs. The comprehensive scenario based 
stress testing covering all appropriate risk types is conducted at least annually and reported to the management board and Asset 
and Liability Committee (ALCO). The stress testing of the Group is part of Internal Capital Assessment Process (ICAAP). 

Internal Control 

Management of the Bank and heads of subsidiaries has a responsibility to ensure that the appropriate organisation, procedures 
and supporting systems are implemented to ensure sufficient system of internal controls. The following main elements of internal 
controls are implemented: data entered in the primary systems is reconciled with the data in the accounting ledgers; clear 
organisational structure and segregation of duties; daily bookkeeping and reporting, based on actual market data; , limits and limit 
follow-up; �È�å�È�ê�È�ë�������ñ�Ñ���Ù�ë���È�þ�ë�³�å���¿�ñ�ë���þ�ñ�å�����Ù�ë�����Ö�È���¾�
���Ù�ë�È�������³�ë�Ä���¾�
���Ù�ë�È���������
�û�û�ñ�þ�����
�ë�Ù�����]���û�þ�ñ�¿�È�����È���N�����È�¿�ñ�ë�Ä�³�þ�����¿�ñ�ë���þ�ñ�å���¿�È�ë���þ�³�å�Ù���³���Ù�ñ�ë���ñ�Ñ��
the internal accounts helping to ensure a requirement of clear differentiation of function;  other controls measures, 
  

https://eba.europa.eu/single-rule-book-qa/-/qna/view/publicId/2013_57
https://eba.europa.eu/single-rule-book-qa/-/qna/view/publicId/2013_57
http://www.eba.europa.eu/single-rule-book-qa/-/qna/search/publicId/2013_365-2014_1592
http://www.eba.europa.eu/single-rule-book-qa/-/qna/search/publicId/2013_365-2014_1592


AB SEB bankas  
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(All amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

Page 73 of 126 

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Financial risk management policy (continued) 

Limits shall be one way to manage risks where applicable and possible. A system for limiting and following up the amount of main 
risks (credit, market, liquidity and operational) to be taken is implemented. The Board of Directors of SEB sets the overall limits in 
terms of risk in SEB. SEB Group ALCO sets the overall limits to AB SEB bankas at the proposal of ALCO of AB SEB bankas. A decision 
on the limit mandate must be formalised in a written form. A three- level control system is functioning at the bank: relevant 
business units are responsible for management of the risks occurring in their activities, the compliance and risk control units ensure 
that instructions, rules and control mechanisms are effective, the internal audit unit inspects integrity and efficiency of the entire 
system of the bank.  
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3. NET INTEREST INCOME  
 

 

4. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME  

 
  



AB SEB bankas  
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(All amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

Page 75 of 126 

5. NET FINANCIAL INCOME 
 

 

In 2017 AB SEB bankas refinanced the credit to �Ù���]�����¿�å�Ù�È�ë���L�����Ö�Ù�¿�Ö��previously had exposure with Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 
(publ.) and released the client from the swap agreement at the agreed settlement value of 0 (zero) euro. Mirroring swaps with 
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ.) were also cancelled at the same settlement value of 0 (zero) thus resulting in zero effect 
in the income statement �å�Ù�ë�È�� �b�U�È���
�å���� �ñ�Ñ�� �ñ���Ö�È�þ�� �Ä�È�þ�Ù���³���Ù���È���^�L�� ���Ö�Ù�å�È�� �û�ñ���Ù���Ù���È�� �³�ë�Ä�� �ë�È�Ò�³���Ù���È�� �þ�È���
�å���� �Ñ�þ�ñ�ê�� �����³�û�� �³�Ò�þ�È�È�ê�È�ë���� ���³���� �!�c�U��
11,123 thousand. 

6. DIVIDENDS 

�^�Ö�È�����³�¾�å�È���¾�È�å�ñ�����û�þ�È���È�ë�������Ä�Ù���Ù�Ä�È�ë�Ä�����þ�È�¿�È�Ù���È�Ä���¾�������Ö�È�����³�ë�ã���Ñ�þ�ñ�ê���Ù���]�������
�¾���Ù�Ä�Ù�³�þ�Ù�È���M 
 

 

7. PERSONNEL EXPENSES 
 

 

The following numbers of full-���Ù�ê�È���û�È�þ���ñ�ë�ë�È�å�����È�þ�È���È�ê�û�å�ñ���È�Ä���¾�������Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë�Ù�È�����³�����ñ�Ñ���œ�š�����È�¿�È�ê�¾�È�þ���›�˜�š8 and 2017: 
 

 

Several employees of the Bank are also employed by subsidiary company and vice versa.  
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8. OTHER EXPENSES 
 

 

In 2016 the Bank has made a provision amounting to EUR 3,242 thousand for the onerous contract reported under the line Rent 
and maintenance of premises. During the year 2017 the Bank has continuously reviewed the provision amount and reversed EUR 
3,201 thousand. Reversal of provision is related to the fact, that part of rent agreements terminate, part of premises started to be 
used again by the Bank, part of premises will be returned to the landlords. Reversal of the provision is reported under the same 
line in the table above. 

Rent and maintenance of premises expenses are reduced by the amounts of income from sub-rent. 

During the year 2018 and 2017 the Bank and the Group has acquired following services from i���]���� �³�
�Ä�Ù���ñ�þ�� �c������
PricewaterhouseCoopers: 
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9. NET EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES 

Net ECL level is calculated as Net credit impairments in relation to the opening balance of the year of loans to the public and loans 
to credit institutions measured at amortised cost, financial guarantees and loan commitments, net of ECL allowances. 
 

 

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE  
 

 

���
�þ�Ù�ë�Ò�����Ö�È�����È�³�þ���›�˜�š�¡�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����³�Ä���³�ë�¿�È���û�þ�ñ�Ñ�Ù�������³�����û�³���ê�È�ë�������³�����!�c�U���•�L� �œ�Ÿ�����Ö�ñ�
���³�ë�Ä���S�›�˜�š� ���z EUR 3,875 thousand).  

�^�Ö�È�����³�����ñ�ë�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����û�þ�ñ�Ñ�Ù�����¾�È�Ñ�ñ�þ�È�����³�����Ä�Ù�Ñ�Ñ�È�þ�����Ñ�þ�ñ�ê�����Ö�È�����Ö�È�ñ�þ�È���Ù�¿�³�å���³�ê�ñ�
�ë�������Ö�³�������ñ�
�å�Ä���³�þ�Ù���È���
���Ù�ë�Ò�����Ö�È���¾�³���Ù�¿��tax 
rate as follows: 

 

Standard income tax rate in Lithuania is 15 percent. In 2018 and 2017 effective tax rate does not differ significantly from the 
nominal tax rate.  
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 

Deferred tax asset 

 

Deferred tax liability 

 

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017 deferred income tax was calculated using 15 percent income tax rate. 
 

 

As of 31 December 2017 the deferred tax asset related to tax losses recognised by the Bank is EUR 7,651 thousand of which none 
is related to taxable losses from transactions with securities and derivatives. As of 31 December 2018 the Bank does not have 
unused tax losses. 

In the Management opinion the Bank will utilize deferred tax asset within 12 month period from the date of these financial 
statements. As of 31 December 2017 EUR 7,651 thousand of deferred tax asset were planned to utilise within 12 month period, 
respectively EUR 3,345 thousand after more than 12 months from the date of financial statements.  
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 

The amount of unused tax losses carried forward for the Group and the Bank is as follows:  

 

As of 31 December 2017 income tax effect relating to components of other comprehensive income was as follows:  

 

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income came from available-for-sale financial instruments. After 
transition to IFRS 9 the Group and the Bank changes classification of those financial instruments to measured at fair value through 
profit or loss mandatorily, respective income tax effect was transferred to retained earnings (Note 1.27.1). 

11. CASH AND BALANCES WITH THE CENTRAL BANK 
 

 

�!�
�þ�ñ���������È�ê�a�����ê�Ù�ë�Ù�ê�
�ê���þ�È���È�þ���È���þ�È�ý�
�Ù�þ�È�ê�È�ë�������¿�ñ�ê�û�þ�Ù���È���š���û�È�þcent (the same for the year 2017) of balance of current accounts, 
deposits with agreed maturity or period of notice up to 2 years, debt securities issued with maturity up to 2 years,  calculated using 
�Ä�³���³�� �Ñ�þ�ñ�ê�����Ö�È���å�³������ �Ä�³���� �ñ�Ñ���û�þ�È���Ù�ñ�
���� �ê�ñ�ë���Ö�I�� �!�����a���� �þ�È�ê�
�ë�È�þ�³���Ù�ñ�ë���þ�³���È���Ñ�ñ�þ���¿�³�å�¿�
�å�³���È�Ä���þ�È���È�þ��e requirements amount is 0.0 percent, 
while deposit facility rate for the rest of amount on ECB account is 0.4 percent. 

12. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 
 

 

Amounts due from credit institutions at 31 December 2018 have been due from counterparties wit h the rating not lower than 
BBB- based on rating agency Standard & �R�ñ�ñ�þ�]�����þ�³���Ù�ë�Ò�����È���¿�È�û�����Ñ�ñ�þ���!�c�U��23 million that are due from the counterparties which are 
not rated (16 million of them are due from other SEB Group companies). There were no due amounts f�þ�ñ�ê���¿�ñ�
�ë���È�þ�û�³�þ�����]�������Ö�³�����³�þ�È��
under non - investment grade. 

Amounts due from credit institutions at 31 December 2017 have been due from counterparties with the rating not lower than 
BBB- based on rating agency Standard & P�ñ�ñ�þ�]�����þ�³���Ù�ë�Ò�����È���¿�È�û�����Ñ�ñ�þ���!�c�U���ž million that are due from the counterparties which are 
not rated. There were no due amounts �Ñ�þ�ñ�ê���¿�ñ�
�ë���È�þ�û�³�þ�����]�������Ö�³�����³�þ�È���
�ë�Ä�È�þ���ë�ñ�ë��- investment grade.  
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12. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

The balances above do not include any past due or impaired items. 

13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 
 

 

As at 31 December 2018 the balance of loans to customers to be recovered after more than twelve month after the reporting 
period are EUR 4,514,588 thousand (as at 31 December 2017 - EUR 3,880,106 thousand). 

Loans to public and credit institutions balance include also finance lease receivables. 

Finance lease receivables as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 consisted of the following: 
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

The table below shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance measured at amortised cost and nominal amounts for 
exposures off-balance divided by stage as a mean to put ECL allowances in context to total exposure.  
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

The table below shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance and nominal amounts for exposures off-balance divided 
by stage and risk classification category. The Group and the Bank did not had exposures on purchased or originated credit-impaired 
financial assets. The risk classification categories are further explained in Note 2.2. 
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

The Group and the Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most common of these is accepting 
collateral for funds advanced. The Group and the Bank has internal policies on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or 
credit risk mitigation.  

Valuation of the collateral is a part of the loan origination process. Collateral values are reviewed periodically. The principal 
collateral types for loans are: 

- Real estate objects; 
- Other tangible assets, inventories, accounts receivables; 
- Cash; 
- Debt securities, financial instruments; 
- Financial guarantees. 

Tangible collaterals have to be insured. 

Some credits are issued without obtaining collateral. The Group and the Bank applies strict requirements for unsecured loans 
quality. 

The principal collateral types for loans and receivables as of 31 December 2018 and their financial effect are presented below: 

 

 The table below shows �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����³�ë�ã�]����gross carrying amounts and ECL allowances for credit-impaired loans divided by stage 
3 and the fair value of collaterals for these assets. 
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

�^�³�¾�å�È���¾�È�å�ñ�������Ö�ñ�������+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����³�ë�ã�]�����ê�ñ���È�ê�È�ë�������ñ�Ñ���³�å�å�ñ���³�ë�¿�È���³�¿�¿�ñ�
�ë�������Ñ�ñ�þ���ñ�ë���¾�³�å�³�ë�¿�È��exposures and off balance exposures. 

During the year 2018 there were no significant changes in gross carrying amounts of loans to public, which contributed 
significantly to changes in the loss allowance. Changes in the loss allowance were mainly affected by the changes of expert credit 
judgement adjustments for credit-impaired loans and write-offs in amount of EUR 4,187 thousand. 

 

(Continued) 
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

 

 

(Concluded) 

As permitted by transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Group and the Bank has elected not to restate comparatives in respect of the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments. Any adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities 
at the date of transition are recognized in the opening retained earnings and other reserves as at 1 January 2018. 

Disclosures for loans to customers for the year ended 31 December 2017 are presented below. As in year 2018 the Group and 
the Bank has made reclassifications in statement of financial position and re-�û�þ�È���È�ë���È�Ä���Ù���]�����Y���³���È�ê�È�ë�����ñ�Ñ���Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���û�ñ���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���S�Ä�È���³�Ù�å����
provided in Note 37), amounts for the year 2017 were adjusted to reflect the impact of reclassifications done. 

Short summary of reclassifications done is presented below, full set of reclassification is provided in Note 37. 
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

 
The table below presents loans to credit institutions split by counterparty country. 

 

 

Vast majority of loans to credit institutions are not secured by any collateral.  

As of 31 December 2017 EUR 40 thousand were past due from 1 to 7 days. 

As at 31 December 2017 whole balance of loans to credit institutions to be recovered within 12 months after the reporting period. 

The table below presents an analysis of loans to credit institutions by rating agency designation at 31 December 2017 based on 
�Y���³�ë�Ä�³�þ�Ä���‡���R�ñ�ñ�þ�]�����þ�³���Ù�ë�Ò�����ñ�þ�����Ö�È�Ù�þ���È�ý�
�Ù���³�å�È�ë���M 
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

The principal collateral types for loans and receivables as of 31 December 2017 and their financial effect are presented below. 

 

 

�������ñ�Ñ���œ�š�����È�¿�È�ê�¾�È�þ���›�˜�š� ���å�ñ�³�ë�������Ù���Ö���Ñ�å�ñ�³���Ù�ë�Ò���Ù�ë���È�þ�È�������þ�³���È���ê�³�Ä�È��� �¢�I�œ�ž���û�È�þ�¿�È�ë�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�������ñ���³�å���å�ñ�³�ë���û�ñ�þ���Ñ�ñ�å�Ù�ñ and finance lease 
contracts with floating interest rate reached 84.09 percent of leasing portfolio.  
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

As of 31 December �›�˜�š� �����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����³�ë�ã�]�����å�ñ�³�ë�������ñ��public by customer category were as follows: 
 

 
(continued on next page) 
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

 
(concluded) 
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

The table below presents analysis of impaired individually assessed loans and finance lease receivables as of 31 December 2017: 

 

The credit quality of the portfolio of loans to customers and finance lease receivables were neither past due nor impaired can be 
assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Group.  

The analysis �ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����å�ñ�³�ë�������ñ���¿�
�����ñ�ê�È�þ�����¾�����¿�å�³�����È����as of 31 December 2017 is as follows:  
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

�^�Ö�È���³�ë�³�å�����Ù�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�È���å�È�³���È���þ�È�¿�È�Ù���³�¾�å�È�����¾�����¿�å�³�����È�����³�����ñ�Ñ���œ�š�����È�¿�È�ê�¾�È�þ���›�˜�š� ���Ù�����³�����Ñ�ñ�å�å�ñ�����M�� 
 

 

Non retail and retail clients rating methodology applied until 31 December 2017 is described in Note 2.3, Financial Risk 
Management Policy, Credit Risk Classification. 

There are the following homogeneous groups used by the Group: mortgage loans, consumer loans, small corporate loans and credit 
cards. Loans to private individuals (consumer and mortgage backed loans) and small corporate are assessed using scoring 
methods at the moment loan is granted. Afterwards they are monitored according to their overdue status. Therefore, for credit 
risk management purposes, loans to private individuals neither past due nor impaired are viewed as standard loans.  

As of 31 December 2017 loans to customers past due but not impaired and fair value of collateral were as follows:  

 

 

The major part of loans past due up to 7 days are past due because of technical reasons and do not indicate difficulties to fulfil 
financial obligations to the Bank. Loans, that as at 31 December 2017 were past due up to 7 days and instalments were paid during 
January 2018, amount to EUR 202,256 thousand of which: public sector �z EUR 246 thousand, property management �z EUR 
100,265 thousand, other corporate �z EUR 77,705 thousand, mortgage loans �z EUR 21,435 thousand, other private individuals �z 
EUR 2,605 thousand. 

As of 31 December 2017 finance lease receivable past due but not impaired and fair value of collateral were as follows:  
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13. LOANS TO PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

As of 31 December 2017 impaired loans to customers and fair value of collateral were as follows: 

 

 

The Bank considers a loan in a homogeneous group to which impairment has been allocated on a collective basis as not being 
impaired for the purposes of IFRS 7 disclosures until the loss can be specifically identified with the loan. 

Impaired finance leases receivable amounts and fair value of collateral as of 31 December 2017: 

 

 

As at 31 December 2017 the balance of Finance lease receivables to be recovered after more than twelve month after the 
reporting period are EUR 392,783 thousand.  

14. DEBT SECURITIES 
 

 

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 majority of ���Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���³�����È�������Ä�È���Ù�Ò�ë�³���È�Ä���³�����Ñ�³�Ù�þ�����³�å�
�È��through profit 
or loss represent investments in Lithuanian and Latvian Government securities. 

Table below shows movement of financial statements at fair value through profit or loss Mandatorily: 

 

 

As of 31 December 2017 Government securities in amount of EUR 15,902 thousand in the Group (EUR 15,726 in the Bank) were 
classified as available for sale financial assets designated for fair value hedge. Movement of available for sale government 
securities and financial assets designated at fair value at initial recognition for the year 2017 is presented below: 
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14. DEBT SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

Government securities previously classified as available for sale have matured in 2018. 

 

 

The revaluation result on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is accounted in income statement under Net financial 
income. 

Maturity date of ���Ö�È�� ���³�ë�ã�]�����³�ë�Ä�� ���Ö�È�� �+�þ�ñ�
�û�]����financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which book value as at 31 of 
December 2018 is EUR 275,093  thousand is more than twelve month after the reporting period (EUR 296,453 thousand at 31 of 
December 2017).  

The table below presents an analysis of ���³�ë�ã�]����trading debt securities and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss by 
rating agency designation at 31 December 2018 and 2017�L���¾�³���È�Ä���ñ�ë���Y���³�ë�Ä�³�þ�Ä���‡���R�ñ�ñ�þ�]�����þ�³���Ù�ë�Ò�����ñ�þ�����Ö�È�Ù�þ���È�ý�
�Ù���³�å�È�ë���M 

 

 

15. DERIVATIVES 

The Bank and Group utilises the following derivative instruments for both hedging and non-hedging purposes. Hedging 
relationships were properly documented and matured in 2018.  

As at 31 December 2018 receivable for derivatives amounting to EUR 7,300 thousand are due from the counterparties with 
internal risk classes that fall under the range from 4 till 13. Receivable for derivatives amounting to EUR 57,441  thousand are due 
from the Parent company with internal risk class 2. 

As at 31 December 2017 receivable for derivatives amounting to EUR 7,078 thousand are due from the counterparties with 
internal risk classes that fall under the range from 4 till 13. Receivable for derivatives amounting to EUR 40,440  thousand are due 
from the Parent company with internal risk class 2. 

As at 31 December 2018 derivative amounts to be recovered after more than twelve month after the reporting period are EUR 
59,696  thousand (EUR 41,037 thousand at 31 of December 2017). 

As at 31 December 2018 derivative amounts to be settled after more than twelve month after the reporting period are EUR 
57,948  thousand (EUR 38,323 thousand at 31 of December 2017). 
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15. DERIVATIVES (CONTINUED) 

���³�ë�ã�]�����³�ë�Ä���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�� derivative financial instruments:  
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16. EQUITY INSRUMENTS 

The table below shows breakdown of equity instruments as of 31 December 2018 and 2017. 

 

 

�������R�³�ë�È���É�%�Ù�ñ���È�ë�È�þ�Ò�Ù�â�³ is not rated. VISA Inc. rating is A+ �¾�³���È�Ä���ñ�ë���Y���³�ë�Ä�³�þ�Ä���‡���R�ñ�ñ�þ�]�����þ�³���Ù�ë�Ò��. More information about VISA Inc. 
shares is provided in the Note 1.29 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies and Note 2.1 Fair values. 

The changes in investment securities for the year 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 
 

 

Equity instruments are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss in line with IFRS 9 starting 1 January 2018. The 
accumulated OCI for equity instruments was EUR 1,097 thousand in the Group (EUR 1,096 thousand in the Bank) as of 31 
December 2017 and has been recognised in retained earnings as of 1 January 2018. 

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 
 

 

�c�������b�Y�!�����Ù�ë���È�����Ù�¿�Ù�â�������³�å�Ä���ê�³���^���Ù�����³���Ñ�
�å�å�����ñ���ë�È�Ä�����
�¾���Ù�Ä�Ù�³�þ�����ñ�Ñ�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�L���È�ë�Ò�³�Ò�È�Ä���Ù�ë���û�þ�ñ���Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���ñ�Ñ���Ù�ë���È�����ê�È�ë�����]���ê�³�ë�³�Ò�È�ê�È�ë����
services.  

As at 31 July 2017 the Bank as sole ���Ö�³�þ�È�Ö�ñ�å�Ä�È�þ���ñ�Ñ���c�������b�Y�!�����l�È�ë���
�þ�È�����³�û�Ù���³�å�^�����ñ�ñ�ã���Ä�È�¿�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë�����ñ���å�Ù�ý�
�Ù�Ä�³���È�����Ö�È���¿�ñ�ê�û�³�ë���I�����Ñ���È�þ�����Ö�È��
decision the recoverable amount of investment in subsidiary was assessed and provision in the amount of EUR 402 thousand 
���³�����Ñ�ñ�þ�ê�È�Ä���S�þ�È�û�ñ�þ���È�Ä���
�ë�Ä�È�þ�����Ö�È���å�Ù�ë�È���bGains less losses from investment securities� )̂. Remaining funds of the subsidiary in the 
amount of EUR 6,796 thousand were transferred to the Bank in December 2017. Difference between funds transferred and 
carrying amount of investment amounting to EUR 42 thousand was accounted as loss on liquidation of subsidiary and reported 
�
�ë�Ä�È�þ�����Ö�È���å�Ù�ë�È���bGains less losses from investment securities�^�I �������ñ�Ñ���œ�š�����È�¿�È�ê�¾�È�þ���›�˜�š� ���c�������b�Y�!�����l�È�ë���
�þ�È�����³�û�Ù���³�å�^�����³�����Ù�ë��
process of liquidation, liquidation was finalized in 2018. 
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017 intangible assets of the Group and the Bank consisted of the following: 

 

 

The new core banking platform was introduced in 2010 at cost of EUR 63,612 thousand. Estimated amortisation period for the 
asset was 8 years. Annual impairment assessment held at the end of 2012 indicated that part of core banking system is unused 
due to the o�û���Ù�ê�Ù���³���Ù�ñ�ë�Y�þ�È�û�å�³�¿�È�ê�È�ë���� �ñ�Ñ�����ñ�ê�È���ñ�Ñ���Ù���]���� �û�³�þ�����I�� �^�Ö�È�þ�È�Ñ�ñ�þ�È���Ä�È�¿�Ù���Ù�ñ�ë���Ö�³���� �¾�È�È�ë�����³�ã�È�ë�����ñ�� ���þ�Ù���È���ñ�Ñ�Ñ���ë�ñ���� �
���È�Ä���û�³�þ���� �ñ�Ñ���¿�ñ�þ�È��
banking system amounting to net book value of EUR 16,954  thousand. Amortisation period has not been revised. This ���������È�ê�]����
net book value at 31 December 2018 was EUR 35 thousand (EUR 2,385 thousand at 31 December 2017). 
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017 property and equipment of the Group consisted of the following: 
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
As of 31 December 2018 and 2017 property and equipment of the Bank consisted of the following: 
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017 investment property of the Group and the Bank consisted of the following: 

 

 

The fair value of investment property was established in compliance with the procedures adopted within the SEB group. The 
valuation of real estate was carried out by AB SEB bankas authorised employees, based on discounted cash flow model created 
by Corporate Customers and Industry Analysis Department (ICA) and approved within SEB. The fair value of investment property 
does not differ materially from its book value as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. 

The major amount of investment property are foreclosed leased assets (land and buildings) taken over from the clients. The Bank 
is aiming to realise foreclosed assets. 
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21. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
  

 
There are no significant overdue or impaired amounts. 

The carrying values of Other financial assets approximates their fair value. 

22. OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

 

As at 31 December 2018 the balance of other financial assets (note 21) and other non-financial assets to be recovered after more 
than twelve month after the reporting period are EUR 4,271 thousand (EUR 5,387 thousand at 31 of December 2017).  

23. DEPOSITS FROM CENTRAL BANKS AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 
 

 
 

24. DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS FROM THE PUBLIC 
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24. DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS FROM THE PUBLIC (CONTINUED) 
 

 

According to current requirement of Deposit Insurance Fund all banks in Lithuania have to make annual deposit insurance fund 
payments. Starting from July 2015 payments calculation is formula based percentage of deposits nominated in all the currencies 
but not exceeding EUR 100 thousand equivalent. 

25. PROVISIONS 

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017 provisions consisted of the following: 

 

 

Provisions for off balance sheet items have been made in respect of ECL arising from contingent liabilities and contractual 
commitments, including guarantees and credit commitments.  

In 2018 the Group and the Bank changed classification of provisions for long term employee benefits. Previously provisions for 
long-term employee benefits were classified within Other non-financial liabilities (Note 27) . Comparative figures for the year 
2017 and 2016 were adjusted to reflect the change in classification (Note 37). 

As at 31 December 2018 the balance of provisions to be settled after more than twelve months after the reporting period is EUR 
9,987 thousand (EUR 10,225 thousand as at 31 December 2017). 

Movement of provisions for off-balance sheet liabilities for the year 2018 is presented in Note 13. 

Table below shows movement of provisions for off-balance sheet liabilities for the year 2017: 
 

 

26. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
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26. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

Balance of Other financial liabilities at the year end of 2017 was unusually high due to delay in payment to merchants in cards 
business. The amount has been cleared during the next working day. 

27. OTHER NON-FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

 

 

As at 31 December 2018 the balance of other financial liabilities (note 26) and other non financial liabilities to be settled after 
more than twelve months after the reporting period are EUR 1,997 thousand (EUR 13,329 thousand as at 31 December 2017 ).  

28. SHAREHOLDERS�] EQUITY 

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017 the share capital of the Bank consisted of 15,441,423 ordinary shares with par value EUR 
19.4 each. All issued shares are fully paid. 100 percent of shares of the Bank is owned by company Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 
AB (publ), registered in the Kingdom of Sweden. 

Reserve capital, which as of 31 December 2018 amounted to EUR 637  thousand (20 17: EUR 637  thousand) for the Bank and 
EUR 637  thousand (20 17: EUR 637  thousand) for the Group, in accordance with the legislation for banks operating in Lithuania 
can only be offset with the future losses or used for the increase of share capital.  

As of 31 December 2018 legal reserve was EUR 171,622  thousand (2017: EUR 156,400  thousand) for the Bank and  
EUR 171,908  thousand (2017: EUR 156,686  thousand) for the Group, in accordance with the legislation for banks operating in 
Lithuania can only be offset with the future losses.  

Until 31 December 2017 Financial assets revaluation reserve represented available for sale equity securities revaluation gain 
(loss). After implementation of IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 all equity instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
The effect with regard to classification and measurement is that a positive market valuation net of income tax of EUR 1,096 
���Ö�ñ�
���³�ë�Ä���Ù�����þ�È�ê�ñ���È�Ä���Ñ�þ�ñ�ê�����³�ë�ã�]�����³�ë�Ä���!�c�U���š�L�˜�¢� �����Ö�ñ�
���³�ë�Ä���Ñ�þ�ñ�ê���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����*�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�³�å���³�����È�������þ�È���³�å�
�³���Ù�ñ�ë���þ�È���È�þ���È�����ñ���U�È���³�Ù�ë�È�Ä���È�³�þ�ë�Ù�ë�Ò��. 

The financial assets reserve movement in 2017 consists of the following: 

 

 

As of 31 December 2018 general and other reserves represent general reserve for possible losses in amount of  
EUR 2,704 thousand (20 17: EUR 2,704 thousand), that can only be offset with the current losses and share based compensation 
reserve in amount of EUR 781  thousand (20 17: EUR 562  thousand), that will be paid in the share capital equivalent of 
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) Class A shares to employees participating in the share based premium program.  

SEB Group has developed long-term equity based programmes as part of remuneration system to build long-term commitment to 
SEB. The long-term equity based variable compensation at SEB shall be determined based on long-term equity based variable 
compensation programme principles developed by the SEB Group and has to be agreed specifically with the employee, towards 
whom it is applied. The programmes, referred to above, are the Share Deferral Program (SDP) and Share Matching Program (SMP). 
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28. �Y�/���U�!�/�H�<���!�U�Y�]���!�T�c�1�^�s���S���H�B�^�1�B�c�!���T 

The purpose of the programmes is to reward senior managers and key employees and to encourage all employees to become 
shareholders in SEB, thereby aligning employee interests with those of shareholders.  

The costs of Share Savings Programme incurred by the Group during the year 2018 were EUR 781  thousand (2017: EUR 
562  thousand) accounted in Other expenses in the income statement.  

The above described share-based payments are treated as equity-settled because the Group has no obligation to settle the 
transactions related to the Share Savings Programme. 

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017 the single shareholder is as follows: 

 

 

29. ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT 
 

 

All assets management services are performed by UAB �bSEB �Ù�ë���È�����Ù�¿�Ù�â������aldymas� .̂ For the year ended 31 December 2018 the 
management fee for funds management amounted to EUR 8,157 thousand (2017: EUR 7,166 thousand) and it is included in Net 
fee and commission income line in the income statement.  

30. CAPITAL ADEQUACY 

�^�Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����þ�È�Ò�
�å�³���ñ�þ�����¿�³�û�Ù���³�å���³�����ê�³�ë�³�Ò�È�Ä���¾�����Ù�������¿�È�ë���þ�³�å���+�þ�ñ�
�û���^�þ�È�³���
�þ�����Ù�����Ä�Ù���Ù�Ä�È�Ä���Ù�ë���ñ�������ñ�����Ù�È�þ���M�� 

�x Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any book values of the treasury shares), reserve capital, retained earnings; 

�x Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, general and other reserves, qualifying current year profit; 

�x Deductible amounts: the book value of intangible assets; investments in credit and financial institutions above 10 percent 
of their equity; and IRB provision shortfall.  

The risk-weighted assets are measured by using two methods �z Standardized and Internal Ratings Based Approach (IRB). 
According to Standardized method assets are divided into 16 asset classes, IRB �z 7. Considering the method used asset class, 
eligible collateral or guarantees, risk classes, scoring pools, country of the counterparty and other factors risk weight to every 
exposure is assigned.  
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30. CAPITAL ADEQUACY (CONTINUED) 

The table below summarises the components of capital adequacy calculation and the ratios of the Group and the Bank for the 
years ended 31 December 2018: 
 

 

The table below summarises the components of capital adequacy calculation and the ratios of the Group and the Bank for the 
years ended 31 December 201 7: 
 

 

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Bank and the Group were compliant with the capital adequacy requirements. 
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31. NET FOREIGN CURRENCY POSITION 

The following table presents the equivalent amount in thousands of EUR of the net position of assets and liabilities denominated 
in currencies other than EUR as of 31 December 2018: 

 

 
 
 
As of 31 December 2017: 
 

 

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Group complied with the foreign currency open position requirements set forth by the 
Bank of Lithuania.  

Foreign exchange risk has also been measured by using Value at Risk model, see note 32. 

32. INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT 

�^�Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����Ù�ë���È�þ�È�������þ�³���È��sensitivity in case of parallel shift by 1 p.p. in the yield curve is presented in the table below:  
 

 

Value at Risk assessment results on total portfolios positions:  
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32. INTERST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

VaR figures in table above include both banking and trading books. 

�^�Ö�È�����³�¾�å�È���¾�È�å�ñ�����û�þ�ñ���Ù�Ä�È�������Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����Ù�ë���È�þ�È�������þ�³���È���Ò�³�û analysis as of 31 December 2018: 

 

 

�^�Ö�È�����³�¾�å�È���¾�È�å�ñ�����û�þ�ñ���Ù�Ä�È�������Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����Ù�ë���È�þ�È�������þ�³���È���Ò�³�û���³�ë�³�å�����Ù�����³�����ñ�Ñ���œ�š�����È�¿�È�ê�¾�È�þ 2017: 
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32. INTERST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

�^�Ö�È�����³�¾�å�È���¾�È�å�ñ�����û�þ�ñ���Ù�Ä�È�������Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����Ù�ë���È�þ�È�������þ�³���È���Ò�³�û���³�ë�³�å�����Ù�����³�����ñ�Ñ���œ�š�����È�¿�È�ê�¾�È�þ 2018: 

 

 

�^�Ö�È�����³�¾�å�È���¾�È�å�ñ�����û�þ�ñ���Ù�Ä�È�������Ö�È�����³�ë�ã�]�����Ù�ë���È�þ�È�������þ�³���È���Ò�³�û���³�ë�³�å�����Ù�����³�����ñ�Ñ���œ�š�����È�¿�È�ê�¾�È�þ 2017: 
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33.  RELATED PARTIES 

A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. The transactions with the 
parent bank include loans, deposits and debt instrument transactions. Transactions within Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 
(publ)  group (excluding the parent bank) during the year can be specified as follows: 

 

 

Transactions with parent bank during the year can be specified as follows: 

 

 

As of 31 December 2018, the bank issued financial guarantees in amount of EUR 13,228 thousand (31 December 2017 �z 
12,811 thousand) to SEB Group companies to guarantee the loan repayment on behalf of several clients. 
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33. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 

Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries during the year can be specified as follows: 

 

 

The loans issued to directors and other key management personnel (and close family members) are repayable on a regular basis 
over the period of loan. Transactions with key management (the Board members) during the year can be specified as follows: 

 

 
 
 

34. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS  
 

 

Legal proceedings 

There were several proceedings outstanding against the Group and the Bank at 31 December 2018 and 2017. No provision has 
been made as professional advice indicates that it is unlikely that any significant loss will arise.  
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34. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Other commitments 

The table below presents operating lease commitments for the years 2018 and 2017 when the Group and the Bank is lessee: 

 

 

All non-cancellable commitments fall into the period within ten years.  

The Group and the Bank has re-presented comparative information for the year 2017, as future minimum operating lease 
commitments under non-cancellable agreements in year 2018 are disclosed without VAT and expected indexation impact. 

The future operating lease payments receivable (sub-lease) under non-cancellable operating lease can be specified as follows: 
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35. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  

The following financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2018 are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements: 

 

 
 
 
The following financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2017 are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements: 
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35. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

The tables above show financial assets and liabilities that are presented net in the statement of financial position or with potential 
rights to off-set associated with enforceable master netting arrangements or similar arrangements, together with related 
collateral. Financial assets and liabilities are presented net in the statement of financial position when the Bank has legally 
enforceable rights to set-off, in the ordinary cause of business and in the case of bankruptcy, and intends to settle on a net basis or 
to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.  

Financial assets and liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar arrangements that are not presented 
net in the statement of financial position are arrangements that are usually enforceable in the case of bankruptcy or default but 
not in the ordinary course of business or arrangements where SEB does not have the intention to settle the instruments 
simultaneously.  

36. RECONSILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

�^�Ö�È�����³�¾�å�È���¾�È�å�ñ�����Ä�È���³�Ù�å�����¿�Ö�³�ë�Ò�È�����Ù�ë�����Ö�È�����³�ë�ã���³�ë�Ä�����Ö�È���+�þ�ñ�
�û�]�����å�Ù�³�¾�Ù�å�Ù���Ù�È�����³�þ�Ù���Ù�ë�Ò���Ñ�þ�ñ�ê���Ñ�Ù�ë�³�ë�¿�Ù�ë�Ò���³�¿���Ù���Ù���Ù�È���L���Ù�ë�¿�å�
�Ä�Ù�ë�Ò���¾�ñ���Ö���¿�³��h and non-
cash changes: 

 

 
 
 

 
Other changes comprise changes in accrued interest. 

37. RECLASSIFICATION OF COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 

In 2018 financial statements the Group and the Bank have made certain reclassifications in Statement of financial position and 
Income statement to improve comparability with other SEB Group entities. The management believes that these reclassifications 
provide reliable and more relevant information. The corresponding figures were adjusted to reflect the new classification and the 
Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016 is presented for comparative purposes. Details of reclassifications made 
are presented in the tables below. 
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37. RECLASSIFICATION OF COMPARATIVE INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 

 
(Continued) 
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37. RECLASSIFICATION OF COMPARATIVE INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 

 
(Concluded) 
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37. RECLASSIFICATION OF COMPARATIVE INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

Effect of changes in presentation of Income statement is presented below: 
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37. RECLASSIFICATION OF COMPARATIVE INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

The Group and the Bank has corrected comparative information in the Cash flow statement for the year 2017. Overdraft in amount EUR 5,842 thous. due from Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB Vilnius 
branch had to be classified as  Current accounts with other banks for the cash flow statement purposes according to the SEB Group policies. The Group and the Bank has restated comparative information 
for the year 2017 with effect on the Statement of cash flows as follows: 





 

PricewaterhouseCoopers UAB, J. Jasinskio g. 16B, LT-03163 Vilnius, Lithuania  
T: +370 (5) 239 2300, F:+370 (5) 239 2301, Email: vilnius@lt.pwc.com , www.pwc.com/lt  
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers UAB, company code 111473315, is a private company registered with the Lithuanian Register of Legal Entities. 

 

�,�Q�G�H�S�H�Q�G�H�Q�W���D�X�G�L�W�R�U�¶�V���U�H�S�R�U�W�� 

To the shareholders of AB SEB bankas 

Report on the audit of the separate  and consolidated financial statements  

Our opinion  

In our opinion, the separate and consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
separate and consolidated financial position of AB SEB bankas ���³�W�K�H��Bank�´�� and �L�W�V���V�X�E�V�L�G�L�D�U�L�H�V�����³�W�K�H��
�*�U�R�X�S�´�� as at 31 December 2018, and of their separate and consolidated financial performance and 
their  separate and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee.  

What we have audited  
The separate financial statements of the Bank and consolidated financial statements of the Group 
comprise: 

�x the Bank and Group statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018; 

�x the Bank and Group income statement and statement of comprehensive income for the year then 
ended; 

�x the Bank and Group statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

�x the Bank and Group statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

�x the notes to the separate and consolidated financial statements, which include significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information .  

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the �$�X�G�L�W�R�U�¶�V���U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V���I�R�U���W�K�H��
audit of the financial statements  section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  

Independence 
We are independent of the Bank and the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards 
�%�R�D�U�G���I�R�U���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�Q�W�V�¶���&�R�G�H���R�I���(�W�K�L�F�V���I�R�U���3�U�R�I�H�V�V�L�R�Q�D�O���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�Q�W�V�����,�(�6�%�$���&�R�G�H�����D�Q�G���W�K�H���/�D�Z��of the 
Republic of Lithuania on the Audit  of Financial Statements that are relevant to our audit of the 
separate and consolidated financial statements in the Republic of Lithuania. We have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and the Law of the Republic of 
Lithuania on the Audit of Financial Statements. 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have provided to 
the Bank and the Group are in accordance with the applicable law and regulations in the Republic of 
Lithuania and that we have not provided non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 5(1) of 
Regulation (EU) No 537/2014  considering the exemptions of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 endorsed 
in the Law of the Republic of Lithuania on the Audit of Financial Statements.  



 
 

The non-audit services that we have provided to the Bank and the Group, in the period from  1 January 
2018 to 31 December 2018, are disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements. 

Our audit approach  

Overview  

 

�x Overall Bank and Group materiality: EUR 6,000 thousand.  

�x We have audited the separate financial statements of the Bank. 
�x We also conducted audit work at one more reporting unit, located in 

Lithuania.  
�x Our audit scope covered substantially  all of the �*�U�R�X�S�¶�V���U�H�Y�H�Q�X�H�V���D�Q�G��

all �R�I���W�K�H���*�U�R�X�S�¶�V���W�R�W�D�O���D�V�V�H�W�V�� 
 

�x Expected credit losses on loans  

 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the separate and consolidated financial statements ���W�R�J�H�W�K�H�U���³�W�K�H���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O��
�V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V�´��. In particular, we considered where management made subjective judgements; for 
example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and 
considering future events that are inherently  uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the 
risk of management override of internal controls, including , among other matters, consideration of 
whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

Materiality  
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the financial statements. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitati ve thresholds for materiality, 
including the overall Bank and Group materiality for the separate and consolidated financial 
statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, 
helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, if any, both individually and in aggregate on 
the financial statements as a whole. 

 

 

 

Materiality  

Group 
scoping  

Key audit 
matters  



 

 

Overall Bank  and Group  
m ateriality  

EUR 6,000 thousand (2017 - EUR 5,400 thousand) . The 
same materiality was applied to both the Bank and the 
Group. 

How we determined it  5% of �W�K�H���%�D�Q�N�¶�V���D�Q�G���*�U�R�X�S�¶�V��profit before tax  

Rationale for the materiality 
benchmark applied  

We chose profit before tax as the base benchmark because, in 
our view, it is the benchmark against which the performance 
of the Bank and the Group is most commonly measured by 
users, and it is a generally accepted benchmark.  

We chose the threshold of 5%, which is within the range of 
acceptable quantitative materiality thresholds for this 
benchmark. 

 
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during 
our audit above EUR 600  thousand, as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, 
warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.  

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter   How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter  

Expected credit losses on loans   

Refer to Notes 1.27.1, 1.29, 2.2, 9 and 13 to the 
financial statements on pages 44-54, 56, 62-
67,  77 and 80-94 respectively.   

We focused on this area because management 
�K�D�V���D�G�R�S�W�H�G���,�)�5�6�������³�)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V�´ in 
2018 and implemented expected credit loss 
(ECL) model for loans impairment losses. 
Management makes complex and subjective 
judgements over the estimation of the ECL. 
The key features of the ECL model include 
classification of loans to 3 stages, assessment 
of credit risk parameters  and application of 
forward looking information . The amount of 
impairment provis ion for the �%�D�Q�N�¶�V���D�Q�G��
�*�U�R�X�S�¶�V���O�R�D�Q�V��is based on the model 
calculations taking into consideration the 
exposure at default, probability of default,  
changes in customer credit rating, other 
known risk factors i mpacting stage of each 
exposure, and taking into account estimated 
fut ure cash flows from the loan repayments or 

 

�:�H���D�V�V�H�V�V�H�G���Z�K�H�W�K�H�U���W�K�H���%�D�Q�N�¶�V���D�Q�G���*�U�R�X�S�¶�V��
accounting policies in relation to the ECL of loans 
to customers are in compliance with IFRS 9 by 
assessing each significant model component: 
exposure at default, probability of default and 
loss given default, definitions of default and 
significant increase in credit risk, use of 
macroeconomic scenarios. 

We assessed the design and operating 
effectiveness of the controls over relevant loan 
data and ECL calculations. These controls 
included recurring controls over recording of 
loans data in the system, the non-retail loans 
credit file periodic review , retail loans monthly 
scoring/review  and related risk class/rating 
assessment, a timely review and update of 
collateral values. We also tested newly introduced 
ECL calculation controls over reconciliation of 
the source data used in the calculation, approval 
of macroeconomic scenario, reconciliation of 



 
 

sale of collateral (loss given default), and ECL 
adjustments by expected impact of future 
macroeconomic scenarios. For all loans in 
Stage 1 and 2 and insignificant loans in  Stage 
3 the expected credit losses are calculated 
using the ECL model, while for significant 
exposures in Stage 3 an expert credit 
judgement is applied to determine if the ECL 
calculated in accordance with the model needs 
to be adjusted. 

IFRS 9 adoption as at 1 January 2018 resulted 
in increase of the �%�D�Q�N�¶�V���D�Q�G���*�U�R�X�S�¶�V���H�T�X�L�W�\���E�\��
EUR 6,696 thousand and EUR 6,697 thousand 
respectively due to re-measurements of loans. 
Net charges for expected credit losses for the 
year ended 31 December 2018 amounted EUR 
698 thousand for the Bank and Group (refer to 
note 9).  

 

impairment balan ces and review of stage 
allocation.  

We determined that we could rely on these 
controls for the purpo se of our audit.   

Further, w e performed detailed testing over 
reliability of loan data, including contract dates, 
risk classes for non -retail exposures and risk 
pool rates for retail exposures, collateral values 
and types, performing/non performing statu s and 
other inputs used in ECL calculation engine as at 
1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018.  

We also performed detail testing over data flows 
to/ from source systems and macroeconomic 
factors to ECL calculator system.  

In addition, our quantitative modelling experts 
have performed detailed recalculations for a 
sample of loans and model outputs in order for us 
to obtain comfort that the ECL is calculated 
correctly and that it is in line with our 
expectations.   

We have also audited the ECL adjustments 
related to expert credit judgement  for a sample of 
loans. We have verified the rationale of these 
adjustments and also verified the appropriate ness 
of the values of collaterals used in the assessment 
of the adjustments.  

Based on available evidence we found the 
management assumptions and the ECL 
calculation methods to be reasonable. 

 
How we tailored our Group audit scope   
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an 
opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates. 

The Group engagement team carried out audit work on  �W�K�H���%�D�Q�N�¶�V���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���V�Watements and the 
selected balances and transactions �R�I���W�K�H���%�D�Q�N�¶�V���V�X�E�V�L�G�L�D�Uy which was assessed by the Group 
engagement team as material from the Group audit perspective. Our audit work addressed 
approximately  100�����R�I���W�K�H���*�U�R�X�S�¶�V���U�H�Y�H�Q�X�H�V���D�Q�G��100% of the �*�U�R�X�S�¶�V���W�R�W�D�O���D�V�V�H�W�V���� 
 

Reporting on other information including the consolidated annual report  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
consolidated annual report , including the social responsibility report  (but does not include the 
�I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���D�Q�G���R�X�U���D�X�G�L�W�R�U�¶�V���U�H�S�R�U�W���W�K�H�U�H�R�Q��, which we obtained prior to the date of this 
�D�X�G�L�W�R�U�¶�V���U�H�S�R�U�W�� 

Our opinion on the financial statements  does not cover the other information , including the 
consolidated annual report.  



 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our  knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  

With respect to the consolidated annual report, we considered whether the consolidated annual report 
includes the disclosures required by the Law of the Republic of Lithuania on Consolidated Financial 
Reporting by Groups of Undertakings, the Law of the Republic of Lithuania on Financial Reporting  by 
Undertakings  implementing Article 19 of Directive 2013/34 /EU .  

Based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, in our opinion:  

�x the information given in the consolidated annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 
2018, for which the financial statements are prepared, is consistent with the financial statements; 
and 

�x the consolidated annual report has been prepared in accordance with the Law of the Republic of 
Lithuania on Consolidated Financial Reporting by Groups of Undertakings  and the Law of the 
Republic of Lithuania on Financial Reporting by Undertakings . 
 

The Bank and the Group presented the social responsibility report as a part of the consolidated annual 
report.  

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Bank and the Group and their 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we are required to report if we have identified 
material misstatements in the consolidated annual report which we obtained prior to the date of this 
�D�X�G�L�W�R�U�¶�V���U�H�S�R�U�W�����:�H���K�D�Y�H���Q�R�W�K�L�Q�J���W�R���U�H�S�R�U�W���L�Q���W�K�L�V���U�H�V�S�H�F�W�� 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with  governance for 
the financial statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union , and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank�¶�V��and the 
�*�U�R�X�S�¶�V��ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Bank and the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank�¶�V��and the �*�U�R�X�S�¶�V��financial 
reporting process. 

�$�X�G�L�W�R�U�¶�V���U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V���I�R�U���W�K�H���D�X�G�L�W���R�I���W�K�H���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
�D�U�H���I�U�H�H���I�U�R�P���P�D�W�H�U�L�D�O���P�L�V�V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�����Z�K�H�W�K�H�U���G�X�H���W�R���I�U�D�X�G���R�U���H�U�U�R�U�����D�Q�G���W�R���L�V�V�X�H���D�Q���D�X�G�L�W�R�U�¶�V���U�H�S�R�U�W��
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 



 
 

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

�x Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of inter nal control.  

�x Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank�¶�V��and the Group�¶�V��internal control.  

�x Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

�x �&�R�Q�F�O�X�G�H���R�Q���W�K�H���D�S�S�U�R�S�U�L�D�W�H�Q�H�V�V���R�I���P�D�Q�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W�¶�V���X�V�H���R�I���W�K�H���J�R�L�Q�J���F�R�Q�F�H�U�Q���E�D�V�L�V���R�I���D�F�Founting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank�¶�V��and the �*�U�R�X�S�¶�V��ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
�L�Q���R�X�U���D�X�G�L�W�R�U�¶�V���U�H�S�R�U�W���W�R���W�K�H���U�H�O�D�W�H�G���G�L�V�F�O�R�V�X�U�H�V���L�Q���W�K�H���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���R�U�����L�I���V�X�F�K���G�L�V�F�O�R�V�X�U�H�V��
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to �W�K�H���G�D�W�H���R�I���R�X�U���D�X�G�L�W�R�U�¶�V���U�H�S�R�U�W�����+�R�Z�H�Y�H�U�����I�X�W�X�U�H���H�Y�H�Q�W�V���R�U���F�R�Q�G�L�W�L�R�Q�V���P�D�\���F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H��Bank or 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

�x Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

�x Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and have communicated with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We �G�H�V�F�U�L�E�H���W�K�H�V�H���P�D�W�W�H�U�V���L�Q���R�X�U���D�X�G�L�W�R�U�¶�V���U�H�S�R�U�W���X�Q�O�H�V�V���O�D�Z���R�U��
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.  

 




